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4 Confirmation of Minutes from Previous Council Meetings

RECOMMENDATION
That Council confirms the Minutes dated 28 May 2025.
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Unconfirmed Council

Meeting Minutes
Wednesday 28 May 2025 at 6:00pm

Community Hub, Maryborough.
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Council Meeting — 28 May 2025

The meeting commenced at 6:00pm.

PRESENT
Councillors:

Grace La Vella (Mayor)
Ben Green (Deputy Mayor)
Geoff Bartlett

Anna de Villiers

Liesbeth Long

Jake Meyer

Gerard Murphy

Officers:

Interim Chief Executive Officer, Sally Jones

General Manager Community Wellbeing, Emma Little

General Manager Assets Infrastructure and Planning, Amber Ricks
Acting General Manager Corporate Performance, Anthony Smith
Acting Manager Governance Property and Risk, Libby Sheward
Governance Advisor, Ralph Anania

1 Welcome

The Mayor, Cr Grace La Vella welcomed attendees to the meeting and then read an
Acknowledgment of Country and the Council Prayer.

2 Apologies
Nil.

3 Declarations of Conflict of Interest

Cr Long declared a conflict of interest in Item 7.1, as Cr Long is President of the Central Goldfields
Bushwalking and Hiking Club Inc. and the Club together with the Castlemaine Maryborough Rail Trail,
oppose the Broiler Farm developments.

4 Confirmation of Minutes from Previous Council Meetings

COUNCIL RESOLUTION

That the Minutes of the Council Meeting held on 26 March 2025 and the Special Council
Meeting held on 30 April 2025 be confirmed.

Moved: Cr Bartlett

Seconder: Cr Murphy CARRIED
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Council Meeting — 28 May 2025

5 Minutes of Delegated and Advisory Committees
Nil.

6 Petitions
Nil.

7 Council Reports

Cr Long had declared a Conflict of Interest in Item 7.1 and therefore left the meeting here, prior to
any discussion or voting taking place on the item.

7.1 DO 061-23 705 Baringhup Road Carisbrook

To recommend to Council a ‘decision position’ on planning permit application 061-23 for the use
and development of the land for a Class B broiler farm for up to 400,000 birds and a caretaker's
house with associated buildings and works at 705 Baringhup Road, Carisbrook.

COUNCIL RESOLUTION

That Council:

A) Receive and note the late information submitted by Ms. Allison Teese and provided as
Attachments 1 and 2.

B) Receive and note the late information submitted by Victor Young and provided as
Attachments 3 and 4.

C) Receive and note prior correspondence from Agriculture Victoria dated 20 December 2024
and provided as Attachment 5.

D) Receive and note prior correspondence from the Environment Protection Authority dated 19
December 2024 and provided as Attachment 6.

E) As the responsible authority and pursuant to section 61 of the Planning and Environment
Act 1987, determine that had an application to VCAT for review under Section 79 of the Act
not been made, would have issued a Notice of Decision to Refuse a Permit in respect of
planning permit application no. 061-23 for the use and development of a Class B broiler
farm for up to 400,000 birds and a caretakers house with associated buildings and works af
705 Baringhup Road Carisbrook on the following grounds:

1. The proposal is inconsistent with the Municipal Planning Statement and Planning Policy
Framework of the Central Goldfields Planning Scheme including Clause 02.04 (Central
Goldfields Strategic Plan), Clause 12 (Environmental and Landscape Values), 13
(Environmental Risks and Amenity), 14 (Natural Resource Management) and 15 (Built
Environment and Heritage), as the proposed Class B broiler farm would be contrary to policy
framework that respectively seeks to protect landscape values, residential amenity and
environmental values.

30f28
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Council Meeting — 28 May 2025

10.

1.

The proposal is not compliant with the purpose and decision guidelines of Clause 35.07
(Farming Zone) of the Central Goldfields Planning Scheme, as the proposed Class B broiler
farm would be incompatible with the amenity of nearby dwellings, would result in detrimental
environmental impacts including to soil and water quality as well as impacts to water bodies
and biodiversity, and by the location and design of the proposal in a rural landscape.

The proposal is not compliant with the purpose and decision guidelines of Clause 53.09
(Poultry Farm) of the Central Goldfields Planning Scheme due to the appearance of the
buildings and works, the need to protect the amenity of adjoining and nearby land uses, the
impact of emissions from the site, impact on wetlands and water bodies and the impact upon
biodiversity.

The proposal is not compliant with the purpose and decision guidelines of Clause 65.01
(Decision Guidelines - Approval of an Application or Plan) of the Central Goldfields Planning
Scheme, as the proposal would be contrary to orderly planning, and would result in
detrimental amenity, and environmental impacts.

The proposal is contrary to the Victorian Code for Broiler Farms (Department of Primary
Industries 2009, plus 2018 amendments), an Incorporated Document within the Central
Goldfields Planning Scheme, including standards of the Broiler Code that relate to
stormwater drainage, waste management and landscape qualities.

. The proposal would result in an inappropriately high population of birds to be produced by

the additional broiler farm sheds.

The proposal would result in detrimental impacts to the landscape values of the site and
surrounds and the significant built form of the broiler farm sheds.

The proposal would result in detrimental amenity impacts to residential properties in vicinity
of the subject land by way of inappropriate visual, odour, lighting, and noise effects.

The cumulative effect of odour and noise from the proposal, in addition to existing broiler
farms, would undermine the amenity of the area. Cumulative odour emissions would not
achieve the ambient air quality standards in the Environment reference standard, contrary
to clause 13.06-1S. Noise emissions associated with the use would undermine the rural
amenity of the area when assessed individually or cumulatively.

The proposal would undermine the landscape significance of the Moolort Plains wetlands
contrary to the Municipal Planning Strategy.

The effluent disposal associated with the shed wash out represents an unacceptable risk
to the water quality and ecological values of the Moolort Plains.

Moved: Cr Murphy
Seconder: Cr Green

DIVISION CALLED

Cr Murphy called for a Division, and voting was:
For: Crs La Vella, Green, Bartlett, de Villiers, Long, Meyers and Murphy
Against: Nil.

CARRIED
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Council Meeting — 28 May 2025

7.2 Quarterly Finance Report March
To provide Council information on the Quarterly Finance Report for March 2025.

COUNCIL RESOLUTION
That Council receive and note the Quarterly Finance Report for March 2025.

Moved: Cr de Villiers

Seconder: Cr Long
CARRIED

7.3 VEC Election Report on CGSC 2024 Elections

To table the Victorian Electoral Commission’s report on the conduct of the Council Election held
Saturday 26 October 2024.

COUNCIL RESOLUTION

That Council receive and note the VEC’s Election Report on the Council Election held 26 October
2024.

Moved: Cr de Villiers

Seconder: Cr Murphy
CARRIED

74 Public Road Register Policy

To discuss the future of the Public Road Register Policy (the Policy).

COUNCIL RESOLUTION

That Council rescinds its Public Road Register Policy (2021) and notes that Council Officers
will manage the Register of Public Roads in accordance with the Road Management Act
(2004) and Council's Road Management Plan.

Moved: Cr Bartlett

Seconder: Cr Murphy
CARRIED

7.5 Building Compliance and Enforcement Policy

The adoption of a new Building Compliance and Enforcement Policy (Policy) following technical
development.

COUNCIL RESOLUTION
That Council adopts the Building Compliance and Enforcement Policy which will detail Council's
legal responsibilities in respect to the Building Act 1993 (Victoria) and also the Building
Regulations 2018 (Victoria).
Moved: Cr Green
Seconder: Cr Bartlett

CARRIED

0 0T Z8
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Council Meeting — 28 May 2025

7.6 2025 Local Laws - Final version for consultation

The release of the General Local Law 2025 for a final round of public consultation prior to adoption.

COUNCIL RESOLUTION

That Council resolves to release the final draft General Local Law 2025 for public consultation for
the period 2 June to 27 June 2025.

Moved: Cr Murphy
Seconder: Cr Meyer
CARRIED

7.7 Visitor Economy Partnership

The future structure for the Central Victoria Visitor Economy Partnership (VEP) and seek approval
for Central Goldfields Shire’s participation and investment in the Partnership.

COUNCIL RESOLUTION
That Council:

1. Approves membership to Destination Central Victoria Inc (working title) as the new Visitor
Economy Partnership for the region.

2. Approves the legal incorporation to join Destination Central Victoria Inc (working title), as the
official Visitor Economy Partnership for the region.

3. Notes that the annual contribution as presented in the report will be outlined in a
Memorandum of Understanding, aligned with the State Government Funding Agreement.

4. Notes the Destination Central Victoria (working title) Management Plan as the key
strategic document for Visitor Economy Partnership to implement.

Moved: Cr Murphy
Seconder: Crde Villiers

DIVISION CALLED

Cr Bartlett called for a Division, and voting was:
For: Crs La Vella, Green, de Villiers, Long, Meyer and Murphy.
Against: Cr Bartlett.

CARRIED
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Council Meeting — 28 May 2025

7.8 2024 Energy Breakthrough Evaluation

Presenting to Council an update of the evaluation and review of the 2024 Energy Breakthrough
Event as per the Terms of Reference for the Management Group.

COUNCIL RESOLUTION

That Council endorse the 2024 Energy Breakthrough Event Debrief Report.
Moved: Cr Long

Seconder: Cr Bartlett

CARRIED

8 Councillor Reports and General Business

Nil.

9 Notices of Motion
Nil.

10 Urgent Business
Nil.

COUNCIL RESOLUTION

That in accordance with Section 66(2)(a) of the Local Government Act 2020, the meeting be
closed to the public to allow Council to consider two reports which contain personal information,
being information which, if released, would result in the unreasonable disclosure of information
about any person or their personal affairs.

Moved: Cr Long
Seconder: Cr Murphy

CARRIED

11 Consideration of Confidential Reports
11.1 Employment Matter

11.2 Committee Appointment Matter

7 of 28
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COUNCIL RESOLUTION
That the meeting, now resume in open Council.
Moved: Cr Myer
Seconder: Cr Green
CARRIED

12 Meeting Closure

The Mayor, Cr La Vella closed the meeting at 7:04pm.

8 of 28
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7.1 DO 061-23 705 Baringhup Road Carisbrook
Attachment 1

CSGC Objector Statement -
2025 VCAT REFERENCE
NO. P270/2025

PERMIT APPLICATION NO. 061-23

Q 1 What is the role of the Managing Director of Pavilion Partners with Hurse Land Pty Ltd?

Q 2 Letter to the Community by

The Maryborough Advertiser Friday 20 Dec 2024,
page 11. The Carisbrook Biagas Plant Is this proposed
for 705 Baringhup Road?

Q 3 Complexities

This site has complexities as it is the home base of generations of a local farming family

Defining the Broiler Operation separate as from the rest of the farm land - over where does the land applicable to the broiler
complex begin and end? This is evident as shed litter is both stockpiled on land and spread on agricultural land, which is
on same titles as the Subject Land.

Q 4 Lacks orderly planning for Loddon Mallee South Region

Areas north - west of Bendigo are identified for Intensive Animal Industries not the prime broad acre farming area of the
Moolort Plains.

Q 5 Regional context - industry and tourism are impacted by intensive animal industries, they require all food and the
animals to be transported in and out, very different from the extensive agriculture of the Moolort Plains amongst the
renowned Moolort Wetland Complex.

See Google Earth imagery from Airbus between 10/12/2024

The context is changing with nearby Castlemaine and Maryborough and with the villages of Carisbrook, Baringhup,
Newstead and Malden industrial areas, appreciation of the values of the open rolling landscape has grown. E.g. bird
watching, cycling from within and out of the area.
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Attachment 2

From:

To:

Subject: Doc 715407 Central Goldfields Shire Council Planning Hearing for D061/23 — 705 Baringhup Road,
Carisbrook.

Date: Wednesday, 21 May 2025 9:32:30 PM

Attachments: Group-1 Map-1 L MS-Future-growth-framework 24April2014.pdf
Group-48 Map-5-1MS Strategic Assets 28Feb2014 pdf

[EXTERNAL EMAIL] DO NOT CLICK on links or open attachments in this message unless you
recognise the sender and know the contents are safe.

To the Planning Department at Central Goldfields Shire Council.
Central Goldfields Shire Council Planning Hearing for D061/23 — 705
Baringhup Road, Carisbrook.

I have undertaken to answer the question from Cr Geoff Bartlett about
relevant matters to the Planning Hearing.

I referred to the Loddon Mallee South Regional Growth Plan developed
in 2014 and pages were updated as recently as 2024.

The Loddon Mallee South Regional Growth Plan covers the municipalities of
Central Goldfields, Greater Bendigo, Loddon, Macedon Ranges and Mount
Alexander.

The plan provides broad direction for regional land use and development in the
region and more detailed planning frameworKs for key regional centres.

Amendment VC106 changes the Victoria Planning Provisions and all planning
schemes by inserting clauses 11.06 - 11.13 into the State Planning Policy
Framework which set out the objectives and strategies of Victoria's eight regional
growth plans.

The Minister for Planning launched the Loddon Mallee South Regional Growth
Plan on 29 April 2014.

The plan has been endorsed by each of the five Loddon Mallee South region
councils following consultation with the community.

I also attach these maps of The Loddon Mallee South Regional Growth
Plan which relate to the planning permit application which now is at
VCAT,

These are related maps of the Loddon Mallee South Regional Growth
Plan show considerations for the Moolort Plains in the Regional Growth
Plan.

Map 1 Future Growth Framework

Map 5 Strategic Assets

Map 7 Future Rural Land Use Directions and

Map 8 Future Environment and Heritage Directions.
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I appreciate this followup email be circulated to Councillors and is a
record of my continuing objection and concerns

Regards,

Message protected by MailGuard: e-mail anti-virus, anti-spam and content filtering.
https://www.mailguard.com.au/m

Report this message as spam
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Bendigo - Regional city - Significant growth

Promote growth of Bendigo as the regional city. Significant population growth
with major residential development. It will be the major population and economic
growth hub for the region.

Regional centres/towns - Manage and support growth

Manage and support growth in these settlements, reinforcing the network of
communities within the region. These settlements will be employment and service
hubs. Growth consistent with structure plans, comprising infill and some targeted
expansion.

Encourage sustainable growth in Bendigo's hinterland towns

Potential growth and expansion to capitalise on excellent access to Bendigo.
Facilitate the growth of Marong as a residential and industrial/business location.
Designated identified growth centre in Plan Melbourne

Plan Melbourne (Chapter 6 — State of Cities) identifies Gisborne as a peri-urban
town with potential to attract housing and population growth out of Melbourne.
Towns and rural centres

Maintain settlement break

Areas within 100 km of central Melbourne

Bendigo hinterland

Strategically direct growth to locations with good existing infrastructure
and infrastructure with the capacity for enhancement.

Explore further opportunities to develop freight-related activities in Marong
and Maryborough.

Maintain and strengthen key transport networks, both road and rail
for the transporting of freight and people.
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Freeway Road Rail

Facilitate ongoing agricultural productivity and new opportunities that respond
to climate change through ongoing adaptation and flexibility.
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(1) Represents the three highest levels

Strong transport networks

The region is located centrally in the state and is highly accessible

and attractive to live, work and visit. The existing transport corridors
provide links within and outside the region, providing for capacity for

the region to grow. Strategically renew, maintain and develop
infrastructure to maximise opportunities and services to meet anticipated
need. The upgrade of Bendigo airport will facilitate existing emergency
services access and potential future passenger services.

Freeway Road Rail Airport

Water ways

The region contains significant water assets. These rivers, waterways
and wetlands contribute to the attractive natural environment and support
important ecosystems, heritage values and provide essential water supply
to the region's people, industry and environment.

Health, education, finance and research facilities

These assets sefvice communities both within and outside the region. The
upgrade to the Bendigo Hospital, the growth of institutions such as Latrobe
University and the strong finance sector attract people to the region. They
are significant to the economy and growth for the future.

Settlements

The region has a network of connected unique settlements which provide
for a variety of lifestyle options. These settlements are nestled within forest
and rural areas providing high amenity and attractive landscapes.

Areas containing high value terrestrial habitap)

Significant areas of high natural value occur across the region that attract
tourists, residents and industry and contain important and environmental
assets.

Mixed farming
The region is agriculturally diverse and can continue to adapt and evolve
due to good soils, efficient flexible farming systems and vast tracts of land.

Irrigation
State significant irrigation.

Public land
Public land protects many natural, amenity and heritage values within the
region and generates tourism and forestry income.

Significant tourist area
Includes some significant cultural heritage places and landscapes.
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These directions apply to the whole region:

Classify strategically important agricultural land, land use clusters and links to
processing/manufacturing and freight opportunities through a combined food,
freight and energy strategy for the region.

Support transitioning of towns from changes to irrigation through investment and
diversification of their economies and application of flexible zoning provisions
where appropriate.

» Work cooperatively with the North Central Catchment Management Authority

to develop a Carbon Action Plan which includes the majority of the Loddon
Mallee South region. Support agricultural activity through management of land
use conflicts and appropriate land use strategies.

Identify emerging agribusinesses and location clusters, for example, for the
equine industry and intensive animal industries including cattle feed lots, piggeries
and poultry farms.

Identify agribusiness and tourism clusters in the region. Implement appropriate
land use measures through the application of new zones to facilitate agricultural
tourism activities.

Develop a regional approach to small lot development using new rural zones
implementation.

( Intensive animal industry

—3 Area where the equine industry
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is expanding - specific clusters
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Attachment 3

To: Planning

Subject: Doc 715417 Ordinary Council Meeting - 28 May 2025 Agenda
Date: Monday, 26 May 2025 9:53:26 AM

[EXTERNAL EMAIL] DO NOT CLICK on links or open attachments in this message unless you
recognise the sender and know the contents are safe.

Mr Field,

| draw your attention the following.

Within the subject Ordinary Council Meeting - 28 May 2025 Agenda at Page 57 of 284,
Figure 4.0 in the Odour ERA

is a graphic that shows existing and proposed farms and sensitive receptors within a

2km distance of the proposed broiler farms.

The figure identifies Sensitive Receptors R1-R9 inclusive, none of which is our place
of Residence.

Could this oversight be corrected as a true reflection of all applicable Sensitive
Receptors applicable to this report.

Respectfully,

16 of 28
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Attachment 4

To: Planning

Cc:

Subject: Doc 715416 Ordinary Council Meeting - 26 March 2025 Agenda Wednesday 26 March 2025
Date: Monday, 26 May 2025 9:31:32 AM

[EXTERNAL EMAIL] DO NOT CLICK on links or open attachments in this message unless you
recognise the sender and know the contents are safe.

Mr Field,

The purpose of this email is to respectfully request correction to the subject Report.
Having reviewed that report | draw your attention to the following:

Ordinary Council Meeting - 26 March 2025 Agenda Wednesday 26 March 2025 (Page
100 of 398)

8.2.3D0 031-24 39 Clarkes Road Moolort Report

Other matters raised in objections and submissions. Public notice of the planning
permit application received eleven objections from nearby residents and their
concerns have been listed earlier in this report. The objections have been considered
in detail against the technical reports and supporting material submitted with the
planning permit application and the relevant considerations of the Central Goldfields
Planning Scheme. Some matters raised in objections are not relevant planning
considerations.

These include:

* Compliance issues with existing broiler farms.

| remind you that Compliance issues formed the basis of my original Planning
Application Objection.

Your suggestion that Compliance issues with existing broiler farms are not relevant to
planning considerations is untrue, and as such should be corrected or redacted in
your Council Report, as your statement is in contradiction to the Victorian Code for
Broiler Farms 2009 (the Code), Section Eight.

Compliance with this Code is mandatory for the establishment of all new broiler
farms and expansions in Victoria.

8. Auditing Requirement

The audit process produces a record of performance that the responsible authority
may refer to when considering an application to expand a farm or when dealing with a
complaint. Allgrowers are encouraged to establish an EMP and conduct periodic
audits, even if their operation was not approved under this Code.

The grower must provide a copy of the full audit report to the responsible authority on
request. (When considering an application to expand farm capacity, the
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responsible authority may also request and review environmental data and audit
findings for the existing farm, if available.)

In addition to the above matter, | respectfully request access to available Pavilion
Farm Audits conducted to date, in accordance with Central Goldfields Shire Council
Public Transparency Principles, and as required by the Code that are to have been
completed once every two years (biennially) and conducted at Pavilion Farms 7,8 &
9.

Respectfully,
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Attachment 5

Agriculture Victoria

20 December 2024

Tim Wild

Principal Planner, Statutory Planning
Central Goldfields Shire Council

22 Nolan Street,

MARYBOROUGH, VIC, 3465

Email: mail@cgoldshire.vic.gov.au

Dear Tim,

RE: Planning Permit Application 061-23 Use and development of the land for
a class B broiler farm, caretakers house and associated buildings and
works.

Land at: 705 Baringhup Road CARISBROOK 3464
Lot 1 TP18831

Reference: 061-23

Thank you for the opportunity to provide comment on further information pursuant to a notice
of application under Section 52 of the Planning and Environment Act, 1987.

This advice must be read in conjunction with the Agriculture Victoria initial referral response
dated 12 November 2024

The advice provided in this letter relates to:
1. Review of updated documents

1. Review of updated documents
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Assessment against the Victorian Code for Broiler Farms 2009 Plus 2018 Amendments
Agriculture Victoria has reviewed the following provided supporting documentation:

061-23 Planning Report — Farm 11

061-23 Broiler Farm Proposal Summary

061-23 Environmental Management Plan — Farm 11, November 2024
061-23 Odour Environmental Risk Assessment, 4 December 2024
061-23 Plans

061-23 Titles

Agriculture Victoria has based our assessment on the requirements of the Victorian Code For Broiler Farms 2009 Plus 2018 Amendments (Broiler
Code) with some reference to the following additional sources:

e Planning and environment guideline for establishing meat chicken farms, Guide 1 Assessment guide, November 2021
e National Farm Biosecurity Manual poultry production

The assessment is based on the application being referred to Agriculture Victoria as a Class B Broiler farm. Agriculture Victoria provides the following
summary based on the Broiler Code Appendix 5: Proposal Summary and Application Checklist

Colour key
Condition/requirement met, adequate detail provided
More detail/revision required

Not addressed
Condition/requirement not met

Appendix 5: Checklist for planners: Compliance with Code elements

Yes/ | Comment

No
Element 1: Location, siting and size Gaps | Resolution of mortalities composting design and construction
Through the provision of appropriate setback and separation distances, do the required.
location and size of the broiler farm and the siting of the broiler sheds, temporary Determination of the appropriate class of Broiler farm in regard
litter stockpiles, compost piles and litter spreading areas: to the separation distance totally covering two (2) small

allotments at 835 Baringhup Road CARISBROOK 3464;
2
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OFFICIAL
» minimise the risk of adverse amenity impacts on nearby existing, planned and e Lot 1 TP962138, Council Property Number
potential future sensitive uses as a result of odour, dust and noise? 20390.0835 (Central Goldfields SC) Area 2.19ha
« not adversely affect the use and development of nearby land? e Lot 1 TP617889, Council Property Number 12687
« avoid pollution of ground and surface waters? (Mount Alexander SC). Area 0.91ha
+ avoid adverse impacts on the visual quality of the landscape? e Dwellings on these lots are not Prohibited. Both
* minimise biosecurity risks? allotments would require permits for a dwelling within
their prospective Councils
Standard E1 S1 Amenity protection Yes
AM E1 M1.1 Residential Zone >1000m Yes
AM E1 M1.2 RLZ>750 m Yes
AM E1 M1.3 Meteorological conditions considered Yes
AM E1 M1.4 Farm Boundary >100m Yes
AM E1 M1.5 Litter stockpile >300m sensitive use N/A No litter stockpile proposed
AM E1 M1.6 litter spreading >20m farm boundary N/A Litter to be removed from site
AM E1 M1.7 litter spreading >100m sensitive use N/A Litter to be removed from site
Standard E1 S2 Waterway protection
AM E1 M2.1 Vegetative buffer 30m along waterway N/A No Waterway identified
AM E1 M2.2 20m buffer from shed to vegetative buffer N/A
AM E1 M2.3 litter stockpile/spreading distance to waterways N/A No stockpile or litter spreading proposed
Standard E1 S3 Protecting the visual quality of the landscape Yes
AM E1 M3.1 B&W not on steep slopes Yes | Siteis not steep
AM E1 M3.2 B&W orientated to follow contours Yes Limited site contours
AM E1 M3.3 existing ridgeline vegetation maintained Yes No vegetation removal proposed
Standard E1 S4 Biosecurity Yes
AM E1 M4.1 Separation from other poultry farms Yes 686m buffer maintained
AM E1 M4.2 Stockpile >100m from shed No Mortalities composting appears to be within 100m of sheds
AM E1 M4.3 Litter spreading >20 m from shed N/A No litter spreading proposed
Standard E1 S5 Future use and development of neighbouring land
AM E1 M5.1 Class B separation <50% of neighbouring property No See note above regarding 835 Baringhup Road CARISBROOK [ |
AM E1 M5.2 Class B neighbouring property retains building parcel No
Element 2: Farm design, layout and construction
Is the broiler farm development designed and constructed to minimise the risk of
adverse off-site impacts and support the cost-effective operational efficiency of
the farm?
Standard E2 S$1 Protecting the visual quality of the landscape Yes
AM E2 M1.1 Buildings are constructed in response to the topography of the land | Yes | Screening proposed
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OFFICIAL
AM E2 M1.2 Sheds clad in non-reflective and natural-coloured materials | Yes |
Standard E2 S2 Efficient farm operation
AM E2 M2.1 Shed orientation and tunnel fan location Yes
AM E2 M2.2 Site designed for efficient operation Yes
AM E2 M2.3 Site designed to prevent access by wild bird and vermin Yes
AM E2 M2.4 Water availability Yes
AM E2 M2.5 Water supply backup Yes
AM E2 M2.6 Detail of water treatment system Yes
AM E2 M2.7 Feed and water system adjusted as birds grow Yes The modern systems proposed have this functionality
AM E2 M2.8 Nipple drinkers used Yes
AM E2 M2.9 Systems designed to minimise feed spills Yes
Standard E2 S3 Avoiding environmental impacts from broiler sheds Yes
AM E2 M3.1 Concrete hard stand at entrance to sheds Yes
AM E2 M3.2 Low permeability shed base Yes
AM E2 M3.3 Floor level above natural surface level Yes
Standard E2 S4 Noise management
AM E2 M4.1 design and siting to minimise noise Yes
Standard E2 S5 Stormwater drainage
AM E2 M5.1 Clean stormwater areas separated from areas that broiler farm Yes

waste may affect

AM E2 M5.2 Stormwater from sheds and hard standing apron areas is collected | Yes
and managed on site in a dam(s) or tanks within the broiler farm boundary

AM E2 M5.3 Stormwater table drains with an appropriate gradient are Yes

established

AM E2 M5.4 Soil erosion mitigation N/A | Flat site limits erosion potential

AM E2 M5.5 Stormwater management consistent with stormwater management | UK Unknown. Agriculture Victoria is not in the best position to
plan of the responsible authority judge this criteria

AM E2 M5.6 Retaining dams are constructed with the capacity to retain run-off Yes
from a one-in-ten-year storm.

Element 3: Traffic, site access, on-farm roads and parking Gaps | » Access point at least 30m inside farm boundary not
Do the location, design and construction of farm access points, internal roads addressed in materials

and parking areas support the safe and efficient entry and exit to the site,
movement of vehicles and operation of the farm?

Do the location, design and construction of farm access points, internal roads
and parking areas minimise noise and lighting impacts?

Standard E3 S1 Site access (Standard 1) No
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AM E3 M1.1 Access points constructed to appropriate standard No Not shown on plans
AM E3 M1.2 Access point at least 30 metres inside boundary No Not shown on plans
Standard E3 S2 Site access (Standard 2) Yes
AM E3 M2.1 Vehicle access points are located away from sensitive use Yes
AM E3 M2.2 Lighting designed to limit spill No No detail provided
Standard E3 S3 Internal roads and car parking (Standard 1)
AM E3 M3.1 Internal roads appropriately constructed Yes | Subject to Council conditions
AM E3 M3.2 Appropriate parking provided Yes | Subject to Council conditions
Standard E3 $4 Internal roads and car parking (Standard 2)
AM E3 M4.1 Internal roads and parking areas are designed to ensure efficient Yes

traffic flow and to reduce the need for vehicles to reverse.
AM E3 M4.2 Internal roads and parking areas located away from sensitive use Yes
AM E3 M4.3 Lighting baffled No No detail provided

Element 4: Landscaping

Is landscaping used to minimise the visual impact of broiler sheds and litter
storage areas, reduce the risk of light and dust impacts on nearby sensitive
uses, and protect, manage and enhance on-farm native vegetation and
biodiversity?

Standard E4 S1 Landscaping

AM E4 M1.1 Dense vegetation and planting along frontages to public roads and | No Vegetation plantings only proposed directly around works area.

other highly exposed site boundaries to provide screening No screening proposed along roads
AM E4 M1.2 The landscape plan incorporates a mix of trees and large shrubs Yes

AM E4 M1.3 Retains existing trees and native vegetation Yes

AM E4 M1.4 Mounds of approximately 2 m high are used if the natural Yes Not required in the flat landscape

topography and tree planting cannot effectively screen a broiler farm
AM E4 M1.5 Plantings and vegetation are located no closer than 20 m from the Yes
perimeter of the broiler sheds

AM E4 M1.6 Unpaved areas around sheds are grassed to prevent soil erosion Yes

and minimise the heat load

AM E4 M1.7 Ground surfaces that are exposed to erosion are stabilised with Yes

ground cover planting

AM E4 M1.8 The permit approval requires the establishment of a landscape No No detail provided

performance bond, to ensure effective implementation of a landscape plan
approved by the responsible authority.

Element 5: Waste management [ Gaps |  _ Mortality composting detail and design not provided _[Il
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Does the EMP adequately describe the day-to-day operation and management
of the farm, including contingency plans?

Does the EMP adequately describe the routine auditing program proposed for
the farm?

Standard E6 S1

AM E6 M1.1 An environmental management plan (EMP) is developed that is site | Yes
specific and based on the approved generic EMP

AM E6 M1.2 The farm grower / operator maintains and updates (as required) a
manual containing the EMP

Not able to be assessed at application stage. A matter for
continuing compliance with the Broiler code when farm
operational
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Conclusion

The Central Goldfields Shire Council as the responsible authority will have to make a
determination as to whether the application for the proposal meets the strategic objectives of
the Central Goldfields Planning Scheme.

Agriculture Victoria notes that:

e The 686m separation distance totally covers two (2) small allotments at 835 Baringhup
Road CARISBROOK 3464,

o Lot1TP962138, Council Property Number 20390.0835 (Central Goldfields SC)
Area 2.19ha

o Lot 1 TP617889, Council Property Number 12687 (Mount Alexander SC).
Area 0.91ha

o Any proposed dwellings on these lots would be considered a Section 2 use,
permit required, and subject to approvals by their prospective Councils.

o Council may need to make a determination as to the above-mentioned
allotments and compliance with the Code relating to Element 1: Location, siting
and design. Approved measures E1 M5.1 and E1 M5.2.

o If the broiler farm is classified as Class B, then the Odour ERA may not be required.
However, the Odour ERA acknowledges a history of complaints and the modelling
shows that there are a number of dwellings/receptors already effected and predicted
to be further impacted with the new developments. The Odour ERA states that; The
99.9" percentile offsite concentrations are predicted to be above the 5 OU 99.9"
percentile at R1 — R7 (total of seven receptors). The increase in odour impact, as a
result of increase in bird numbers, is most prominent at R7, followed by R5. However,
the modelled increases are unlikely to be perceived as the odour level needs to almost
treble before an increase in perceived intensity is registered.

e There would appear to be a number of dwellings evident in aerial imagery that are not
identified as receptors in the Odour ERA. The dwellings are on properties not identified
as being owned by the applicants but would appear to be effected by the 5 OU in the
modelled outcomes.

Agriculture Victoria considers that:

e The Application can address the requirements of the Victorian Code for Broiler Farms
2009 (plus 2018 amendments), subject to considering the comments above and
amendments as per the following:

o 061-23 Planning Report — Farm 11, November 2024, is amended to remove
reference to Greater Geelong Planning Scheme in contents page 2

o Construction and site plans are amended to include detail and design for dead
bird composting and re-use to the satisfaction of Council (noting references to
that activity in 061-23 Planning Report — Farm 11, November 2024, and 061-23
Environmental Management Plan (EMP) — Farm 11, November 2024).

o Agriculture Victoria have previously noted the application material provides no
detail as to the design and construction of the mortality composting pad or the
spreading of compost on the land and this is yet to be addressed.

o Matters raised in Appendix 5: Checklist for planners: Compliance with Code
elements as per previous pages.

e The proposed shed location would appear to meet the minimum separation distance
requirement of 686m for a Class B broiler farm with 400,000 birds to neighbouring
sensitive uses (dwellings).
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e Council may have its own considerations for:
o Element 1: Location, siting and design. Approved measure E1 M5.1 and
Approved measure E1 M5.2
= Council to assess the likelihood of a dwelling being permitted on the two
(2) allotments of property at 835 Baringhup Road CARISBROOK 3464.
It appears that a dwelling on these allotments would be a Section 2 use
— Permit required, in both Central Goldfields and Mount Alexander
Planning Schemes.
= The outcome of this assessment will determine if the proposal is a Class
B or Special Class Broiler farm and the need for the Odour ERA.
o Element 3: Traffic, site access, on farm roads and parking
o Element 4: Landscaping
e The Environment Protection Authority Victoria will be able to provide comment on the
suitability of the Odour Environmental Risk Assessment (OERA) and comments that:
sensitive receptors were identified within 2 km of radius from the site as this is generally
considered the distance at which sensitive receptors are likely to experience odour
nuisance from an odour source. A total of seven receptors have been identified within
2 km of the site boundary to be included in this assessment. (3.3 Sensitive receptors)

Recommendations

Agriculture Victoria conditionally supports the application 061-23 on Lot 1 TP18831, 705
Baringhup Road CARISBROOK for the use and development of the land for class B broiler
farm with a maximum farm capacity of 400,000 birds, once the comments above are addressed
to the satisfaction of Council, and recommends that if a permit is granted that:

e The permit 061-23 for Lot 1 TP18831, 705 Baringhup Road CARISBROOK allows: The
use and development of the land for class B broiler farm with a maximum farm capacity
of 400,000 birds.

e The Odour ERA, Environmental Management Plan and Site Plans are endorsed and
form part of any permit issued to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

This letter of advice is provided to Council to assist their assessment of the above planning
permit application and any requirement in seeking further information from the applicant as
part of its assessment process. The information provided should be considered as advisory in
nature to inform Council’s determination as the Responsible Authority.

Please provide a copy of Council’s decision for our records.
Please contact me if you require any further clarification.

Regards

Agriculture Victoria Planning and Advisory Service

Agriculture Victoria

Department of Energy, Environment and Climate Action

255 Ferguson Road, Tatura, Victoria 3616

MXOAXAXXXS | E: agvic.planning@agriculture.vic.gov.au
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Attachment 6
Tim Wild
Subject: FW: Odour Environmental Risk Assessment for Farm 10 and Farm 11 Carisbrook -
EPA comments
From:

Sent: Thursday, 19 December 2024 2:08 PM
To: Tim Wild <Tim.Wild@cgoldshire.vic.gov.au>
Subject: Odour Environmental Risk Assessment for Farm 10 and Farm 11 Carisbrook - EPA comments

[EXTERNAL EMAIL] DO NOT CLICK on links or open attachments in this message unless you recognise the sender and
know the contents are safe.

OFFICIAL
EPA Ref: REQO006275

Tim

Thank you for your message from 6 December 2024, providing an updated version of the Odour Environmental Risk
Assessment (OERA), prepared by GHD dated 4 December 2024. The updated version clarifies that bird numbers at
each of Farm 10 and Farm 11 will not exceed 400,000 birds, and the odour assessment is based on those numbers.

EPA has previously provided a planning referral response to council relating to the expansion of the Pavillion Farms
for Farm 10 and Farm 11 in correspondence dated 9 May 2024. This current assessment relates to the role of the
submitted OERA, mentioned above, in assisting council in identifying odour risks from the proposed development of
Farm 10 and Farm 11.

EPA has not undertaken a technical assessment of the OERA, but makes the following additional comments about
the report.

Comments
EPA believes the odour assessment is satisfactory for council to support the application and that council may use the
conclusions as a guide to potential risks.

The OERA assessment involves Farm 10 and Farm 11 expansion, Odour Environmental Risk Assessment, Pavilion
Farms, 4 December 2024 GHD Pty Ltd.

The OERA provided by GHD clarifies that the calculation of potential odour impacts is for each of sites Farm 10 and
Farm 11 which would hold up to 400,000 birds.

The GHD investigation applied a level 3 assessment to the proposal consistent with EPA Publication 1883 Guidance
for assessing odour , and focused on;

e Complaint assessment

e Odour dispersion modelling, and

e Odour surveillance from a comparable operation

The GHD assessment of community complaints noted that two odour complaints had been received in 2022 from
along Carisbrook — Baringhup Road, which appear to reference Farm 9. No complaints have since been received at
this location.

The methodology used by GHD in preparing the odour assessment included both Odour Dispersal Modelling and
surveillance data from a similar operation. The similar operation was a site in Toongabbie containing similar farms.

1
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The approach taken in the odour investigation is supported by EPA as it provides clear modelling of the potential
risks from the development.

The conclusions of the GHD investigation are;

“For the proposed expansion of Farm 10 and Farm 11, the risk assessment indicates that odour from the proposed
expansion remains low at all identified receptor locations except R1 which is located 860 m north of Farm 9. R1 is
predicted to experience Moderate risk, however, this is unchanged from the existing situation, which means R1 is
likely to experience offensive (obvious) odour. Although there may be some residual risk at R1, it is possible it can be
practically and effectively managed”, (GHD OERA, page 38).

EPA notes that Farm 9 is not part of the current assessment, and the inclusion of the proposed Farms 10 and 11 are
not expected to increase odour risk levels for the affected R1. The opinion that the proposed development will not
increase risks to existing sensitive receptors appears justified.

General Environmental Duty and Why Managing Risk is important

The Environment Protection Act 2017 came into effect on 1 July 2021. The GED is a centrepiece to these laws. It
applies to all Victorians. If your business engages in activities that may give rise to a risk to human health or the
environment from pollution or waste, you must understand those risks and take action to minimise them as far as
reasonably practicable.

This involves a continuous, preventative approach and familiarity with the current state of knowledge. It should be
approached with the understanding that where an operation presents low-level risks, or already has appropriate risk
mitigation measures in place, further mitigation measures may still be necessary at a future point. The concept of
‘state of knowledge’ describes the body of accepted knowledge that is known, or ought to be known, about the risks
to human health or the environment which a specific practice or industry presents, including any knowledge relating
to industry best practice methods of risk minimisation or management.

Effective risk mitigation is key to protecting the environment, human health, and Traditional Owner cultural values.
The values that we wish to protect are listed in the [Environment Protection Act 2017] Environment Reference
Standard 2021. Environmental values are the uses, attributes and functions of the environment that Victorians
value.

Assessing and identifying risks of harm is the first important step in the process of risk mitigation. Actively
demonstrating that risks are being mitigated/prevented follows, and is the obligation of the permit holder once a
use/development has commenced. Failure to mitigate risks so far as reasonably practicable could result in
compliance action under the Environment Protection Act 2017.

The mitigation/prevention of risk also applies before a use/development has commenced. S.25(5) of the
Environment Protection Act 2017 identifies that risks of harm to human health and the environment must also be
minimised, so far as reasonably practicable, at the design stage.

Recommended Permit Note
Should a permit for the proposal be granted by Council, EPA recommends the inclusion of the following permit note:
e The Environment Protection Act 2017 imposes duties on individuals and/or businesses undertaking the
activity permitted by this permit. If your business engages in activities that may give rise to a risk to human
health or the environment from pollution or waste, you must understand those risks and take action to
minimise them as far as reasonably practicable.

For further information on what the laws mean for Victorian businesses and community go to: What's the harm? |
Environment Protection Authority Victoria

Council may also wish to consider requesting an EMP as part of the planning permit (if issued) to ensure risks to the
environment and human health / amenity from the proposed operation will be managed through mitigation
measures and enforced if required.

If you need additional information or assistance, please d% not hesitate to contact me.

28 of 28
Yours sincerely,

31 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

5 Minutes of Delegated and Advisory Committees

5.1 Audit and Risk Committee Minutes for January, March and June 2025.
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEETING

CENTRAL Confirmed Minutes
GS?FEEQE,:EES Monday 20 January 2025
10:30 am

Room 1, Community Hub, Burns Street Maryborough

1.1 Welcome and introductions.
Welcome Cr Geoff Bartlett as a new councillor representative for the committee

Chair opened the meeting at 10.30am with an Acknowledgement of Country
Present:

Independent Members:
John Watson (Chair)
Robert Tommasini
Richard Ainio

Councillors
Cr Geoff Bartlett
Cr Anna de Villiers

Officers

Sally Jones - Interim Chief Executive Officer

Emma Little - General Manager Community Wellbeing

Alan Jones — Acting General Manager Infrastructure Assets and Planning
Cecilia Connellan - Manager Governance Property and Risk

Sylvia Lee — Acting Manager Finance

Melissa Hill - Governance Officer

Libby Sheward - Property and Risk Officer

Visitors

Paul Harris, RSD Audit

Felmer Ealdama — Crowe — External Auditor

1.2 Apologies

Dannielle MacKenzie from Crowe will be an apology
Mick Smith - General Manager Corporate Performance

Amber Ricks - General Manager Infrastructure Assets and Planning

1.3 Declarations of Conflict of Interest

1.4 Consideration of the Agenda

1.5 MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
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The report presents the Confirmed Minutes from the Audit and Risk Committee Meeting held
3 June 2024.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee note the confirmed Minutes as a true and accurate
reflection of its Meeting held 16 September 2024.

That subject to completion of all audit procedures and any adjustments arising from any
matters identified by members of the Audit and Risk Committee (the Committee) prior to or
during the meeting, the Committee note the VAGO Closing Report and Management
Letter and Management Representation letter to VAGO for the financial year ending 30
June 2024 are yet to be finalised that the committee decide as follows —

1. Note the report by the Manager Finance, the Governance and Management
Checklist, Draft Annual Financial Report 2023/2024, and the Draft Performance
Statement 2023/2024 and also noting the verbal assurance by the External
Auditors that they are not aware of any matters that would prevent the
Committee providing its advice to the council, that it be recommended to the
Council as follows:

e That Council record its approval ‘in principle’ to the draft Annual Financial
Report and draft Performance Statement (the statements) for the year
ended 30 June 2024; and that subject to the review of the draft version of
the Annual Financial Report and the Performance Statement (to be revised
to reflect the new Performance Statement template), Council authorise the:

o Interim Chief Executive Officer, the Mayor and a Councillor to certify
the final version of the statements for the year ended 30 June 2024;

o Chief Executive Officer and Mayor to sign the Governance and
Management Check-List;

o Chief Executive Officer to send the statements to the Auditor-
General;

o Principal Accounting Officer to implement any non-material changes
to the statement as recommended by the Auditor-General and
provide a summary of any such changes to the Audit and Risk
Committee at its next meeting; and

o Principal Accounting Officer to make any material changes
requested by VAGO after discussion with the Chair of the Audit and
Risk Committee and that they be reported to the Council as soon as
possible.

2. Thatcopies of the VAGO Closing Report and Management Letter and
Management Representation letter to VAGO for the financial year ending 30
June 2024 be circulated to committee members as soon as they are
available.
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1.6 MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES

The report presents the Matters Arising from the Minutes Register for the Audit and Risk
Committee’s consideration.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee note the Matters Arising from the Minutes Register.

Action:

Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

2. INTERNAL / EXTERNAL AUDIT
21 INDEPENDENCE OF THE INTERNAL AUDITOR

An opportunity is provided for the Internal Auditor to verbally discuss any matters affecting its
independence.

2.2 INTERNAL AUDIT PLANNING/ STRATEGY UPDATE 2023/2024 — RSD AUDIT

RSD Strategic Internal Audit Plan 2025-2027 and Annual Plan 2024-2025

RECOMMENDATION
That the Audit and Risk Committee notes the progress of the internal audit program.

Action:

Noted.

23 OH&S RESULTS FROM INTERNAL AUDIT

The purpose of this Report is to update the Audit and Risk Committee on the Internal Audit
of OH&S Report & Management Response.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee note the results of the OH&S Internal Audit conducted
by RSD.
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Action:

Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

2.4 RSD RISK ASSESSMENT DATA RECONCILIATION — OPERATIONS RISK REGISTER
REPORT

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee note the RAD Risk Assessment Data Reconciliation —
Operations Risk Register Report for OH&S

Action:
Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

2.5 MONITOR THE PERFORMANCE OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR (VERBAL)

Verbal update regarding the performance of the external auditor

RECOMMENDATION
That the Audit and Risk Committee notes the performance of the external auditor.

Not presented due to Mick Smith apology.

3. GENERAL BUSINESS

3.1 2023/2024 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE
SUMMARY/PURPOSE

The purpose of this Report is to inform the Committee on an additional disclosure request by

the Sector Director, Financial Audit of the Victorian Auditor-General's Office (VAGO) as part
of the finalisation of the 2023/2024 Financial Audit.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Audit and Risk Committee:

1) note the additional disclosure added to the 2023/2024 Financial Statements regarding
the going concern and ongoing financial performance and that on that basis a clear audit
opinion was issued by VAGO

2) Note the final Annual Report including the audited Financial and Performance
Statements for the 2023/2024 financial year
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Action:
Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

3.2 WORKING CAPITAL AND CASH POSITION

The objective of this report is to update the Committee on the working capital and cash
position.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee notes the working capital and cash position as at
November 30, 2024, and the actions being undertaken by Council to ensure operations
can continue on a going concern basis.

Action:
Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

3.3 BIANNUAL REPORT FOR THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

As required under Section 54(5) of the Local Government Act 2020, an Audit and Risk
Committee (the Committee) report must be prepared and presented to Council on the
outcomes of the Committee meetings on a biannual basis.

This report from the Committee covers the six months to 31 December 2024.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee note the Audit and Risk Committee Biannual Report
January 2025

Action:
Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

3.4 2025 ANNUAL PLAN AND MEETING DATES FOR 2025

The report presents an update on the Work Plan for the current year, the proposed Work Plan
for 2025, and proposed meeting dates for 2025.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee:

1. note the progress of the Committee against the 2024 Work Plan;
2. endorse the proposed Draft 2025 Work Plan with the addition of a
Quarterly Systems and Security Report and Occupational Health and
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Safety Report

3. Determine the required frequency of the Occupational Health and safety
report; and

4. Note the 2025 meeting dates as proposed.

Action:

Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

3.5 PROCUREMENT POLICY UPDATE

RECOMMENDATION:

That the Audit and Risk Committee approve moving the Procurement Policy Update
to the March 2025 meeting

Action:

Noted.

3.6 GOVERNANCE, STRATEGIC AND POLICY FRAMEWORK UPDATES

This report presents ARC with the three newly developed framework proposed as a part of
CGSC governance policies refresh review and seeks endorsement for the documents.

The governance frameworks and policies are a key element of the council’'s governance and
accountability structures that are aimed at enhancing transparency, accountability and
operational efficiency while providing leadership to foster integrity and appropriately address
wrongdoing if it occurs.

These frameworks outline the processes structures and rules by which Central Goldfields
Shire Council implement and manage good governance.

They will be instrumental good decisions making at Council and encompasses performance,
responsible stewardship, ethical behaviour, decision making, leadership, trust, inclusion,
accountability, legitimacy, responsiveness, transparency, and fairness.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee consider the recommended changes, discuss other
proposed changes, and submit them to Council for consideration at the February 2025
Council Meeting.

Action:
Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO.

3.7 GOVERNANCE POLICIES REFRESH REPORT
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This report presents ARC with the proposed changes to six CGSC governance policies. It
requests review and endorsement of the edited policies.

The governance policies are a key element of the council’s governance and accountability
structures that are aimed at enhancing transparency, accountability and operational
efficiency while providing leadership to foster integrity and appropriately address wrongdoing
if it occurs. The Governance policy refresh is reviewing all CGSC governance policies
developing three additional frameworks and seeking approval for proposed changes.

The updates align with evolving regulatory requirements, organisational goals, and
stakeholder expectations. Council will be provided with a recommendation to approve the
policy revisions and their subsequent implementation.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee reviews and approves the edited policies and consider
the recommended changes, discusses other proposed changes, and submit them to
Council for consideration at the February 2025 Council Meeting.

Action:
Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

3.8 AUDIT AND RISK CHARTER REVIEW

The report presents the Audit and Risk Committee Charter to the Committee for annual
review.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee review and approve the edited Audit and Risk Charter
and consider the recommended changes, discuss other proposed changes, and submit
them to Council for consideration at the February 2025 Council Meeting.

Action:

Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

4. STANDING ITEMS
4.1 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
The purpose of this report is to update the Audit and Risk Committee on any fraud, legal, risk

and insurance matters that impact on the financial sustainability, governance, reputation, or
operations of Council.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee receives and notes the Chief Executive Officer’s
verbal Report.
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Action:
Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

4.2 QUARTERLY FINANCE REPORT - SEPTEMBER

The purpose of this report is to advise Committee on the financial performance for the year
to date and how it is tracking against the adopted budget, noting any material differences.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee received and notes the attached finance report for the
period to 30 September 2024.

Action:

4.3 QUARTERLY DEFINDE BENEFITS SUPERANNUATION UPDATE

The objective of this report is to inform the Committee of the status of the Local Authorities
Superannuation Fund Defined Benefit Plan (LASF DB) - Vested Benefit Index as of 30
September 2024.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee notes the current defined benefits vested benefit index
(VBI) is currently 105.4%, greater than the 97% requirement

Action:

Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

44  QUARTERLY OUTSTANDING AUDIT ACTIONS UPDATE

The purpose of this Report is to present to the Audit and Risk Committee an update of the
Audit Action Items reviews and changes.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee approve the recommended changes to the existing
outstanding Audit Action items.

Action:

Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO
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4.5 QUARTERLY GOVERNANCE AND RISK UPDATE

The report presents an overview of significant items managed by the Governance and Risk
function of Council since September 2024.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee note the Governance and Risk Quarterly update.

Action:

Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

46 QUARTERLY RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee approves moving the Quarterly Risk Management
Report to the March 2025 Meeting

Action:

Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

4.7 QUARTERLY PROCUREMENT REPORT

This report is to capture how procurement is undertaken centrally via the procurement officers
and locally within financial delegated. Information includes data from financial years 22/23 and
23/24, and this is required to understand trends spend as per quarter. In relation to meet
Council’'s requirement to comply with the Procurement Policy and Section 109 of the Local
Government Act 2020 (the Act).

Section 109 of the Local Government Act 2020, states that a Council must comply with its
Procurement Policy before entering into a contract for the purchase of goods or services or
the carrying out of works.

The report covers the period July 2024 — September 2024.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee note the Quarterly Procurement Report July 2024 —
September 2024.

Action:

Discussed and received / noted for action by the CEO

4.8 SYSTEMS AND SECURITY UPDATE

The purpose of this Report is to apprise the Audit and Risk Committee of any substantive
changes to Council’s cyber security posture for the current reporting period.
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RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee note the quarterly cyber security status report —
January 2025.

Action:

Noted.

4.9 REPORTS BY SECTOR AND RELATED INDUSTRIES

The report presents publications of Interest; proposed VLGA Model Councillor Social Media
Policy, Changes to the FOI Act Documents/ Article and quarterly update from RSD

RECOMMENDATION

That the Audit and Risk Committee note the industry reports from VLGA, Office of the
Victorian Information Commissioner and RSD.

Action:

Noted.

5. OTHER BUSINESS

6. CLOSE OF MEETING / NEXT MEETING

10
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1. Welcome
The Chair, Mr Watson opened the meeting and welcomed all attendees to the meeting.
Members:
Mr John Watson, Independent Member (Chair)
Mr Richard Ainio, Independent Member
Mr Robert Tommasini, Independent Member
Cr Anna De Villiers
Cr Geoff Bartlett
Other Attendees:
Officers
Ms Sally Jones, Interim Chief Executive Officer
Ms Emma Little, GM Community Wellbeing
Ms Amber Ricks, GM Infrastructure Assets and Planning
Sylvia Lee, Manager Finance
Cecilia Connellan, Manager Governance, Property and Risk
Libby Sheward, Property and Risk Officer
Luke Holmes, Governance and Procurement Officer
Visitors
Mr Paul Harrison, Internal Audit Manager, RSD Audit
Ms Cassandra Gravenall, Associate Partner - External Audit, Crowe (On-Line)

2. Apologies
Nil.

3. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest
Nil.

4. Consideration of the Agenda
Nil.

5. Adoption of Minutes of Previous Meeting
DECISION - The Minutes of the meeting held on 20 January 2024 were confirmed.

6. Matters Arising/Action List
DECISION - The Committee noted the matters arising from the Minutes Register.
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7. Internal and External Audits
7.1 Waste Management and Resource Recovery Internal Audit — Final Report

Mr Harrison, Internal Audit Manager - RSD Audit, provided verbal comments on the
results of the Waste Management and Resource Recovery Internal Audit. From the
ensuing discussion, it was highlighted that the management comment on page 22
regarding the time frames, should read Sept 2025 vs Dec 2025 (not June 2025). In
addition, questions were posed on the number of transfer stations in operation and the
financial nature of the contract, which is currently operating at a loss.

DECISION - That the report be endorsed and that Appendix B and C of the report be
circulated to Committee members.

7.2 Review of Outstanding Internal Audit Action List

Mr Harrison, Internal Audit Manager - RSD Audit, provided verbal comments on the
status of the outstanding Internal Audit Action List. General discussion ensued
regarding the impact of Management responses to this audit report.

DECISION -

1. That a copy of the management responses be circulated to Committee members,
when available.

2. That the two RSD and outstanding audit action item be combined.

7.3 Monitor the Performance of the External Auditor

The Final Management Letter for the year ended 30 June 2024 accompanied the
report. General discussion ensued, identifying several items of interest:

a) Ms Cassandra Gravenall is the new Audit partner from Crowe for Central
Goldfields Shire Council;

b) A meeting with Management is to occur, to develop a draft audit strategy for the
year ending 30 June 2025, including relevant timelines that needs to be approved
by VAGO. This can be circulated to Committee members in due course;

c) Itis expected that VAGO will make changes to required audit information, taking
account of any new accounting standards; a focus on the valuation of Capital
Works and on Management comments on prior years findings to name a few.

DECISION -

1.The Committee noted the Final Management Letter for the year ended 30 June
2024 and the update on discussions occurring for development of the Audit Strategy
for the year ended 30 June 2025.

2.That a copy of the audit strategy for the year ended 30 June 2025 be provided to
the Committee members as soon as it is possible.

7.4 Monitor Management’s implementation of the external auditor’s
recommendations (included within Audit Plan report — outstanding audit
recommendations)

Ms Gravenall, External Auditor, Crowe provided a verbal update to the Committee.

DECISION - The Committee noted the update.
30f6
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Actions - Second control to clarify control to ensure the 10% variations on a PO
should be included in for above procurement budget and additional approval required.

7.5 External Audit Engagement 2025 Update
Ms Gravenall provided a verbal update to the Committee.

DECISION - That the Committee note the update.

8. General Business
Councillor Induction

Councillor members of the Committee suggested that there could be benefit in
providing Councillors with more financial training on budget planning and how to read
financial reports. Further, that Councillors could also benefit from training on their
leadership roles in the community and cultural sensitivity training.

DECISION - That Management discuss with Council the suggested training needs for
future Councillor training and development opportunities.

9. Standing Items
9.1 Quarterly CEO's Report
A report providing the CEQO’s Quarterly Update was considered by the Committee.

DECISION — The Committee note the report.

9.2 Quarterly Finance Report December 2024

A report providing the Quarterly Finance December 2024 Update was considered by
the Committee. In the ensuing discussion, various questions were fielded and
responses provided. Issues covered included: that 82% of general rates had been
received; software variations to date; and the importance of proper footnotes in
financial documents.

DECISION -

1. The Committee noted the report, provided as Attachment 1.

2. The Committee noted the advice by the CEO, that a revised budget will not be
required for the 2024-2025 financial year.

9.3 Quarterly Defined Benefits Superannuation Update

A report providing a Quarterly Defined Benefits Superannuation Update was
considered by the Committee.

DECISION -

1. The Committee noted that the current defined benefits vested benefit index (VBI) is
currently 107.3% and greater than the 97% requirement for a call on the sector.

2. That in future, that the Committee only receive further updates, where the VBI rate
falls below 100%.
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9.4 Quarterly Outstanding Audit Action Items Update

A report providing a Quarterly Outstanding Audit Action Items Update was considered
by the Committee.

DECISION —
1. The Committee noted the report.
2. That the Committee acknowledged that:
a) The recommended changes that were approved at the January 2025 meeting
have been implemented in the current register; and
b) The VAGO External Audit Action items 2023/2025 were added to the
outstanding to the Audit Action items register.

9.5 Quarterly Governance and Risk Report

A report providing a Governance and Risk Quarterly Update was considered by the
Committee.

DECISION — The Committee noted the report.

9.6 Quarterly Risk Management Report
A report providing a Risk Management Update was considered by the Committee.

From the ensuing discussion, it was noted that the Committee is primarily - interested
in the Strategic — Risks and associated risk appetite which should be owned by the
Council. The Committee noted that operational risks are the responsibility of the CEO,
and that the Committee needs to be assured that the operational risk register is
current and known within the organisation.

DECISION -

1. The Committee noted the report.

2. That the Quarterly Governance and Risk Report and Risk Management Report be
combined into one report for future Audit and Risk Committee Meetings.

9.7 Quarterly Occupational Health and Safety Report

No report was presented, but a discussion did follow on the attachment listed for this
item. It was noted that there had been improvements in Council’s reporting, including
injuries incurred outside of work. It was suggested that Council obtain a copy of the
Mount Alexander Shire Report, to derive learnings from its presentation including
reporting of near misses.

DECISION — The Committee is to receive a Quarterly OH&S report in future.

9.8 Systems and Security Update

A report providing information on the current information/cyber security situation was
considered by the Committee.

DECISION — The Committee noted the report.
9.9 VAGO Reports
Nil.
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9.10 Reports and Publications by Sector and Related Agencies of Interest to
Council

As a result of a discussion pertaining to circulated attachments, the Committee
considered that there is no benefit in having two related items listed separately in
future meetings.

DECISION - That VAGO reports on sector issues and Reports and Publications by
Sector and Related Agencies of Interest to Council be combined for future Audit and
Risk Committee meetings.

10. Other Business

The Committee noted that this was the last meeting to be attended by Independent
Member, Mr Robert Tommasini.

The Committee recorded its appreciation for the considerable and dedicated
contribution Mr Tommasini had made to the Central Goldfields Shire Council Audit
and Risk Committee during his tenure on the Committee.

Close of Meeting
The Chair closed the meeting at 12:30pm.
The next meeting of the Audit and Risk Committee will be on Monday 2 June 2025.
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1 Welcome

The Chair, Mr Watson, opened the meeting at 10:45am and welcomed all attendees including
new member, Dr Craig Nisbet.

Members:

e Mr John Watson, Independent Member (Chair)
o Dr Craig Nisbett, Independent Member

¢ MrRichard Ainio, Independent Member

e Cr Geoff Bartlett

Other Attendees

e Ms Sally Jones, Interim Chief Executive Officer

e Ms Emma Little, GM Community Wellbeing

e Mr Anthony Smith, Acting GM Corporate Performance

e Ms Sylvia Lee, Manager Finance

e Ms Libby Sheward, Acting Manger Governance, Property and Risk

e Ms Melissa Hill, Governance Officer

Visitors
e Ms Kathie Teasdale, Internal Audit Manager, RSD Audit

e Ms Cassandra Gravenall, Associate Partner - External Audit, Crowe

2 Apologies

Apologies were noted for Cr Anna de Villiers and Ms Amber Ricks Infrastructure Assets and
Planning.

3 Declaration of Conflicts of Interest
Nil.

4 Consideration of the Agenda
Nil.
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5 Adoption of Minutes of Previous Meeting
COMMENTS/ ACTION

The Chair noted that future Committee Meeting Minutes will be circulated outside the
meeting to Committee Members for confirmation by circular resolution and so enable a
confirmed set of committee minutes to go to the council.

DECISION
The Minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2025 were confirmed.
ACTION:

Circulate draft committee minutes as soon as possible following meetings for members to confirm
by out of session resolution so as to enable confirmed minutes to go to the council.

6 Minutes Arising/ Action List

COMMENTS/ACTION

Item 248: The Chair stated that the reference to disaster recovery was unclear to its
status. Ms Jones clarified that Disaster Recovery Planning was associated with IT, not
emergency management and Business Continuity also needs to be separated from emergency
management within IT.

Item 293: It was noted that the procurement report will be circulated out of session by
the Coordinator of Procurement.

Item 295: It was noted more detail is required, and the item needs to be circulated to show that the
capital funding has everything in it. Mr Smith spoke to the item and stated that he will circulate
more detail to the Committee Members.

The Chair requested that item 303 be removed as the required mandatory follow-up training for
Councillors has been completed.

Item 302 - The Chair requested, in future, the Draft Budget be presented to the Audit and
Risk committee to allow them the opportunity to make comments before it is presented to
Councillors and released for community consultation. The Chair asked if there was any
commentary on the current Draft budget. Mr Smith stated that there were new assumptions on the
cash budget. If there were variations, they would need to be offset.

Mr Ainio suggested that the committee needed to have a good idea of what they are. Mr Smith
responded by stating that they are going through all the IT agreements to confirm the status,
what the requirement is going forward and what is not being used.

The Chair requested that additional details be provided in future registers so that it is self-
explanatory.

DECISION
The Committee noted the matters arising from the Minutes Register.

ACTION:
Provide more information in future versions of the Register.

30of9

51 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

Audit and Risk Committee Minutes - 2 June 2025

7 Internal Audits
71 Internal Auditor Independence
Ms Kathie Teasdale from RSD Audit declared their independence.

Monitor the progress of the strategic internal audit plan and annual internal
audit plan

COMMENTS/ ACTION

Ms Teasdale advised the following:
e The Local Laws Internal Audit has just been finalised and will be distributed to
Management for commentary.
e There were some issues booking a date for the Payroll Internal Audit.

Ms Lee stated that they were implementing new software and are looking to formally
implement it in August or September.

Ms Teasdale stated that they can do the Contract Management audit while they are waiting for
payroll to be ready to be done.

The Chair asked Ms Jones fif:
e They would be interested in moving the Procurement Audit forward along with Contract
Management as a priority.
¢ [f the Rates and Revenue Audit can be moved with Procurement.
e |T Controls could be moved to March 2026.

Ms Teasdale advised that this would work as IT general controls can be done fairly quickly.
The Chair suggested that the next Audit should be Contract Management, then

Procurement, then Rates and Revenue as IT Controls is not a high priority.

Ms Jones stated that the Aerodrome Internal Audit contained some scope of review in
the business case which is a few years old, however they are not sure if the review is related
to the oversight or related to current operations.

The Chair asked if the Aerodrome was only for private use, Ms Jones stated that the flying
school, flying doctors and other commercial business use the aerodrome.

8.1 Review recommendations arising out of the external audit (included in
Audit Plan Report item 4.4)

NOTE:

This item was discussed as part of 8.8 and 8.9.

8.2 Monitor management’s implementation of External Auditor's
recommendations (included with Audit Plan Report)

NOTE:
This item was discussed as part of 8.8 and 8.9.

8.3 Monitor the Performance of External Auditor

DECISION
Noted that this item should be removed from future agendas.
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8.4 and 8.5 VAGO Status Report - February and May 2025

DECISION

Noted that the report was circulated separately to Committee Members.

8.6 Results of 2023-2024 Audits: Local Government April 2025

DECISION
Noted that the report was circulated separately to Committee Members.

8.7 Fin pro - VAGO presentation 29 April 2025

DECISION
Noted that the report was circulated separately to Committee members and was noted.

8.8 VAGO Central Goldfields Shire Council Financial Management Letter
for the year ended 30 June 2024

8.9 2024/25 LG Audit Strategy Memorandum CGSC

COMMENTS

Ms Gravenall advised that there was nothing of any significance.

The report was just setting out key areas, not a lot of change with the exception of more work
being done on AASB13.

The Chair asked Ms. Gravenall to comment on the fair value.

Ms Gravenall stated that there has been a bit of a change in the status and there is still work to
do, however they have not been presented with a management paper around the changes or
impact and would rather review the report sooner rather than later, however not a lot of
papers have come through.

They will keep working with management and are keen to work through as early as they can.
The Chair asked about the status of the work being done by a committee of VAGO, Fin Pro and
sector representatives? Ms. Gravenall stated it is not clear and mentioned the NSW guidance
is quite helpful and can circulate those to the members.

Mr. Smith asked to confirm the timetable for 4 August, Ms. Gravenall confirmed the date and will
provide the final version for circulation to the committee members.

DECISION
It was noted the scheduled September committee meeting will need to be moved to the second
half of the month to accommodate the final audit.

ACTION: Dates to be determined for the 2" half of September and Ms Gravenall will provide the
final version of the management letter for circulation to the committee members.
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9 Officer Reports

9.1 Audit and Risk Committee Biannual Report

This report from the Committee covers the six months to 31 May 2025.

DECISION

The was approved subject to the meetings attended being shown against each committee
member’s name.

ACTION:

Future Bi-annual reports should show the meetings attended by each member.

9.2 Self-Assessment Questionnaire

The report provided the Audit and Risk Committee with the results of the 2024/2025 Annual
Self-Assessment.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Audit and Risk Committee:
1. Note the results of the 2024/2025 Annual Self-Assessment Survey, and
2. Make recommendations to the Committee and management for actions to improve
the Committee’s performance.
3. Refer the results to the CEO for reporting to the next available council meeting

COMMENTS/ ACTIONS

The Chair commented on the fact that many of the items have been picked up and talked about
during the meeting already.

It tells us that between the Council and the Committee, we need to do more. Recommended
to pass the results onto the CEO and Management.

It was noted that there have been continuing challenges within the organisation, and they
appear to be reflected in the scoring results between Management and the Committee. The
intention is to make improvements going forward.

DECISION

The results of the 2024/25 Annual Self-Assessment be noted and passed to the CEO for tabling
at the next council meeting.

9.3 Audit Action Items Register Updates

It was noted the reports presented the work by the reviews of the previous long and aging list of
Audit Action Items .

COMMENTS/ACTION

The Chair recommended review of the backlog of recommendations to clean up and
consolidate.
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10

DECISION

That the report be noted and that the results are presented in the new revised audit actions listed
in report 10.3.

Preparation for the 2024/2025 Financial Year

The report provided an update to the Committee in relation to the preparation for the 2024/25
financial year end.

COMMENTS/ACTION

Ms Lee and Mr Smith spoke to the item.

Mr Smith stated that the report has been prepared from a previous recommendation from
VAGO.

The Chair commented that out of the four recommendations, 2 are specifically related to the
Audit and Risk Committee.

Ms Lee stated that there has been a big change to the accounting standards with the assets. A
paper will be presented to Crowe.

DECISION

The report was received and noted.

Standing Items

10.1  Quarterly Finance Report

The report provided a brief to the Committee on the financial performance for the year to date
and how it is tracking against the adopted budget.

COMMENTS/ ACTION

Ms Lee and Mr Smith advised the following:
e The report showed deficiencies of 200K variance.
e Cash position has improved compared to last quarter.
e The Draft Budget surplus of 700K has been forecast from February to year end.
It was originally 3 Million.
¢ 1.3 million feeds into the financial plan which is now achievable to grow to 3 or 4 million
over the next couple of years.

DECISION
That the report be noted.

10.2 Quarterly CEO's Report

The report provided an update to the Committee from the office of the CEO, with specific
emphasis on any fraud, legal, risk and insurance matters that impact on the financial
sustainability, governance, reputation, or operations of Council.

COMMENTS/ACTIONS
Ms Jones spoke to the report and advised:
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e That the Enterprise Agreement with Ararat Council was in negotiations.

e There was a privacy breech during the recruitment of the new CEO and a report has
been presented to the Local Government Inspectorate.

¢ The outstanding issue with the Aerodrome has now been closed.

¢ The Whiskery June (located at Maryborough Station) lease at issue has resolved,

¢ Provided an update about the recent Emergency Management Fund.
e That the new CEO was appointed - Mr Peter Harriot and he will be commencing 1 July.

DECISION
That the report be noted.

10.3 Audit Action Items Q3

The Report presented to the Committee, an update of the Audit Action Items Quarter 3 (1
January 2025 — 31 March 2025).

DECISION

That the status of the items in the revised action items register be noted.

10.4 Governance and Risk update

No report to this meeting.
Noted that a report will be provided at the September meeting.

10.5 Quarterly Procurement Report

The report provided a quarterly update and outlined how procurement is conducted both
centrally via the procurement team and locally under financial delegation.

COMMENTS/ACTION

Mr Smith advised that the Coordinator Procurement was not available, however they would be
available at the next meeting to speak to the report.

The Chair stated he was disappointed to not see any improvement in the retrospective PO
numbers.

Mt Ainio stated that when analysing the retrospective PO’s, it would be useful to split them
into single quotes received and multiple quotes received.

Mr Ainio asked if the correct process was followed when they fell above the threshold and
why were the Pos not obtainable in advance.

He also stated that there needs to be remedial training to assist in making the statistics look
better.

The Chair stated that items such as subscriptions, electricity and water bills cannot be
predicted in advance, however, there does need to be improvement in the list of exceptions.
The Procurement report identifies 19 categories; they need to carve them out.

DECISION
That the report be noted.

10.6 Quarterly OH&S Report

This report provides an update on the Occupational Health and Safety activities and initiatives
supporting Central Goldfields Shire Council as a safe place of work.
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DECISION
That the report be noted.

10.7 Systems and Security Update
This report provided information on the current information/cyber security situation.

DECISION
That the report be noted.

10.8 VAGO reports and publications by sector and related agencies of
interest to Council

DECISION
That the report be noted.

11 Other Business
Nil.

12 Close of Meeting / Next Meeting
The Chair closed the meeting at 12:35pm.

The next meeting is listed for 1 September 2025 but may change to allow for completion of the
annual external audit.
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6 Petitions
Nil.

7 Council Reports

7.1 Update on the Carisbrook Levee Review Draft Implementation Plan
Author: Interim Manager Project Services and Asset Management
Responsible Officer: General Manager Infrastructure Assets and Planning

The Officer presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff, reports
that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this report.

SUMMARY/PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to provide and update to Council on progress on the Carisbrook
Independent Levee Review Draft Implementation Plan (the draft Implementation Plan) and to
provide an update on progress of the Carisbrook Flood Management Plan Review and Update.

RECOMMENDATION
That Council notes:

1.  the status of actions contained in the Carisbrook Independent Levee Review Draft
Implementation Plan (Attachment 1);

2. that officers will make the information contained in Attachment 1 available to the
community via the Council website and;

3. that officers are in the process of finalising contract documents to engage consultants to
undertake the Carisbrook Flood Management Plan Review and Update which will address
remaining actions in the Draft Implementation Plan and will incorporate consultation with
the Carisbrook community.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONTEXT
Central Goldfields Shire Council’s Council Plan 2021-2025:
The Community’s vision: Leading Change
4. Good planning, governance, and service delivery.
4. Transparent decision making.
Initiative: Maintaining and protecting Council assets

The Carisbrook levee is a critical piece of Council’s infrastructure that preserves and maintains the
safety and well-being of the local community, in addition to protecting private and public assets in
Carisbrook.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In September 2024, officers presented a report entitled the Carisbrook Independent Levee Review
that was prepared by the NSW Department of Public Works.
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The report was commissioned to provide Council with further information relating to the design and
construction of the Carisbrook levee and to provide Council with advice on actions it may want to
consider moving forward.

The review was undertaken in the period May-July 2024 and sought input from community via the
Carisbrook Levee Review Reference Group that was appointed by Council and comprised eleven
community members, three Council officers and two Councillors.

Based on the advice contained in the Carisbrook Independent Levee Review, an implementation
plan was drafted, consisting of thirty-three actions”®, each of which had a recommended timeframe
from less than three (3) months, to greater than six (6) months.

At the meeting of Council in September 2024, Council noted the Draft Carisbrook Levee Review
Implementation Plan (the draft Implementation Plan) and supported officers to partner with the
community and relevant agencies to commence implementation of the short-term actions in the
draft Implementation Plan.

It is important to note that neither the independent review, nor the draft Implementation Plan was
endorsed by Council, however based on the Council resolution from September 2024 (where Council
formally noted both documents) the draft Implementation Plan has formed the basis for a range of
tasks carried out by officers in the months since it was presented to Council.

The draft Review also indirectly informed the project brief for the Carisbrook Flood Management
Plan Review and Update funded by the Victorian Government and is being delivered in partnership
with the North Central Catchment Management Authority (NCCMA).

A Note: the draft implementation plan numbers Actions 1-34, however there is an error in the table
and there is no #8 — meaning only thirty-three actions remain.

REPORT

The draft Implementation Plan has informed much of what Council has achieved in the period
October 2024 — May 2025 and was a helpful reference document in the development of the project
scope for the Carisbrook Flood Management Plan Review and Update (the FMP Review).

As summarised in Table 1 below and described in more detail in Attachment 1, Council has taken
short-term action as appropriate but has also drawn on advice contained in the draft Implementation
Plan to make decisions that are in the best interests of the community and Council in the medium-

long term via the FMP Review.

Complete | Underway Yet to Referred tp the
commence | FMP review
< 3 months 8 3 1* 2
RELL I e el < 6 months 1 2
timeframe > 6 months 1% 14
Ongoing 1

Table 1: Draft implementation plan status report

* Could not commence until the feature survey was completed in May 2025.

Per Table 1 above, only four of the thirty-three actions are yet to commence and two (2) of these
actions could not commence until the feature survey was completed in early May 2025.

While the draft Implementation Plan recommended the feature survey be completed in the first 3
months, this was not possible given the scale of the project and to operate within Council’s
procurement policy.
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Council officers have continued to monitor tasks recommended in the draft Implementation Plan
and are confident that Council is acting responsibly and in a timely manner where the Carisbrook
levee is concerned.

Carisbrook Flood Management Plan Review and Update

Council’s ongoing strategy for responsible flood management in Carisbrook is underpinned by the
commissioning of the Carisbrook Flood Management Plan Review and Update (the FMP Review).

The FMP Review is considered the appropriate mechanism for understanding and managing
floodwater in Carisbrook as it provides Council with the opportunity to strategically and
systematically assess the current and potential risks affecting Carisbrook.

The FMP Review also allows for a comprehensive community engagement strategy and will
actively involve key agencies and other levels of Government.

Per Table 1 above, sixteen of the thirty-three actions in the draft Implementation Plan are best
addressed by the FMP Review.

Effective and responsible management of floodwaters in townships across Victoria is often led by
Local Government agencies but the best possible outcomes can only be achieved by working with
partner agencies, other levels of Government and the local community.

Council is achieving this through the financial and technical support offered by the North Central
CMA, and the establishment of the Flood Management Plan Reference Group that was endorsed by
Council on 26 March 2025.

Membership of this group includes three community members selected via a public EOI process,
and multiple stakeholder organisations including:

o Local SES Representative (1)

e Representative from the Department of Energy, Environment and Climate Action (DEECA) (1)

e Representative from the North Central Catchment Management Authority (NCCMA) (1)

e Tullaroop Ward Councillor

e Local CFA Representative (1)

o Representative from Department of Transport and Planning (DTP) (1)

o Council Officers (3)
The composition of this reference group reflects the complexity of interests and decision making that
informs effective flood management in a rural setting.

The study itself will be undertaken by a suitably qualified consulting firm following a public process.
Expressions of interest have closed, and officers, with the support of the CMA and the community
representative have evaluated tenders.

A preferred consultant has been identified, and officers are in the process of finalising contract
documents. The consultant is expected to commence work in July 2025, and it is anticipated that
the work will take between 17-20 months to complete.

The FMP Review provides an opportunity for Council, the CMA, and the community to have access

to the best available data and mitigation modelling and take a comprehensive approach to managing
floodwaters in Carisbrook.
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CONSULTATION/COMMUNICATION

The broader community were given the opportunity to read the draft Implementation Plan and
provide feedback and/or ask questions through Councils Engage Website between 7 August and 26
August 2024.

There has been no further engagement on the draft since the document was noted by Council in
September 2024.

As the FMP Review commences in mid-2025, Council will continue to update the community on the
status of that project and will engage with the community directly as the data collection and analysis
occurs throughout the latter half of 2025 and into 2026.

The consultant’s brief for the FMP Review requires the successful company to develop a detailed
engagement strategy and, working with our communications team and members of the assets and
infrastructure team, the project is designed in a way that ensures Council hears from the local
community and can keep them informed of the issues and opportunities that arise from a study of
this nature.

In September 2024, Council noted the draft Implementation Plan, and it is proposed that the status
of the Actions (Attachment 1) will be made available to community via the Council website.

FINANCIAL& RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

Where possible, officers have addressed actions contained in the draft Implementation Plan within
existing resources.

The direct costs arising from the draft independent review include:

e Action 7 — Feature survey: $105,000
e Action 22 — Flap valve/gate valves: $30,000-40,000 (TBC - quotations currently being
sought)

e Moving forward, Council has received $300,000 in funding from the Victorian Government
which is being managed by the North Central Catchment Management Authority to complete
the Carisbrook Flood Management Plan Review and Update.

RISK MANAGEMENT
This report addresses Council’s strategic risk:

Property and Assets - Failure to maintain, renew and expand our assets in a timely and robust way,
which considers service and delivery needs by investing in and improving Council’s flood
management infrastructure (the Carisbrook levee), and by working with our partners in the CMA to
commission professional advice on how best to manage floodwaters in and around Carisbrook into
the future.

CONCLUSION

Having commissioned multiple studies, each supported by specific community and stakeholder
reference groups, Council has shown a strong commitment to listening to the concerns of the local
community over the years and working with its State and regional partners to maintain and
preserve the safety of the local community, in addition to protecting private and public assets.

By obtaining independent advice and acting as appropriate, Council has shown a willingness to act
with short and long-term priorities in mind.
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To this end, Council will shortly appoint a consultant to develop the Carisbrook Flood Management
Plan Review and Update which will address almost half of the actions in the draft implementation
plan presented to Council in September 2024.

Of the remaining actions contained in the draft Implementation Plan, thirteen of the seventeen
actions that are either complete or underway, while two of the remaining four actions have a
dependency on another action that has precluded any progress.

It is proposed that the community is informed of progress on the draft Implementation Plan via an
update on Council’'s website and that any enquiries or feedback received are referred to the relevant
officer or the Carisbrook Flood Management Plan Review and Update where appropriate.

ATTACHMENTS
1. Draft implementation plan - actions update [7.1.1]
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CARISBROOK INDEPENDENT LEVEE REVIEW

Implementation Plan

Action

Report

Partnership

No. Page No. Action Ty Timing Status as of May 25
1 13 Undertake internal flood study. Council NCCMA |6 + months Referred to Carlsbro:ﬁ(\/if(l:v(;d management plan
2 2 Undertake freeboard analysis on the Western and Southern Levees and along Council NCCMA 6 + months Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
Bucknall Street and Pyrenees Highway. review
Engage licensed surveyor to put every Levee Crest Design Level along with
every Levee Crest as-built level along with the Design Flood Levels (sampled at
every metre) onto a long section (in a spreadsheet) to locate all points / sections .
3 80,50 where there is less than the required 300mm freeboard. Council NIL <3 months Complete
Engage licensed surveyor to determine if the levee bank across the racecourse
needs to be extended as designed.
Engage licensed surveyor to undertake a detailed RTK survey of the entire site Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
4 30 (cemetery, road, levee, culverts and bluestone drain down to creek) so that water| Council NCCMA 6 + months review 9 P
flows can be more precisely determined.
Re-run the MIKE FLOOD Model for ALL100 AEP storm durations to confirm (or Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
5 31 otherwise) the maximum water level against the Western Levee Bank has been Council NCCMA |6 + months . 9 p
) . review
found and the Design Levee Crest Level is correct.
For the Critical Design Storm MIKE FLOOD Model run, run an additional scenario|
6 21 with up to (say) ten culverts under the Pyrenees Highway (no.tl.ng that there is a Council neeMA |6 + months Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
house to the northwest of the culvert outlet). Include any additional culverts review
needed underneath the railway line also.
Engage licensed surveyor to ensure all State Survey Marks (SSM’s) used to set
7 50 out the levee bank have a separate Precise Traverse Survey to assess the Council NIL < 3 months Complete
accuracy (or otherwise) between ALL marks.
Engage licensed surveyor to Undertake RTK survey cross-sections, from these
SSM's, across the floodplains at the Racecourse, west of Pleasant Street (at . Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
9 50 5 5 Council NIL 6 + months .
least two cross-sections) and at least three (3) cross sections west of the review
Western Levee south of the Pyrenees Highway and compare to the LIDAR.
10 51 Undgrtake revised model!lng to determine if dams on the downstream side have Council NCCMA 6 + months Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
any impact to levee function. review
1 59 Model the effect of Vegetation Clearing |n.the.creek in the 2019 Flood Model and Council NCCMA 6 + months Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
2022 event to produce a Flood Map showing its effects. review
VTTETT e PrEvIouSTy TECOTTTIETTUST TETTOUETTY TS UMTUSTTaRETT, & TUU AT TTTOUET
run should be undertaken assuming a “Very Wet” Initial Loss value to determine Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
12 72 what effect this has on flood levels at Carisbrook. The Initial Loss value used is Council NCCMA 6 + months review 9 P
to be determined by the Reference Group based on local knowledge of the
13 73 .Cou.ncﬂ.to obtain new LIDAR and re-run the Flood Model, |ncl.ud||j19 the Council NCCMA GEimonths Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
implications of Climate. Change using the new draft ARR Guidelines. review
14 42 Review the design of the cutting through the railway line near the intersection of Council TBC 6 + months Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
Pleasant Street and High Street. review
. L . L . NCCMA, DTP
15 24 Upon completing freeboard analysis, investigate raising the freeboard in all areas Council (where 6 + months Yet to commence
that are below 300mm. .
required)
Raise the crest level of all identified locations in the report where the freeboard is Rllgand
16 30 P Council | VicTrack (for | < 3 months Yet to commence
less than 300mm based on survey.
some areas)
17 32 Ren_wove, plug or fit a gate valve that is to be kept always locked on pipes through Council NIL <3 months Complete
chainages 450 and 1,000.
18 42 Con_stru_ct rock beaching at all locations in “low flow” channel that have a change Council NIL 2B EEihS Complete
of direction
19 60 Negotlate_ v«_nth Dep_artmenl of Transport_and P_Ianmng (DTP) for the ﬂttung ofa Council DTP <6 months Yet to commence
lockable lifting device or replacement with sluice gate valves (Landrigan Road).
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CARISBROOK INDEPENDENT LEVEE REVIEW

Implementation Plan

Action

Report

Partnership

No. Page No. Action Lead Ty Timing Status as of May 25

20 60 Investigate the construc_tlon ofa pern?anent pump station or easily deployable Council DTP 26 il e
temporary pump (Landrigan Road) with DTP.

21 65 Investigate con.structlng temporary levee around .cemetery and thgn conduct Council NCCMA <3 months Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
updated modelling through flood study to determine actual conditions. review

22 67 Install (under Pyrenee§ nghway)_ Flap Valves or (preferably) Gate Valves fitted Council TBC < 3 months Underway
or Plugs to be placed in them during a flood event.

23 21 .ReVI.eW and confirm th‘at the lupdated 2.024 Flood Emgrgency Plan includes flood Council TBC < 3 months Complete
intelligence and other items in Appendix C1 of report is included.

2 24,42, 43, Devel9p |mmeqlate-term inspection and maintenance program to ensure the Council TBC < 3 months Unaenvay

47,51 |levee is operationally ready.
25 24,42, 43, Reylew and finalise Levee Management Plan WhIC.h details inspection and Council TBC <6 months Underway
47, 51, 62 [maintenance program and includes recommendations from report.
24, 30, 34, . P : .

26 42 47 Update Levee Management Plan when any additional construction is undertaken.] Council TBC Ongoing Underway

27 51 Conflrm all culverts qnd/or as;ets where another agency is the re§pon5|ble Council TBC < 3 months Complete
authority and determine clearing regime to ensure levee is operationally ready.

28 51 Based on .results of modelling regard.lng impact of dams on downstream side, Council TBC B4 IS Referred to Carisbrook flood management plan
engage with landowners where required. review

20 Develop |mmed|at§-tgrm creek clearing program (for items which do not require Council TBC < 3 months Underway
other agency permissions)
Based on modelling to determine creek clearing impact, engage with NCCMA, .

30 DEECA and Dja Dja Wurrung on developing longer term and ongoing creek Council TBC 6 + months IReifemiee Ca”Sbrol?:vifL?d EREERIEAL FE
clearing program.

31 Investigate funding opportunities to install Flood Cache in Carisbrook Council TBC < 3 months Complete

32 49 ggﬁte all reference to there being a Levee at Wills Street in Levee Management Council TBC < 3 months Underway

33 49 Updatg Asset Register to include digitised centreline of Levee and include in Council TBC < 3 months Complete
Council GIS

34 50 :jfi‘il;es;n/ey finds it is appropriate, extend levee bank across racecourse as Council TBC B4 METhS Referred to Carlsbrol?ek\/if;ovrv)d management plan
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7.2 Draft Revenue and Rating Plan 2025-2029
Author: Manager Finance
Responsible Officer: Acting General Manager Corporate Performance

The Officer presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff, reports
that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this report.

SUMMARY/PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to present the Revenue and Rating Plan 2025 — 2029 to
Council for adoption.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council having invited and considered written submissions on its Revenue and Rating

Plan 2025 - 2029, adopts its Revenue and Rating Plan 2025-2029 provided as Attachment 1
to this report, in accordance with Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2020.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONTEXT
Central Goldfields Shire Council’s Council Plan 2021-2025:

The Community’s vision: Leading Change
4. Effective and sustainable financial management.

Initiative: Review budget and financial reporting processes to
improve monitoring of financial performance.
BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Under s. 93 of the Local Government Act 2020, all councils are required to prepare and adopt a
Revenue and Rating Plan covering a minimum period of four financial years by the next 30 June
following each Council election.

In accordance with the Integrated Strategic Planning and Reporting Framework, the Revenue and
Rating Plan provides a medium-term plan outlining how Council will generate income to deliver on
the Council Plan, programs and services as well as the capital works commitments over the 4-year
period. The Plan defines Council’s revenue and rating mix to meet the cost of delivering services to
the community and should further incorporate consideration of the following factors:

e how revenue will be generated through rates on properties and other sources;

e review of fees and charges for services and programs, including cost recovery policies;

e evaluation of the use of a municipal charge;

e assessment of recurrent and non-recurrent government grants;

e review of the differential classes, their definitions, and objectives;

e evaluation of hardship policies, including the granting of concessions, rebates, and rates
Deferment; and

e exploration of entrepreneurial, business, or collaborative activities to deliver programs or

services and generate income or reduce costs.
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In preparing the plan, officers also developed or reviewed the following policies which underpin the
Revenue and Rating Plan, and which were previously adopted by Council:

¢ Financial Hardship Policy (adopted by Council on 27 July 2021); and
e Investment Policy (adopted by Council 24 April 2007 - Reviewed on 28 Nov 2015).

DISCUSSION

Under Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2020, Council is required to prepare Revenue
and Rating Plan for a period of four (4) years, to commence on the 30 June the year following a
general election.

The review of the Revenue and Rating Plan has been based on the current Revenue and Rating
Plan 2021 — 2025, previously adopted by the Council on 26 July 2022.

The Plan sets out the details of the policies the Council has in place for each source of revenue,
including the system of rates and charges to be adopted by the Council for the purpose of
distributing the rates burden across the municipality on a fair and equitable basis.
The key policies in the Revenue and Rating Plan 2025 — 2029 include:
e Use of the capital improved value system of valuation.
e Seven (7) differential rates with the level of rate applicable to each class as follows:
Residential — Maryborough (100% of the general rate);
Residential — Other (90% of the general rate);
Vacant Land (127% of the general rate);
Commercial - Maryborough (160% of the general rate);
Commercial — Other (135% of the general rate);
Industrial (106% of the general rate); and
Farm (80% of the general rate).
e Municipal charge levied at $202.00.
e Service rates and charges levied for kerbside garbage and recycling at full cost recovery.
o Rates payable by quarterly instalments or as a yearly lump sum in February.

¢ Rates and concessions offered in accordance with legislation, including the state
government funded pensioner rebate scheme.

o Deferment and/or waivers of rates and charges in cases of demonstrable financial hardship
for specified property classes.

e The Fire Services Property Levy to be replaced by the Emergency Services and Volunteers
Fund Levy.

¢ Benchmarking of non-statutory fees and charges, including subsidised fees and charges.

CONSULTATION/COMMUNICATION

In accordance with Council’'s Community Engagement Policy, community engagement was
undertaken from 1 May 2025 to 22 May 2025.

Only one submitter made comments on the draft Revenue and Rating Plan 2025-2029, and that
person also spoke in support of his submission at the Hearing of Council held on 4 June 2025.

A record of the proceeding is provided as Attachment 2.
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FINANCIAL & RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

The Revenue and rating Plan outlines the assumptions, policy, and decisions of Council in relation
to generating the required income to effectively support the implementation of the Council Plan and
budget for a four-year period.

RISK MANAGEMENT

This report addresses Council’s strategic risk:

Financial sustainability - Failure to maintain our long-term financial sustainability.

All financial implications have been considered within the Revenue and Rating Plan.

CONCLUSION

Having undertaken a 3 week period of community consultation, in reliance of Council’'s Community
Engagement Policy, it is considered appropriate that Council now give favourable consideration to
the adoption of its Revenue and Rating Plan 2025-2029.

ATTACHMENTS

1.  CGSC Revenue and Rating Plan 2025-2029 [7.2.1]
2. Hearing of Council Minutes 40625 (4) [7.2.2]
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Central Goldfields Shire Council
Revenue and Rating Plan 2025 - 2029
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1.0 Purpose

The Local Government Act 2020 requires each council to prepare a Revenue and Rating Plan to cover
a minimum period of four years following each Council election. The Revenue and Rating Plan
establishes the revenue raising framework within which the Council proposes to work.

The purpose of the Revenue and Rating Plan is to determine the most appropriate and affordable
revenue and rating approach for Goldfields Shire Council which in conjunction with other income
sources will adequately finance the objectives in the Council Plan.

This plan is an important part of Council’s integrated planning framework, all of which is created to
help Council achieve its vision of an engaged and responsible community.

| Central Goldfields Community Vision

10 Year Plans : - .
| Asset Plan | Financial Plan
L. AN 4
council Municipal Public
Plan Health and Municipal Planning Strategy
Wellbeing Plan
4 Year Plans L J J
[ d d
Budget Revgnue an Workforce Plan
1+ 3years Rating Plan
. . .
' ™ R =
A (Pla Annual Annual Major Business/Service
AL = Action Plan Budget Initiatives Planning
e "
Business/Service Annual Palicy Performance
Planning Renort & Strategy Maonitoring and
and Review P Review Reporting

Strategies outlined in this plan align with the objectives contained in the Council Plan and will feed
into the budgeting and long-term financial planning documents, as well as other strategic planning
documents under Council’s strategic planning framework.

This plan will explain how Council calculates the revenue needed to fund its activities, and how the
funding burden will be apportioned between ratepayers and other users of Council facilities and
services.

The plan sets out decisions that Council has made in relation to rating options available to it under the
Local Government Act 2020 to ensure the fair and equitable distribution of rates across property
owners. It will also set out principles that are used in decision making for other revenue sources such
as fees and charges.

It is also important to note that this plan does not set revenue targets for Council. Instead, it outlines
the strategic framework and decisions that inform how Council will go about calculating and collecting
its revenue.

Page 3|24

70 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

2.0 Introduction

Council provides a range of services and facilities to our local community, and in doing so, must collect
revenue to cover the cost of providing these services and facilities.

Council’s revenue sources include:

e Rates and Charges

e Grants from other levels of Government

e Statutory Fees and Fines

e User Fees

e Cash and non-cash contributions from other parties (ie developers, community groups)
e Interest from investments

e Sale of Assets

2025/26
Total
o Budget
5%

2%

"\

39%

14%

13%

0% 0%
= Rates and Service Charges = Waste Charges Interest on Rates
Contributions - monetary = Grants - capital = Grants - Operating
m Other Income m Statutory fees and fines  m User Charges

Property rates (rates) are Council’s single biggest income source, representing 39% of income in the
2025-2026 budget. Council’s revenue and rating plan articulates to the community how the total rate
revenue to be raised is allocated between individual ratepayers.

The introduction of rate capping under the Victorian Government’s Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) has
brought a renewed focus to Council’s long-term financial sustainability. The FGRS continues to restrict
Council’s ability to raise revenue above the rate cap unless application is made to the Essential Services
Commission for a variation. Maintaining service delivery levels and investing in the renewal of
community assets remain key priorities for Council. This plan will address Council’s reliance on rate
income and provide options to actively reduce that reliance.

Council provides a wide range of services to the community, often for a fee or charge. The nature of
these fees and charges generally depends on whether they relate to statutory or discretionary
services. Some of these, such as statutory planning fees are set by State Government statute and are
commonly known as regulatory fees. In these cases, councils usually have no control over service
pricing. However, in relation to other services, Council can set a fee or charge and will set that fee
based on the principles outlined in this Revenue and Rating Plan.
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3.0 Community Engagement

The Revenue and Rating Plan outlines Council’s decision-making process on how revenues are
calculated and collected. The following public consultation process will be followed to ensure due
consideration and feedback is received from relevant stakeholders.

The Revenue and Rating Plan community engagement process will include:
e Review of the Revenue and Rating Plan.

e Draft Revenue and Rating Plan placed on public exhibition at (April) Council meeting for a
period of 21 days.

e Community engagement (May) through local news outlets, social media and councils
website.

e Hearing of public submissions (May).

e Council Meeting to be held (June) to adopt the Revenue and Rating Plan.

4.0 Rates and Charges

Rates are property taxes that allow Council to raise revenue to fund essential public services to cater
to their municipal population. Importantly, it is a taxation system that includes flexibility for councils
to utilise different tools in its rating structure to accommodate issues of equity and to ensure fairness
in rating for all ratepayers.

Council has established a rating structure comprised of three key elements. These are:

e General Rates — Based on property values (using the Capital Improved Valuation
methodology), which are indicative of capacity to pay and form the central basis of rating
under the Local Government Act 1989.

e Service Charges - A ‘user pays’ component for council services to reflect benefits provided by
Council to ratepayers who benefit from a service.

e Municipal Charge - A ‘fixed rate’ portion per property to cover some of the administrative
costs of Council.

Striking a proper balance between these elements will help to improve equity in the distribution of
the rate burden across residents.

Council makes a further distinction when applying general rates by applying rating differentials based
on the purpose for which the property is used. That is, whether the property is used for residential,
commercial, or farming purposes. This distinction is based on the concept that different property
categories should pay a fair and equitable contribution, considering the benefits those properties
derive from the local community.

Central Goldfields Shire Councils rating structure comprises five categories of rates (residential, rural
residential, vacant, commercial, and farmland) and currently applies two additional “
differentials to residential and commercial properties. These rates are structured in accordance with
the requirements of Section 161 ‘Differential Rates’ of the Local Government Act 1989, and the
Ministerial Guidelines for Differential Rating 2013. The differential rates are discussed in more detail
later in this document.

other”
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Council also levies a municipal charge. The municipal charge is a minimum rate per property and
declared for the purpose of covering some of the administrative costs of Council. In applying the
municipal charge, Council ensures that each rateable property in the municipality makes a
contribution.

The formula for calculating General Rates, excluding any additional charges, arrears or additional
supplementary rates is:

e Valuation (Capital Improved Value) x Rate in the Dollar (Differential Rate Type)
The rate in the dollar for each rating differential category is included in Council’s annual budget.

Rates and charges are an important source of revenue, accounting for 39% of operating revenue
received by Council. The collection of rates is an important factor in funding Council services.

Planning for future rate increases is therefore an essential component of the long-term financial
planning process and plays a significant role in funding both additional service delivery and the
increasing costs related to providing Council services.

Council is aware of the balance between rate revenue (as an important income source) and
community sensitivity to rate increases. With the introduction of the State Government’s Fair Go Rates
System, all rate increases are capped to a rate declared by the Minister for Local Government, which
is announced in December for the following financial year.

Council currently utilises a service charge to fully recover the cost of Council’s waste services and
provide for future landfill rehabilitation costs. The waste management service charge is not capped
under the Fair Go Rates System, and Council will need to ensure that revenue from this charge is
applied to appropriate costs associated with providing the service.

Council’s revenue and rating plan considers the fair and equitable share of rates to be paid by the
owner of each type of property (residential, farm, commercial, industrial and vacant land).

4.1 Rating Legislation

The legislative framework set out in the Local Government Act 1989 determines Council’s ability to
develop a rating system. The framework provides significant flexibility for Council to tailor a system
that suits its needs.

Section 155 of the Local Government Act 1989 provides that a Council may declare the following rates
and charges on rateable land:

e General rates under Section 158

e Municipal charges under Section 159

e Service rates and charges under Section 162
e Special rates and charges under Section 163

The recommended strategy in relation to municipal charges, service rates and charges and special
rates and charges are discussed later in this document.

In raising Council rates, Council is required to primarily use the valuation of the rateable property to
levy rates. Section 157 (1) of the Local Government Act 1989 provides Council with three choices in
terms of which valuation base to utilise. They are: Site Valuation (SV), Capital Improved Valuation (CIV)
and Net Annual Value (NAV).
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The advantages and disadvantages of the respective valuation basis are discussed further in this
document. Whilst this document outlines Council’s strategy regarding rates revenue, rates data will
be contained in the Council’s Annual Budget as required by the Local Government Act 2020.

Section 94(2) of the Local Government Act 2020 states that Council must adopt a budget by 30 June
each year (or at another time fixed by the Minister) to include:

a) the total amount that the Council intends to raise by rates and charges.

b) astatement as to whether the rates will be raised by the application of a uniform rate or a
differential rate.

c) adescription of any fixed component of the rates, if applicable.

d) if the Council proposes to declare a uniform rate, the matters specified in section 160 of the
Local Government Act 1989.

e) if the Council proposes to declare a differential rate for any land, the matters specified in
section 161(2) of the Local Government Act 1989.

Section 94(3) of the Local Government Act 2020 also states that Council must ensure that, if
applicable, the budget also contains a statement —

a) thatthe Council intends to apply for a special order to increase the Council’s average rate
cap for the financial year or any other financial year; or

b) that the Council has made an application to the Essential Services Commission for a special
order and is waiting for the outcome of the application; or

c) thata special Order has been made in respect of the Council and specifying the average rate
cap that applies for the financial year or any other financial year.

This plan outlines the principles and strategic framework that Council will utilise in calculating and
distributing the rating burden to property owners, however, the quantum of rate revenue and rating
differential amounts will be determined in the annual Central Goldfields Shire Council budget.

The Victorian Government has passed the Local Government Legislation Amendment (Rating and
Other Matters) Act 2022 (Act), making a number of amendments including a particular focus on
ratepayers experiencing hardship and improving the way rates are collected. This change has
amended both the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2020.

Some of the key changes are:

a) service rates and charges: Waste charges were previously limited to the collection and
disposal of refuse. The Act updates the description of waste charges to include all modern
waste management activities such as collection, transport, processing, storage and treatment
of waste and recyclable material.

b) rebates and concessions: The previous arrangements for rate rebates and concessions were
confined to the preservation of buildings and the environment, the Act recommends a new,
contemporary public benefit test for councils to offer rate rebates and concessions for land
uses that provide a public benefit to the community.

c) hardship and payment plans: The alternative means of paying rates via a payment plan has
been formalised in the Act which ensures consistent application across all councils. The Act
supports people who are struggling to pay their debt and limits the use of court proceedings
for recovering unpaid rates in situations where rates or charges have not been paid for two
years or more. It also requires interest rate on unpaid rates to be set by the Minister of Local
Government instead of being levied pursuant to Penalty Interest Rate Act 1983.
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d) Special rates and charges: The Act requires Councils to levy special rates and charges within
12 months of declaring such a scheme, otherwise the scheme itself lapses.

4.2 Revenue and Rating Principles

The Local Government Victoria Revenue and Rating Strategy Better Practice Guide sets out the
following seven revenue and rating principles.

Wealth tax principle

Wealth can be defined as the total value reflected in property and investments and income directed
to day-to-day living. Local government is limited to taxing one component of wealth — real property.
Council rates tax the stored “wealth” or unrealised capital gains inherent in land and buildings.

The “wealth tax” principle implies that the rates paid are dependent upon the value of a ratepayer’s
real property and have no correlation to the individual ratepayer’s consumption of services or the
perceived benefits derived by individual ratepayers from the expenditures funded from rates.

One issue associated with the application of the wealth tax principle to property rating is that it takes
no account of an individual ratepayer’s net financial equity in a property. Thus, the owner of a house
with a valuation of $300,000 and a $240,000 mortgage on that property pays the same rates as the
owner of a house with a valuation of $300,000 with no mortgage, despite only having 20% of the net
equity (wealth) in that property.

This is an inherent shortcoming of the property rating system, in that it taxes the gross “wealth”
embedded in a property, even when the bulk of that “wealth” may not be owned by the property
owner (ie the majority of the “wealth” is owned by the mortgagee, which in most cases is a bank). In
effect, property rates are a tax on controlled wealth, as opposed to wealth measured by financial
equity in a property.

Equity

Equity is a subjective concept that is difficult to define. What is considered fair for one person may be
considered unfair for another. There are two main equity concepts used to guide the development of
rating strategies (and taxation more generally):

Horizontal equity — ratepayers in similar situations should pay similar amounts (ensured
mainly by accurate property valuations, undertaken in a consistent manner, their classification
into homogenous property classes and the right of appeal against valuation).

Vertical equity —those who are better off should pay more than those worse off (this rationale
applies for the use of progressive and proportional income taxation. It implies a “relativity”
dimension to the fairness of the tax burden).

Rates are essentially a wealth tax, determined on the value of property. A pure “wealth tax” approach
implies that the rates paid relate directly to the value of a ratepayer’s real property. The tests of
horizontal and vertical equity are solely based on a property’s value. There is frequent debate
surrounding the characteristics of property owners that may impinge on the application of an equity
principle. The three main ways in which positions can vary are:
o the benefit or user pays principle — some ratepayers have easier access to, make more use of,
or benefit more from the Council services paid for by rates
e the capacity to pay principle — some ratepayers have more ability to pay rates than do others
with similarly valued properties
e the incentive or encouragement principle — some ratepayers may be doing more towards
achieving Council goals than others (for example, in areas such as employment creation and
environmental or heritage protection).
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Efficiency

Economic efficiency is measured by the extent to which production and consumption decisions by
people are affected by a tax. Setting aside taxes explicitly intended to change behaviour (such as high
taxes on cigarettes), a perfectly efficient tax would be one, which did not distort behaviour. Of course,
there is no such tax — all taxes affect behaviour to some extent. However, economic efficiency in
revenue collection is maximised when the degree of this distortion is minimised.

Price is the major mechanism through which taxation efficiency may be achieved and for services
where users are price sensitive, direct charging can influence demand and thus lead to greater
efficiency. Conversely, the funding of services through rates (or via subsidies from other services) may
result in an inflated demand for services and additional costs for Councils to meet this demand. As a
result, a mix of user charges and rates revenue funds a variety of Council services.

The efficiency of a tax is also related to the cost of administration. Administration costs include the
issuing of assessments, collection of rates (including maintaining and improving collection systems),
monitoring outcomes, educating and informing ratepayers, and enforcement and debt recovery.

Simplicity
The taxation principle of simplicity revolves around how easily a system can be understood by the
public, and in particular ratepayers. This can conflict with the principles of equity and efficiency.

A simple rating scheme would have a limited number of rating classifications, even using a uniform
rate. Other features of a simple rating scheme may be practicality and ease of administration. Rates
in general are quite simple to administer in that they rely on a clear information source (property
values) and they place a levy on something that is impossible to conceal (land). Public understanding
is another consideration for a Council in striving for simplicity. A simple system should be easier for
the public to understand as should the explanation of it by a Council.

The efficacy of using rates to provide incentive or encouragement for ratepayers to act in a certain
way to achieve corporate goals (e.g. environmental) should be evaluated critically against other
approaches in terms of likely effectiveness.

Benefit principle

A popular complaint levelled at Councils is that “the rates | pay have no correlation with the services |
consume or the benefits | receive”. This argument is based on the benefit principle (the opposite of
the wealth tax principle) that argues there should be a clear nexus between consumption/benefit and
the rate burden. A user pays system is closely reflective of the benefit principle.

Application of the benefit principle to rates is difficult in practice because of the impossibility of
measuring the relative levels of access and consumption across the full range of Council services.
While it might be quite obvious that certain geographic areas may not get access to specific services,
for example street lighting, it is the level of benefit across the full range of rates-funded services that
is important in determining the amount of rates that should be paid. This exercise is not clear cut —
for example, it might be argued that rural ratepayers derive less benefit from library services than
their town counterparts, but the reverse argument can apply to the costs of repairing gravel roads in
rural areas which are predominantly used by rural ratepayers.

In some ways the arguing of the benefit principle with respect to Council rates is like trying to do the
same for Commonwealth income tax that is used to fund a wide range of universally accessed services.

The benefits received principle applies to many tax systems, for example stamp duty paid on the
purchase of a motor vehicle. However, it is difficult to rationalise a relationship between rates paid
and services provided by local government. It is even more tenuous when attempting to draw a

9|24

76 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

relationship with rates against services actually used by ratepayers, of which there is little research or
evidence to support a proportional connection.

The analysis of benefit is often reduced to arguments of what services are consumed by town v.
country, businesses v. residences and between different towns and suburbs. Such a simplistic
determination of rates based on where services are located ignores the facts that:
e many services are not location specific
e access is not synonymous with consumption
e residents can travel or use technology to access some services
e more significantly, services provided in different locations within a municipality have different
costs. For example, the actual cost of providing the same or a lesser level of service to a more
remote or less central location may be higher due to dis-economies of scale or logistical
reasons.

Capacity to pay

The capacity to pay principle stands in contrast to the benefits received principle. Its measurability
may be either determined by wealth or income. In the case of local government rating, it is determined
on the value of property which reflects wealth, rather than the actual income of the ratepayer. It is
acknowledged that over the lifetime of a taxpayer, the relativity between income and wealth may vary
significantly.

Councils may decide that capacity to pay is fundamentally reflected by property value or that the
application of the wealth tax and benefit principles should be moderated for groups of ratepayers
because of capacity to pay considerations.

As rates are levied on unrealised wealth in the form of property, their nexus with ratepayers’ capacity
to pay may be tenuous — ratepayers may be “asset rich” but “cash poor” or vice versa.

It is an inherent restriction of property taxation that it does not recognise the situation where
ratepayers are “asset rich” and “cash poor”. In these cases, ratepayers may be assessed as having
considerable wealth reflected in the property that they own, buy have a low level of cash income.
Examples may include pensioners, businesses facing cyclical downturn, households with large families,
single parent families, property owners with little equity in their property and farmers dealing with
climate variability.

The use of differential rating categories is a blunt tool that is available to Councils in order to attempt
to address the capacity to pay issue to some degree.

Diversity

There is no way of getting around the fact that despite the “likeness” of members of property classes,
there will also be considerable diversity within each class. There is considerable diversity in the
economic circumstances of households related to household income, the number of breadwinners
and members, expenditure patterns and debt levels.

Similarly, enormous business diversity exists — businesses range from small businesses with owner
operators and few employees to corporations employing many thousands of people. They may take a
variety of forms — sole operators, companies, partnerships, cooperatives and trusts. Production may
cover a diverse range of goods and services for local, national or overseas markets. They may vary
considerably in terms of turnover, net worth, profitability and gearing — just to name a few
characteristics. Businesses may be “price takers” with little market power or “price makers” operating
in oligopolistic markets.
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The taxation effect of property rates for income tax purposes is another point of diversity that
challenges the equity principles of property rating. Businesses that occupy commercial, industrial or
farm properties are able to claim property rates as an income tax expense. This allows businesses to
pay property rates in after-tax dollars, as opposed to private non-business people who have to pay
property rates in pre-tax dollars. There is a line of thought that incorporating the income taxation
effect of property rates into the setting of differential rating category relativities would improve the
overall equity of property rating systems.

Council rate setting for different groups may need to have regard to the general capacity of those
classes of property to pay rates. There are practical limits to the extent that classes may be
differentiated because of impacts on efficiency and simplicity — and the broader a property class, the
more general are the assumptions about capacity to pay. Clearly, there is an issue of how well the
assumptions made about a large class of ratepayers accurately reflect the circumstances of most of
its members. The rating challenge for Council therefore is to determine the appropriate balancing of
competing considerations.

Rates and Charges Revenue Principles:

Property rates will:
e be reviewed annually;
e not change dramatically from one year to next; and
e be sufficient to fund current expenditure commitments and deliverables outlined in the
Council Plan, Financial Plan and Asset Plan.

Differential rating should be applied as equitably as is practical and will comply with the Ministerial
Guidelines for Differential Rating 2013.

4.3 Determining Which Valuation Base To Use

Under the Local Government Act 1989, Council has three options as to the valuation base it elects to
use. They are:

e Capital Improved Value (CIV) — Value of land and improvements upon the land.
e Site Value (SV) — Value of land only.
e Net Annual Value (NAV) — Rental valuation based on CIV.

For residential and farm properties, NAV is calculated at 5 per cent of the Capital Improved Value. For
commercial and industrial properties, NAV is calculated as the greater of the estimated annual rental
value or 5 per cent of the CIV.

Capital Improved Value (CIV)

Capital Improved Value is the most commonly used valuation base by local government with over 90%
of Victorian councils applying this methodology. Based on the value of both land and all improvements
on the land, it is generally easily understood by ratepayers as it equates to the market value of the
property.

Section 161 of the Local Government Act 1989 provides that a Council may raise any general rates by
the application of a differential rate if —

a) It uses the capital improved value system of valuing land; and
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b) It considers that a differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out
of its functions.

Where a council does not utilise CIV, it may only apply limited differential rates in relation to farm land
or residential use land.

Advantages of using CIV

e ClVincludes all property improvements and hence is often supported on the basis that it more
closely reflects “capacity to pay”. The CIV rating method takes into account the full
development value of the property, and hence better meets the equity criteria than SV or
NAV.

e With the increased frequency of valuations (previously two-year intervals, now annual
intervals) the market values are more predictable and has reduced the level of objections
resulting from valuations.

e The concept of the market value of property is more easily understood with CIV rather than
NAV or SV.

e Most councils in Victoria have now adopted CIV which makes it easier to compare relative
movements in rates and valuations across councils.

e The use of CIV allows council to apply differential rates which greatly adds to council’s ability
to equitably distribute the rating burden based on ability to afford council rates. CIV allows
council to apply higher rating differentials to the commercial and industrial sector that offset
residential rates.

Disadvantages of using CIV

The main disadvantage with CIV is the fact that rates are based on the total property value which may
not necessarily reflect the income level of the property owner as with pensioners and low-income
earners.

Site value (SV)

There are currently no Victorian councils that use this valuation base. With valuations based simply
on the valuation of land and with only very limited ability to apply differential rates, the
implementation of Site Value would cause a shift in rate burden from the commercial sectors onto the
residential sector and would hinder Council’s objective of a fair and equitable rating system.

There would be further rating movements away from modern townhouse style developments on
relatively small land parcels to older established homes on quarter acre residential blocks. In many
ways, it is difficult to see an equity argument being served by the implementation of site valuation in
Central Goldfields Shire.

Advantages of Site Value

e There is a perception that under site value, a uniform rate would promote development of
land, particularly commercial and industrial developments. There is, however, little evidence
to prove that this is the case.

e Scope for possible concessions for farmland and residential use land.
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Disadvantages of using Site Value.

e Under SV, there will be a significant shift from the commercial sector onto the residential
sector of the Shire. The percentage increases in many cases would be in the extreme range.

e SVis amajor burden on property owners that have large areas of land. Some of these owners
may have much smaller/older dwellings compared to those who have smaller land areas but
well-developed dwellings - but will pay more in rates. A typical example is flats, units, or
townhouses which will all pay low rates compared to traditional housing styles.

e The use of SV can place pressure on Council to give concessions to categories of landowners
on whom the rating burden is seen to fall disproportionately (eg. Farmland and residential use
properties). Large landowners, such as farmers for example, are disadvantaged using site
value.

e SV will reduce Council’s rating flexibility and options to deal with any rating inequities due to
the removal of the ability to levy differential rates.

e The community may have greater difficulty in understanding the SV valuation on their rate
notices, as indicated by many inquiries from ratepayers on this issue handled by council’s
customer service and property revenue staff each year.

Net annual value (NAV)

NAV, in concept, represents the annual rental value of a property. However, in practice, NAV is loosely
linked to capital improved value for residential and farm properties. Valuers derive the NAV directly
as 5 per cent of CIV.

In contrast to the treatment of residential and farm properties, NAV for commercial and industrial
properties are assessed with regard to actual market rental. This differing treatment of commercial
versus residential and farm properties has led to some suggestions that all properties should be valued
on a rental basis.

Overall, the use of NAV is not largely supported. For residential and farm ratepayers, actual rental
values pose some problems. The artificial rental estimate used may not represent actual market value,
and means the base is the same as CIV but is harder to understand.

Recommended valuation base

In choosing a valuation base, councils must decide on whether they wish to adopt a differential rating
system (different rates in the dollar for different property categories) or a uniform rating system (same
rate in the dollar). If a council was to choose the former, under the Local Government Act 1989 it must
adopt either of the CIV or NAV methods of rating.

Central Goldfields Council applies Capital Improved Value (CIV) to all properties within the
municipality to take into account the fully developed value of the property. This basis of valuation

takes into account the total market value of the land plus buildings and other improvements.

Differential rating allows (under the CIV method) Council to shift part of the rate burden from some
groups of ratepayers to others, through different “rates in the dollar” for each class of property.
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Section 161(1) of the Local Government Act 1989 outlines the requirements relating to differential

rates, which include:

a) A Council may raise any general rates by the application of a differential rate, if Council
considers that the differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out
of its functions.

b) If a Council declares a differential rate for any land, the Council must specify the objectives
of the differential rate, which must be consistent with the equitable and efficient carrying
out of the Councils functions and must include the following:

i. A definition of the types or classes of land which are subject to the rate and a
statement of the reasons for the use and level of that rate.

ii. An identification of the type or classes of land which are subject to the rate in
respect of the uses, geographic location (other than location on the basis of whether
or not the land is within a specific ward in Council’s district).

iii. Specify the characteristics of the land, which are the criteria for declaring the
differential rate.

Once the Council has declared a differential rate for any land, the Council must:
a) Specify the objectives of the differential rates;
b) Specify the characteristics of the land which are the criteria for declaring the differential rate.

The purpose is to ensure that Council has a sound basis on which to develop the various charging
features when determining its revenue strategies and ensure that these are consistent with the
provisions of the Local Government Act 1989.

The general objectives of each of the differential rates are to ensure that all rateable land makes an
equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out the functions of Council. There is no limit
on the number or types of differential rates that can be levied, but the highest differential rate can be
no more than four times the lowest differential rate.

Property Valuations

The Valuation of Land Act 1960 is the principle legislation in determining property valuations. Under
the Valuation of Land Act 1960, the Victorian Valuer-General conducts property valuations on an
annual basis. Central Goldfields Shire Council applies a Capital Improved Value (CIV) to all properties
within the municipality to take into account the full development value of the property. This basis of
valuation takes into account the total market value of the land including buildings and other
improvements.

The value of land is always derived by the principal of valuing land for its highest and best use at the
relevant time of valuation.

Council needs to be mindful of the impacts of revaluations on the various property types in
implementing the differential rating strategy outlined in the previous section to ensure that rises and

falls in Council rates remain affordable and that rating ‘shocks’ are mitigated to some degree.

Rate shock is defined by Council as the movement (both up or down) in total rates paid by any one
differential rating category in any one year by ten percent (10%) or more.
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The intention of Council is that where rate shock occurs for one or more particular differential rating
category in any particular year, Council will cap the movement in total rates raised for that differential
rating category at 10% by changing the level of the rate in the dollar CIV.

Supplementary Valuations

Supplementary valuations are carried out for a variety of reasons including rezoning, subdivisions,
amalgamations, renovations, new constructions, extensions, occupancy changes and corrections. The
Victorian Valuer-General is tasked with undertaking supplementary valuations and advises Council on
a monthly basis of valuation and Australian Valuation Property Classification Code (AVPCC) changes.

Supplementary valuations bring the value of the affected property into line with the general valuation
of other properties within the municipality. Objections to supplementary valuations can be lodged in
accordance with Part 3 of the Valuation of Land Act 1960. Any objections must be lodged with Council
within two months of the issue of the supplementary rate notice.

Objections to property valuations

Part 3 of the Valuation of Land Act 1960 provides that a property owner may lodge an objection
against the valuation of a property or the Australian Valuation Property Classification Code (AVPCC)
within two months of the issue of the original or amended (supplementary) Rates and Valuation
Charges Notice (Rates Notice), or within four months if the notice was not originally issued to the
occupier of the land.

A property owner must lodge their objection to the valuation or the AVPCC in writing to Council.
Property owners also can object to the site valuations on receipt of their Land Tax Assessment.
Property owners can appeal their land valuation within two months of receipt of their Council Rate
Notice (via Council) or within two months of receipt of their Land Tax Assessment (via the State
Revenue Office)

4.4 Rating Differentials

Council believes each differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of
council functions. Details of the objectives of each differential rate, the classes of land which are
subject to each differential rate and the uses of each differential rate are set out below.

Council’s rating strategy currently has five different land categories but seven differential rating
categories as follows:

e Residential - Maryborough

e Residential - Other

e Vacant Land

e Commercial - Maryborough

e Commercial - Other

e Industrial

e Farm

Residential Maryborough

Meaning that rateable land which has an occupiable dwelling able to be issued with a certificate of
occupancy, is used solely for residential purposes and is situated within the Maryborough District
boundary. To ensure an equitable contribution towards the total rate income, having regard to the
location, use and services available to the land by proximity to the major service centre.
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Residential Other

Meaning that rateable land which has an occupiable dwelling able to be issued with a certificate of
occupancy, is used solely for residential purposes, and is situated outside the Maryborough District
boundary. To ensure an equitable contribution towards the total rate income, having regard to the
location, use and services available to the land where the infrastructure cost and service provision
has been affected by reason of its distance from the major service centre - Maryborough.

Vacant Land

Meaning that rateable land where no occupiable dwelling is erected (an occupiable dwelling has a
Certificate of Occupancy issued). To ensure an equitable contribution towards the total rate income
and encourage the development of vacant land.

Commercial Maryborough

Meaning that rateable land which is used solely for commercial purposes and is situated within the
Maryborough District boundary. To ensure an equitable contribution towards the total rate income
which recognises the objective of maintaining an environment which is beneficial to the continuing
operation of these properties, as well as the use and services available to the land.

Commercial Other

Meaning that rateable land which is used solely for commercial purposes and is situated outside the
Maryborough District boundary. To ensure an equitable contribution towards the total rate income,
which recognises the objective of maintaining an environment which is beneficial to the continuing
operation of these properties where the cost of infrastructure and commercial opportunity differ from
Maryborough Commercial, as well as the use and services available to the land.

Industrial

Meaning that rateable land which is used solely for industrial purposes. To ensure an equitable
contribution towards the total rate income which recognises the objective of maintaining an
environment which is beneficial to the continuing operation of these properties, reflects the cost of
infrastructure and encourages development.

The difference between commercial and industrial land is mainly one of use. In general, commercial
areas are used for trading goods and services while industrial areas serve as sites of production.
Commercial areas are most valuable when they receive heavy traffic from potential customers.

Farm

Meaning that rateable land, in aggregate, which is not less than 16 hectares (40 acres) in area and
which is used primarily for carrying on one or more of the following businesses or industries:

Grazing (including agistment) dairying, pig farming, poultry, farming, fish farming, tree farming, bee-
keeping, viticulture, horticulture, fruit growing or the growing of crops of any kind.

To ensure an equitable contribution towards the total rate income commensurate with the nature of
the land the capital improved value of which has been affected by reason of its abnormally large area
and the use to which it is put in comparison to the general land size of the majority of rateable
properties within the municipal district.
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Advantages of a differential rating system
The advantages of utilising a differential rating system summarised below are:

e There is greater flexibility to distribute the rate burden between all classes of property and
therefore link rates with the ability to pay and reflecting the tax deductibility of rates for
commercial and industrial premises.

e Differential rating allows Council to better reflect the investment required by Council to
establish infrastructure to meet the needs of the commercial and industrial sector.

e Allows Council to reflect the unique circumstances of some rating categories where the
application of a uniform rate may create an inequitable outcome (e.g. Farming enterprises).

e Allows Council discretion in the imposition of rates to facilitate and encourage appropriate
development of its municipal district in the best interest of the community. (i.e. Vacant
Commercial properties still attract the commercial differential rate)

Disadvantages of a differential rating system
The disadvantages in applying differential rating summarised below are:

e The justification of the differential rate can at times be difficult for the various groups to
accept giving rise to queries and complaints where the differentials may seem to be excessive.

o Differential rates can be confusing to ratepayers, as they may have difficulty understanding
the system. Some rating categories may feel they are unfavourably treated because they are
paying a higher level of rates than other ratepayer groups.

e Differential rating involves a degree of administrative complexity as properties continually
shift from one type to another (e.g. residential to commercial) requiring Council to update its
records. Ensuring the accuracy/integrity of Council’s data base is critical to ensure that
properties are correctly classified into their right category.

e Council may not achieve the objectives it aims for through differential rating. For example,
Council may set its differential rate objectives to levy a higher rate on land not developed,
however it may be difficult to prove whether the rate achieves those objectives.

4.5 Municipal Charge

Another principle relating to options available to Councils is the application of a municipal charge.
Under Section 159 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council may declare a municipal charge to cover
some of the administrative costs of Council. The legislation is not definitive on what comprises
administrative costs and does not require Council to specify what is covered by the charge.

The application of a municipal charge represents a choice to raise a portion of the rates by a flat fee
for all properties, rather than sole use of the CIV valuation method.

Under the Local Government Act 1989, a council’s total revenue from a municipal charge in a financial
year must not exceed 20 per cent of the combined sum total of the Council’s total revenue from the
municipal charge and the revenue from general rates (total rates).

The municipal charge applies equally to all properties and is based upon the recovery of a fixed cost
of providing administrative services irrespective of valuation. The same contribution amount per
assessment to cover a portion of council’s administrative costs can be seen as an equitable method of
recovering these costs.
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4.6 Special charge schemes

The Local Government Act 1989 recognises that councils need help to provide improved infrastructure
for their local communities. Legislation allows councils to pass on the cost of capital infrastructure to
the owner of a property that generally receives a unique benefit from the construction works. The
technical explanation of a Special Charge comes from legislation (under the Local Government Act
1989) that allows councils to recover the cost of works from property owners who will gain special
benefit from that work.

The purposes for which special rates and special charges may be used include road construction, kerb
and channelling, footpath provision, drainage, and other capital improvement projects.

The special rate or special charge may be declared in accordance with Council’s Special Rates and
Charges Policy, which also determines the maximum contribution Council will provide towards
declared projects.

Special rates and charges may be declared on the basis of any criteria specified by the council in the
rate (Section 163 (2)). In accordance with Section 163 (3), Council must specify:

a) the wards, groups, uses or areas for which the special rate or charge is declared; and
b) the land in relation to which the special rate or special charge is declared;

¢) the mannerin which the special rate or special charge will be assessed and levied; and
d) details of the period for which the special rate or special charge remains in force.

The special rates and charges provisions are flexible and can be used to achieve a wide range of
community objectives. The fundamental principle of special rates and charges is proof “special
benefit” applies to those being levied. For example, they could be used to fund co-operative fire
prevention schemes. This would ensure that there were no ‘free-riders’ reaping the benefits but not
contributing to fire prevention.

Landscaping and environmental improvement programs that benefit small or localised areas could
also be funded using special rates or charges.

In recognition of the Local Government Legislation Amendment (Rating and Other Matters) Act 2022,
the declaration of a Special Charge of Special Rate made after 9 August 2022 will expire if the special
rate or special charge is not levied within 12 months of declaring such a scheme.

4.7 Service rates and charges

Section 162 of the Local Government Act 1989 provides council with the opportunity to raise service
rates and charges for any of the following services:

a) The provision of a water supply;

b) The collection and disposal of refuse;
c) The provision of sewage services;

d) Any other prescribed service.

Council currently applies a service charge for the collection and disposal of refuse on urban properties
(compulsory) and rural properties (optional) and providing waste services for the municipality (street
litter bins for instance). Council retains the objective of setting the service charge for waste at a level
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that fully recovers the cost of the waste services, including providing for the cost of rehabilitation of
Council’s closed landfill.

It is recommended that Council retain the existing waste service charge — should Council elect not to
have a waste service charge, this same amount would be required to be raised by way of an increased
general rate — meaning that residents in higher valued properties would substantially pay for the
waste service of lower valued properties.

Whilst this same principle applies for rates in general, the mix of having a single fixed charge combined
with valuation driven rates for the remainder of the rate invoice provides a balanced and equitable
outcome.

The Minister for Local Government on Thursday, 21 December 2023 released the Ministers’ Good
Practice Guidelines for Service Rates and Charges.

These Good Practice Guidelines for Service Rates and Charges are made under Section 87 of the Local
Government Act 2020. They set out what constitutes good practice by councils in the determination
and declaration of Service Rates and Charges under Section 162 of the Local Government Act 1989
and any other matters related to compliance and accountability by councils.

The objective of these Good Practice Guidelines is to ensure that Service Rates and Charges:

e areonly used to recover the reasonable costs of providing a direct service to an occupancy;
e are calculated and declared in a fair and transparent manner; and
e subject to public engagement in accordance with a council’s Community Engagement Policy.

The only specified reasons for councils to raise Service Rates and Charges are:

e Waste, recycling or resource recovery services; and
e Any other service prescribed in regulations.

These Guidelines were originally to take effect from 1 March 2024, but with the appointment of a new
Minister for Local Government, the guidelines are being reviewed. Waste Charges for the 2025/26
financial year will be set as part of the Budget process and will be based on Councils traditional cost
structure.

5.0 Collection and Administration of rates and charges

The purpose of this section is to outline the rate payment options, processes, and the support
provided to ratepayers facing financial hardship.

Payment options

In accordance with section 167(1) of the Local Government Act 1989 ratepayers have the option of
paying rates and charges by way of four instalments. Payments are due on the prescribed dates below:

e 1st Instalment: 30 September
e 2nd Instalment: 30 November
e 3rd Instalment: 28 February

e 4th Instalment: 31 May

e Infull: 15 February
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Council offers a range of payment options including:

e in person at Council offices (cash, cheques, money orders, EFTPOS, and credit/debit cards),

e online via Council’s ratepayer portal, direct debit (on prescribed instalment due dates or
weekly, fortnightly, monthly, yearly in full),

e BPAY,

e Centrepay

e by mail (cheques and money orders only),

e by phone (automated phone banking or with Council’s customer service team).

Interest on arrears and overdue rates

Interest is charged on all overdue rates in accordance with Section 172 of the Local Government Act
1989. The interest rate applied is fixed under Section 2 of the Penalty Interest Rates Act 1983, which
is determined by the Minister and published by notice in the Government Gazette.

Pensioner rebates

Holders of a Centrelink or Veteran Affairs Pension Concession card or a Veteran Affairs Gold card which
stipulates TPI, or War Widow may claim a rebate on their sole or principal place of residence. Upon
initial application, ongoing eligibility is maintained, unless rejected by Centrelink or the Department
of Veteran Affairs during the annual verification procedure. Upon confirmation of an eligible pensioner
concession status, the pensioner rebate is deducted from the rate account before payment is required
by the ratepayer.

With regards to new applicants, after being granted a Pensioner Concession Card (PCC), pensioners
can then apply for the rebate at any time throughout the rating year. Retrospective claims up to a
maximum of one previous financial year can be approved by Council on verification of eligibility
criteria, for periods prior to this, claims may be approved by the relevant government department.

Deferred payments

Under Section 170 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council may defer the payment of any rate or
charge for an eligible ratepayer whose property is their sole place of residency, allowing ratepayers
an extended period of time to make payments or alternatively to forestall payments on an indefinite
basis until the ratepayer ceases to own or occupy the land in respect of which rates and charges are
to be levied.

Deferral of rates and charges are available to all ratepayers who satisfy the eligibility criteria and have
proven financial difficulties. Where Council approves an application for deferral of rates or charges,
interest will continue to be levied on the outstanding balance of rates and charges but at an interest
rate fixed annually by Council. This deferred interest rate will typically be well under the penalty
interest rate levied by Council on unpaid rates and charges.

Ratepayers seeking to apply for such provision will be required to submit an application form which is
available at the Council offices, on the Council website or which can be posted upon request.

Financial Hardship Policy

Itis acknowledged at the outset that various ratepayers may experience financial hardship for a whole
range of issues and that meeting rate obligations constitutes just one element of a number of
difficulties that may be faced. The purpose of the Financial Hardship policy is to provide options for
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ratepayers facing such situations to deal with the situation positively and reduce the strain imposed
by financial hardship.

Ratepayers may elect to either negotiate a rate payment plan or apply for a rate deferral. Ratepayers
seeking to apply for such provision will be required to submit an application form which is available at
the Council offices, Council website or can be posted upon request.

Debt recovery

Council makes every effort to contact ratepayers at their correct address, but it is the ratepayers’
responsibility to properly advise Council of their contact details. The Local Government Act 1989
Section 230 and 231 requires both the vendor and buyer of property, or their agents (e.g., solicitors
and or conveyancers), to notify Council by way of notice of disposition or acquisition of an interest in
land.

If an account becomes overdue, Council will issue an overdue reminder notice which will include
accrued penalty interest. If the account remains unpaid, Council may take legal action without further
notice to recover the overdue amount. All fees and court costs incurred will be recoverable from the
ratepayer.

If an amount payable by way of rates in respect to land has been in arrears for three years or more,
Council may take action to sell the property in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 Section
181.

Emergency Services and Volunteers Fund

In 2016 the Victorian State Government passed legislation requiring the Fire Services Property Levy to
be collected from ratepayers. Previously this was collected through building and property insurance
premiums. The Fire Services Property Levy helps fund the services provided by the Metropolitan Fire
Brigade and Country Fire Authority, and all levies collected by Council are passed through to the State
Government.

The Fire Services Property Levy is based on two components, a fixed charge, and a variable charge
which is linked to the Capital Improved Value of the property. This levy is not included in the rate cap,
and increases in the levy are at the discretion of the State Government.

From 1 July 2025 the Fire Services Property Levy will be replaced by the Emergency Services and
Volunteers Fund.

It will help support a broader range of emergency services and for the first time include VicSES, Triple
Zero Victoria, the State Control Centre, Forest Fire Management Victoria and Emergency Recovery
Victoria, as well as the Country Fire Authority and Fire Rescue Victoria.

6.0 Other Revenue Items

6.1 User fees and charges

User fees and charges are those that Council will charge for the delivery of services and use of
community infrastructure.

Examples of user fees and charges include:

e Pool visitation and membership fees
e Resource Recovery Centre fees
e Childcare fees
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e Leases and facility hire fees

e Facility Hire

e Registration and other permits fees
e Compliance fees

The provision of infrastructure and services form a key part of Council’s role in supporting the local
community. In providing these, Council must consider a range of ‘Best Value’ principles including
service cost and quality standards, value-for-money, and community expectations and values. Council
must also balance the affordability and accessibility of infrastructure and services with its financial
capacity and in the interests of long-term financial sustainability.

Councils must also comply with the government’s Competitive Neutrality Policy for significant
business activities they provide and adjust their service prices to neutralise any competitive
advantages when competing with the private sector.

In providing services to the community, Council must determine the extent of cost recovery for
particular services consistent with the level of both individual and collective benefit that the services
provide and in line with the community’s expectations.

Services are provided based on one of the following pricing methods:

a) Market Price
b) Full Cost Recovery Price
c) Subsidised Price

Market pricing (a) is where Council sets prices based on the benchmarked competitive prices of
alternate suppliers. In general market price represents full cost recovery plus an allowance for profit.
Market prices will be used when other providers exist in the given market, and council needs to meet
its obligations under the government’s Competitive Neutrality Policy. It should be noted that if a
market price is lower than Council’s full cost price, then the market price would represent Council
subsidising that service. If this situation exists, and there are other suppliers existing in the market at
the same price, this may mean that Council is not the most efficient supplier in the marketplace. In this
situation, Council will consider whether there is a community service obligation and whether Council
should be providing this service at all.

Full cost recovery price b) aims to recover all direct and indirect costs incurred by council. This pricing
should be used in particular where a service provided by Council benefits individual customers
specifically, rather than the community as a whole. In principle, fees and charges should be set at a
level that recovers the full cost of providing the services unless there is an overriding policy or
imperative in favour of subsidisation.

Subsidised pricing c) is where Council subsidises a service by not passing the full cost of that service
onto the customer. Subsidies may range from full subsidies (ie Council provides the service free of
charge) to partial subsidies, where Council provides the service to the user with a discount. The subsidy
can be funded from Council’s rate revenue or other sources such as Commonwealth and State funding
programs. Full Council subsidy pricing and partial cost pricing should always be based on knowledge
of the full cost of providing a service.

Council will develop a table of fees and charges as part of its annual budget each year. Proposed pricing
changes will be included in this table and will be communicated to stakeholders before the budget is
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adopted, giving them the chance to review and provide valuable feedback before the fees are locked
in.

6.2 Statutory fees and charges

Statutory fees and fines are those which Council collects under the direction of legislation or other
government directives. The rates used for statutory fees and fines are generally advised by the state
government department responsible for the corresponding services or legislation, and generally
councils will have limited discretion in applying these fees.

Examples of statutory fees and fines include:
e Planning and subdivision fees
e Building and Inspection fees
e Infringements and fines
e Land Information Certificate fees

Penalty and fee units are used in Victoria’s Acts and Regulations to describe the amount of a fine or a
fee.

Penalty units

Penalty units are used to define the amount payable for fines for many offences. For example, the fine
for selling a tobacco product to a person aged under 18 is four penalty units.

One penalty unit is currently $197.59, from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025.

The rate for penalty units is indexed each financial year so that it is raised in line with inflation. Any
change to the value of a penalty unit will happen on 1 July each year.

Fee units

Fee units are used to calculate the cost of a certificate, registration or licence that is set out in an Act
or Regulation. For example, the cost of depositing a Will with the Supreme Court Registrar of probates
is 1.6 fee units.

The value of one fee unit is currently $16.33. This value may increase at the beginning of a financial
year, at the same time as penalty units.

The cost of fees and penalties is calculated by multiplying the number of units by the current value of
the fee or unit. The exact cost may be rounded up or down.

6.3 Grants

Grant revenue represents income usually received from other levels of government. Some grants are
singular and attached to the delivery of specific projects, whilst others can be of a recurrent nature
and may or may not be linked to the delivery of projects.
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Council will pro-actively advocate to other levels of government for grant funding support to deliver
important infrastructure and service outcomes for the community. Council may use its own funds to
leverage higher grant funding and maximise external funding opportunities.

When preparing its financial plan, Council considers its project proposal pipeline, advocacy priorities,
upcoming grant program opportunities, and co-funding options to determine what grants to apply for.
Council will only apply for and accept external funding if it is consistent with the Community Vision
and does not lead to the distortion of Council Plan priorities.

Grant assumptions are then clearly detailed in Council’s budget document. No project that is reliant
on grant funding will proceed until a signed funding agreement is in place.

6.4 Contributions

Contributions represent funds received by Council, usually from non-government sources, and are
usually linked to projects.

Contributions can be made to Council in the form of either cash payments or asset handovers.

Examples of contributions include:

e Monies collected from developers under planning and development agreements.

e Monies collected under developer contribution plans and infrastructure contribution plans.

e Contributions from user groups towards upgrade of facilities

e Assets handed over to Council from developers at the completion of a subdivision, such as
roads, drainage, and streetlights.

Contributions should always be linked to a planning or funding agreement. Council will not undertake
any work on a contribution-funded project until a signed agreement outlining the contribution details
is in place.

Contributions linked to developments can be received well before any Council expenditure occurs. In
this situation, the funds will be identified and held in a reserve for the specific works identified in the
agreements.

6.5 Interest on investments

Council receives interest on funds managed as part of its investment portfolio, where funds are held
in advance of expenditure, or for special purposes. The investment portfolio is managed per Council’s
investment policy, which seeks to earn the best return on funds, whilst minimising risk.
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Attachment 2

Record of Hearing of Council Session
held on 4 June 2025 at the Maryborough Town Hall

1. Welcome
The Mayor, Cr La Vella opened the Session at 6.02pm and welcomed all attendees.

PRESENT

Cr Grace La Vella (Mayor)
Cr Geoff Bartlett

Cr Jake Meyer

Cr Gerard Murphy

Ms Sally Jones, Interim Chief Executive Officer

Ms Emma Little, General Manager Community Wellbeing

Mr Anthony Smith, Acting General Manager Corporate Performance
Ms Sylvia Lee, Manager Finance

Mr Ralph Anania, Governance Advisor

2. Apologies
Apologies were noted for Crs Green, de Villiers and Long.

3. Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest
Nil.

4. Item of Business

Submissions on Draft 2025/26 Council Budget; and Rating & Revenue Plan 2025/29
The Mayor, Cr La Vella informed attendees, that the session was to allow (3) three
submitters to Council’s draft Budget 2025/26 and its Rating and Revenue Plan 2025/29
to speak to their written submissions.

The Mayor, individually invited each of the three submitters, to come forward and speak
to their submission, allowing up to 10 minutes, including questions from Councillors:
Draft 2025/26 Council Budget

e Ms Michelle Murphy, CEO of Bendigo Foodshare

e Mr Gary Nevill, Vice President of the Maryborough Community Garden

Draft 2025/26 Council Budget; and Rating & Revenue Plan 2025/29

e Mr Brad Ead, representing his farming family and fellow farmers.

MOTION
That all the submissions be received and noted, and referred to the Council Meeting on
25 June 2025.
Moved: Cr Murphy
Seconder: Cr Meyer
CARRIED
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5. Session Closure
The Mayor, Cr La Vella closed the Hearing of Council Session at 6.38pm.
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7.3 2025/26 Council Budget

Author:

Manager Finance

Responsible Officer: Acting General Manager Corporate Performance

The Officer presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff, reports
that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this report.

SUMMARY/PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to present to Council the 2025/26 Budget (incorporating the four (4)
year Budget) for consideration and adoption.

RECOMMENDATION
That Council:

1. Adopts the 2025/26 Budget (as Attachment 1 to this report) with adjustments identified
from the Draft Annual Budget to the Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Capital program
and User Fees and Charges, as outlined within this Report;

2. Approves loan borrowings of $500,000 in line with the Budget for the Deledio Recreation
Reserve — Pavillion Upgrade;

3. Adopts and declares the fees and charges as listed within the 2025/26 Budget for the
financial year;

4. Declares an amount of $19.456 million which Council intends to raise by General Rates
and Annual Service Charges for the period 1 July 2025 — 30 June 2026 calculated as
follows:

e General Rates (including estimated supplementary rates) $12.736 million,
e Municipal Charges $1.684 million; and
e Service Rates and Charges (Waste Management) $5.036 million

5. Declares a Municipal Charge of $202 for each rateable assessment in respect of which a
Municipal Charge may be levied in the 2025/26 financial year;

6. Declares an Annual Service Charge of $1,060 for kerbside garbage and recycling
collection for the period 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2026;

7. Declares the rate in the dollar for each type of rate to be levied for the period as follows:
Type of Rate Value Cents in the $ on

Capital Improved
General rate for rateable residential properties — Maryborough 0.003270
General rate for rateable residential properties — Other 0.002943
General rate for rateable vacant land properties 0.004153
General rate for rateable commercial properties — Maryborough 0.005232
General rate for rateable commercial properties — Other 0.004415
General rate for rateable industrial properties 0.003466
General rate for rateable farm properties 0.002616

8. Adopts to levy the general rates and service charges referred to in this resolution by the
service notice on each person liable to pay such rate or charge in accordance with section
158 of the Local Government Act 1989 and,
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9. In accordance with section 167 of the Local Government Act 1989, adopts the rates and
charges declared by the Council for the 2025/26 financial year and declares that they must
be paid as follows:

By four instalments made on or before the following dates:
Instalment 1 — 30 September 2025;
Instalment 2 — 30 November 2025;
Instalment 3 — 28 February 2026;
Instalment 4 — 31 May 2026;
OR
By a lump sum payment made on or before 15 February 2026.

10. Thanks the community members who participated in the community engagement process
to inform the 2025/26 Budget.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONTEXT
Central Goldfields Shire Council’s Council Plan 2021-2025:

The Community’s vision: Leading Change
4. Effective and sustainable financial management.

Initiative: Review budget and financial reporting processes to improve
monitoring of financial performance.

The 2025/26 Budget has been prepared in accordance with relevant statutory requirements,
including the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) and Local Government (Planning and
Reporting) Regulations 2014.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The 2025/26 Budget meets Council’s legislative responsibility and has been prepared in
accordance with the Local Government Act 2020, which states that a Council must:

e Prepare and adopt a budget for each financial year and the subsequent 3 years by 30
June each year, Section 94(1)(a).

e Develop the budget and any revised budget in accordance with the financial
management principles, Section 96(1)(a).

e Develop the budget and any revised budget in accordance with its community
engagement policy, Section 96(1)(b).

DISCUSSION
The 2025/26 Budget is a critical piece of work that outlines how the Central Goldfields Shire Council
will continue to fund over 37 valued services to the community, deliver necessary infrastructure

projects, and maintain internal operations.

This year’s Budget reflects our shared commitment to delivery on community priorities, while
ensuring responsible financial management and long-term sustainability.

The 2025/26 Budget forecasts a $1.58 million surplus, building upon the forecast surplus of $723k
for 2024/25 and significantly reversing the $5 million deficit recorded in 2023-24.
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This positive financial outlook reflects Council’s continued focus on efficiency, cost control, and long-
term sustainability.

The capital works program totals $10.62 million, with $4.30 million in newly committed projects and
$6.32 million in carry forward works.

Approximately 95% of this investment is allocated to renewing and upgrading existing infrastructure.

Below are the initiatives taken during the budget process:

1. Council displayed the draft 2025/26 budget, draft revenue and rating plan for a period of 21
days for public consideration, and any submissions were to be considered by the Council at
a Hearing of Council held Wednesday, 4 June 2025.

2. Public notice of the Budget, and Revenue and Rating Plan was given in accordance with
Councils Engagement Strategy through notice in the Maryborough District Advertiser and an
opportunity was provided for members of the public to make submissions including through
the Councils website.

3. When placing the draft budget on public display, a few confirmations from various
stakeholders with updated information which are now included in the Budget as follows:

e The rate in the dollar calculations were based on the Stage 3 general valuations
process. The Stage 4 valuations were issued by the Valuer General during the budget
display period. As is required, the rate in the dollar calculations have been reviewed
based on the Stage 4 certified valuations. The revised rate in the dollar figures is tabled
below and $51k included in the Budget for Rates and Charges;

Type or class of land Adopted 30/4/25 - Stage 3CIV  |Stage 4 CIV Variance |Variance %

cents/$CIV* cents/$CIV*

General rate for rateable residential properties - Maryborough 0.0032610 0.0032700] 0.0000090 0.28%
General rate for rateable residential properties - Other 0.0029349 0.0029430] 0.0000081 0.28%
General rate for rateable vacant land properties 0.0041415 0.0041530] 0.0000115 0.28%
General rate for rateable commercial properties - Maryborough 0.0052176 0.0052320] 0.0000144 0.28%
General rate for rateable commercial properties - Other 0.0044350 0.0044150] -0.0000200 -0.45%
General rate for rateable industrial properties 0.0034779 0.0034660] -0.0000119 -0.34%
General rate for rateable farm properties 0.0026088 0.0026160| 0.0000072 0.28%

e Victorian Local Government Grants Commission announced on the 19 May 2025 the
Indicative Finance Assistance Grants which increased the overall funding by $147k in
the operating revenue;

e Mandatory training costs $30k included in the Budget for the Operations Department;
and

e Priority processing of Land Information Certificates of $60.00 added to the Fees and
Charges schedule.

4. The Revenue and Rating Strategy has been reviewed ensuring the equitable distribution of

rates across the municipality.

The budget has included $10.62 million for capital works which is considered sustainable for
the 2025/26 financial year. $4.30 million in newly committed projects and $6.32 million in
carry forward works.

Council proposes to borrow $500,000 for the Deledio Recreation Reserve — Pavillion
Upgrade.
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7. The waste management charges have increased by 12% in 2025/26 for standard waste
charges and varying increases for non- standard waste charges.

This is to ensure that the full cost of Council’s waste management function continues to be
fully funded by the waste charge.

8. Fees and Charges have been indexed at three (3) per cent unless otherwise adjusted using
benchmarking, a review of full cost recovery or statutory fees.

A full list of fees and charges is included in section six of the budget document.
CONSULTATION/COMMUNICATION

Community engagement was undertaken from 1 May to 22 May 2025 following the endorsement of
the draft Budget on 30 April 2025.

Public notice of the draft budget was shared via Facebook, Council’s website, Maryborough District
Advertiser, and hardcopies were located at the Library and Council’s Customer Service.

A total of eight budget submissions and feedback were received.
Three submitters presented their submissions at the Hearing of Council, held on 4 June 2025.
A record of the Hearing of Council is provided as Attachment 2 to this report.

Following the Hearing of Council in relation to the submissions received, the following budget
amendments have been incorporated into the 2025/26 Budget:

e Bendigo Foodshare $5,000

e Maryborough Community Garden $2,000

e Maryborough Little Athletics Club $30,000

RISK MANAGEMENT

This report addresses Council’s strategic risk:

Financial sustainability - Failure to maintain our long-term financial sustainability
All financial implications have been considered within the 2025/26 Budget.
CONCLUSION

This report presents the 2025/26 Budget for consideration and adoption.

It is considered that the adoption of the budget will enable Council to deliver its essential services
and projects in line with Councils vision.

ATTACHMENTS

1.  CGSC Budget 2025-2026 v 2 [7.3.1]
2. Hearing of Council Minutes 40625 (6) [7.3.2]
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Attachment 1

Central Goldfields Shire Council
Budget Report

2025-26
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Disclaimer

The information contained in this document is for general guidance only. It is not professional advice and should
not be used, relied upon or treated as a substitute for specific professional advice. Given the changing nature of
laws, rules and regulations, and the inherent hazards of electronic communication, there may be delays,
omissions or inaccuracies in information contained in this document.

The model budget, including financial statements, has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Local Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 . While every
effort has been made to ensure that the information contained in this document has been accurate and complies
with relevant Victorian legislation, each Council remains responsible to ensure that the budget they prepare is
compliant with all statutory requirements.
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Mayor and CEO'’s Introduction

We are proud to present the Central Goldfields Shire Council Draft Budget for 2025-2026 — a plan that reflects our shared
commitment to delivering on community priorities, while ensuring responsible financial management and long-term
sustainability.

This budget is about more than just numbers. It's about people — about creating the kind of Shire we all want to live in, now and
into the future. We've listened to our community and worked hard to shape a budget that balances investment in important
projects and services, with the need to manage our resources wisely. It has been developed with a clear focus on financial
sustainability, community wellbeing, and the continued delivery of essential services and infrastructure for our Shire.

The Draft Budget forecasts a $1.58 million surplus for 2025-2026, building upon the forecast surplus of $723,000 for
2024-2025 and significantly reversing the $5 million deficit recorded in 2023-2024. This positive financial outlook reflects
Council's continued focus on efficiency, cost control, and long-term sustainability.

The capital works program totals $10.62 million, with $4.3 million in newly committed projects and $6.32 million in carry forward
works. Approximately 95% of this investment is allocated to renewing and upgrading existing infrastructure — a strong indicator
of our commitment to asset stewardship and value for money.

The Draft Budget is shaped by a disciplined approach to expenditure, strategic investment in capital works, and a firm
commitment to meeting the needs of our growing and changing community. It seeks to balance the realities of constrained
revenue — including the state imposed 3% rate cap — with the demand for quality infrastructure, accessible services, and long-
term financial health.

Importantly, this budget is also a reflection of community voices. Through our recent community engagement process, we heard
from residents, community groups, and local businesses about what matters most. We would like to extend a sincere thank you
to everyone who took the time to share their insights and aspirations. Your input has helped shape the direction of this budget
and ensures it is grounded in local priorities.

We know the pressures that many in our community are facing. That’s why this budget has been developed with care - to
ensure we continue to deliver core services, invest in infrastructure, and support growth, all while maintaining a stable financial
outlook. Responsible decision-making today helps us protect our capacity to deliver for future generations.

Alongside the essentials such as kerbside rubbish collection, we are focusing on improving and maintaining our existing assets
and infrastructure with $3.15 million allocated to our roads, drains, footpaths and bike paths.

Some of the key initiatives in this year’s Draft Budget reflect direct community feedback and support our vision for a more
vibrant, connected and resilient Shire:

Maryborough Outdoor Pool — We're committed to bringing this iconic and much-loved community facility back to life. Council
has allocated $450,000 for ongoing design works and will continue to advocate for funding at all levels of government to help
deliver this important restoration project.

Deledio Recreation Reserve Pavilion — With a Council investment of $1 million and thanks to support from both federal and
state governments, a new, multi-use, modular-build pavilion will support local sport, events, and become a hub for community
activities.

Princes Park Grandstand — This treasured local landmark will undergo important conservation and upgrade planning so it can
continue to serve our sporting community and host major events including Energy Breakthrough and the Maryborough Highland
Gathering.

Castlemaine-Maryborough Rail Trail — In partnership with Mount Alexander Shire Council, we're progressing the
development of this 55km trail.

Tiny Towns — We will continue to deliver on the multiple projects identified as important for our residents across our townships.

Further highlights from the 2025/26 Capital Works program include:

o Continuation of the design works for the Goldfields Reservoir Dam stabilisation

o Delivery of the annual road resealing and asphalting program

o Completion of Betterment works across of a number of impacted floodways

o Completion of TAC Road Safety Program including speed reductions, roundabouts and splitter islands (to be delivered over

2 years)

o Investment in IT systems including a new Asset Maintenance Management System to assist in providing better service to

our community on managing the maintenance of our assets and facilities

o Maryborough Tennis Centre Multi Use Courts Development

o Princes Park Cricket Wicket Rebuild Project

o Landfill works — remediation of our closed land fills

o Transfer Station Infrastructure Upgrades

o Dog Park fencing at Jack Pascoe Reserve

o Public Conveniences — the installation of automatic locks on our toilets and sensors on our BBQs to help prevent vandalism

and better schedule cleaning and maintenance

° Road to Recovery Projects including renewal of roads in Alma, Carisbrook and Maryborough

o Clunes Mt Cameron Road Renewal (pending on outcome of grant application)

o Aerodrome Regional Airport Program Round 4, including the implementation of more recommendations from the

Aerodrome Business Case.
This Draft Budget shows what we can achieve when we work together — Council and community, side by side. It's about
improving our facilities, supporting local people, and making decisions that keep our Shire financially strong and future focused.
Together, through sound financial stewardship and strong community partnerships, we can continue to deliver for Central
Goldfields today and into the future.

Thank you for being part of this important journey.

Cr Grace La Vella Sally Jones
Mayor Interim Chief Executive Officer
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1. Link to the Integrated Strategic Planning and Reporting Framework

This section describes how the Budget links to the achievement of the Community Vision and Council Plan within an overall integrated
strategic planning and reporting framework. This framework guides the Council in identifying community needs and aspirations over the
long term (Community Vision and Financial Plan), medium term (Council Plan, Workforce Plan, and Revenue and Rating Plan) and short
term ( Budget) and then holding itself accountable (Annual Report).

1.1 Legislative planning and accountability framework

The Budget is a rolling four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that Council requires to achieve the strategic
objectives described in the Council Plan. The diagram below depicts the integrated strategic planning and reporting framework that
applies to local government in Victoria. At each stage of the integrated strategic planning and reporting framework there are opportunities
for community and stakeholder input. This is important to ensure transparency and accountability to both residents and ratepayers.

\j Central Goldfields Community Vision \

10 Year Plans

Asset Plan | Financial Plan |

Municipal Public
Health and
Wellbeing Plan

Council

Plan Municipal Planning Strategy

4 Year Plans

1+3years Rating Plan Workforce Plan

Budget Revenue and }

Annual Plans Annual Annual Major Business/Service
Action Plan Budget Initiatives Planning
Business/Service i Policy Performance
Planning Peport & Strategy Monitoring and
and Review p Review Reporting

The timing of each component of the integrated strategic planning and reporting framework is critical to the successful achievement of
the planned outcomes.

1.1.2 Key planning considerations
Service level planning

Although councils have a legal obligation to provide some services— such as animal management, local roads, food safety and statutory
planning—most council services are not legally mandated, including some services closely associated with councils, such as libraries,
building permits and sporting facilities. Further, over time, the needs and expectations of communities can change. Therefore councils
need to have robust processes for service planning and review to ensure all services continue to provide value for money and are in line
with community expectations. In doing so, councils should engage with communities to determine how to prioritise resources and
balance service provision against other responsibilities such as asset maintenance and capital works.

Community consultation needs to be in line with a councils adopted Community Engagement Policy and Public Transparency Policy.
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1.2 Our purpose

Our Vision
To be an engaged, flourishing, lively and inclusive community.

Our mission
To seek, capture and develop opportunities to make our Shire a place of choice to live, work, visit and enjoy.

Our values

* Focus on imperatives and goals

* Value aspiration and achievement

* Encourage innovation and lifelong learning

* Embrace value-added teamwork and partnerships
* Utilise our diversity to find better solutions

1.3 Strategic objectives

"Council adopted the 2021 - 2025 Council Plan in October 2021. ( New Council Plan 2025 - 2029 pending for adoption )
As part of the Council plan process, four strategic objectives were set out as detailed below

Strategic Objective Description

1 Our Community's Strengthen and build inclusion and community intergenerational connections
Wellbeing Nurture and celebrate creativity

Support positive life journey development for all residents

Encourage, support and facilitate healthy and safe communities

Maximise volunteer efforts

Value, celebrate and actively engage First Nations culture and people

2 Our Growing Economy Retain, grow and attract our population
Capitalise on tourism opportunities
Support existing and new and emerging business and industry
Develop a skilled and diverse workforce
Strengthen digital infrastructure and capability

3 Our Spaces and Provide engaging public spaces
Places Provide infrastructure to meet community need
Value and care for our heritage and culture assets
Manage and reduce and reuse waste
Care for the natural environment and take action on climate change

4 Leading Change Actively engage, inform and build the leadership capacity of community members and organisations
Provide financial sustainability and good governance
Provide a safe, inclusive and supportive workplace
Advocate and partner on matters of community importance
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2. Services and service performance indicators

This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the 2025/26 year and how these will contribute to achieving the strategic
objectives outlined in the Council Plan. It also describes several initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key areas of Council's operations. Council is
required by legislation to identify major initiatives, initiatives and service performance outcome indicators in the Budget and report against them in their Annual Report to
support transparency and accountability. The relationship between these accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the Budget and the Annual Report is shown

below.

Budget

- —

IL Strategic objective ( Services J [ Indicators (outcome) J—
| Strategic indicatars ( initiatives j [ Major initiatives

[ stratesic objective ] ( Senvices '} (Inl:licaturs(nmcame} j
f Strategic indicators | ( Initiatives ] [ Major initiatives :]
| O i i o

l': Strategic objactive \ ( Semnvices ] ( Indicators (outcome) ]
I: Strategic indicators ) ( Initiatives } [ Major initiatives j
[ Strategic objective J ( Services ] [ Indicators (outcome) J
I: Strategic indicators : ( Initiatives ] ( Major initiatives :]—

2.1 Our Community's Wellbeing

Services

Service area

Children and Family Services -
comprising Family Day Care,
Long Day Care, Kinddergartens,
Immunisation and Go Goldfields

Description of services provided

Family Day Care. (Ceased June 2024) Inc
One contractor operating a family day

care service at Avoca. Exp

s

2023/24
Actual
$'000

Annual Report

[ Report of operations j

Service indicators
Major initiatives

= Governance &
management checklist

[ Performance statement ]

= Sarvice indicators
= Financial indicators
= Systainable capacity indicators

2024/25
Forecast
$'000

2025/26
Budget
$'000

3,010 2,894

3,569

Surplus / (deficit)

(@07) (198)

(317)

Long Day Care.
67 Place Long day care service.

Kindergarten.

33 Place integrated kindergarten,
offering 15 hours of 3 and 4 year old
Kindergarten.

Immunisation

Provides a range of vaccination options
that are convenient and offer
Immunisation options for residents of
our shire most at risk of vaccine-
preventable disease.

Go Goldfields

A backbone team rooted in the
community that provides strategic
leadership, facilitates collaboration, and
delivers evidence based programs and
activities to enable every child in Central
Goldfields to have every chance to grow
up healthy, safe and confident.

Maternal and Child Health
Services

Inc

Exp

Provides universal access to MCH
services and enhanced support for
families including 10 key age and stage

515
704

552
671

460
669

visits from birth to 3.5 years. Surplus / (deficit)

(189) (119)

(209)
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Library Services Maryborough Regional Library has Inc 184 184 171
locations in Dunolly anq Maryborough. It Exp 642 602 551
also has outreach services to Talbot
Community Library and an outreach Surplus / (deficit) (458) (418) (380)
service to housebound patrons. The
library service offers a diverse range of
resources, services and programming
accessible to the Central Goldfields
Shire community as well as those
outside the shire. The library is owned
and operated by Council.

Arts and Culture Council's services to arts and culture Inc 4 20 4
are through the Central Goldfields Art

E 289 312 297
Gallery, located in Maryborough. P
Surplus / (deficit) (285) (292) (293)
The Gallery features a diverse program
of regularly changing exhibitions,
including works from the permanent
collection, curated exhibitions and
touring exhibitions as well as educational
and public programs.

Community Development Partnering with individuals, community  /nc 239 308 59
_QI'OUF_JS and community organlsat.lons to Exp 572 208 414
identify and support implementation of
community priorities and activities. Surplus / (deficit) (333) 10 (355)

Emergency Management Ensures compliance and effective Inc 280 269 60
delivery of obligations under the Local Exp 529 407 132
Government Act, Emergency
Management Act, and state plans and ~ Surplus / (deficit) (249) (138) (72)
policies. Delivery of the Municipal
Emergency Resources Program
(MERP).

Recreation Services and Provides recreation facilities and Inc 129 84 39

Facilities Management services which includes the provision of

E 980 999 1,031
the Maryborough Sport and Leisure P
Centre, outdoor swimming pools, Surplus / (deficit) (851) (915) (992)
strategic support to sporting clubs and
users, support for active sporting
facilities and open space.

Youth Services Provides activities and programs Inc 147 148 88

through FReeZA, Engage!, L2P (ending

E; 170 157 88
2025) and Children & Young People P
First Project (CYPFP) funded initiatives ~ Surplus / (deficit) (23) 9) 0
to enhance confidence, support safety,
improve mental health, well being and
build resilience.

Compliance Provides compliance and enforcement  Inc 68 82 84
services to br.\ng land use and ) Exp 350 526 580
development into compliance with the
Planning and Environment Act and Surplus / (deficit) (282) (444) (496)
Central Goldfields Planning Scheme.

Environmental Health and Provides a range of environmental Inc 7 120 7

Sustainabilitry health

E: 184 253 278
and public health services, education -~
and the Surplus / (deficit) (113) (133) (207)
enforcement of relevant state legislation.
Sustainability including Climate Action
Plan and community consultation

Local Laws Enforcement and compliance of all Inc 180 216 208

Council local laws to ensure the

E 313 212 240
management of domestic and livestock P
animals, protection of our built and Surplus / (deficit) (133) 4 (32)

natural environment, general amenity
and general parking enforcement.
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Maijor Initiatives
1) Finalisation of the Open Space Strategy

2) Commencement of the Maryborough Tennis Courts renewal

Other Initiatives

3) Continued focus on Community Development through programs delivered by the Community Partnerships team

4) Supporting the Shire's Youth and Young People through delivery of various projects

5) Renewal of recreation facilities to provide improved equity across the municipality

6) Continue to support the community following the October 2022 floods through leadership iincluding the Community Recovery Officer

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
Service Indicator

Actual Forecast Budget
Libraries Participation 9.50% 9.50% 9.50%
Aquatic Facilities Utilisation 4.75 4.75 475
Animal Management Health and Safety 0% 0% 0%
Food Safety Health and Safety 100% 100% 100%
Maternal and Child Health Participation 91.00% 90.00% 90.00%

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Service Indicator Performance Measure Computation
Libraries Participation Library membership (Percentage of the [Number of registered library members /
population that are registered library Population] x100
members)
Aquatic Facilities Utilisation Utilisation of aquatic facilities. (Number of Number of visits to aquatic facilities /

visits to aquatic facilities per head of
population)

Population

Animal Management

Health and safety

Animal management prosecutions.
(Percentage of animal management
prosecutions which are successful)

Number of successful animal management
prosecutions / Total number of animal
management prosecutions

Food safety

Health and safety

Critical and major non-compliance outcome
notifications. (Percentage of critical and
major non-compliance outcome notifications
that are followed up by Council)

[Number of critical non-compliance outcome
notifications and major non-compliance
outcome notifications about a food premises
followed up / Number of critical non-
compliance outcome notifications and major
non-compliance outcome notifications about
food premises] x100

Maternal and Child Health

Participation

Participation in the MCH service.
Participation in the MCH service by Aboriginal
children. (Percentage of Aboriginal children
enrolled who participate in the MCH service)

[Number of children who attend the MCH
[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the
MCH service at least once (in the financial
year) / Number of Aboriginal children enrolled
in the MCH service] x100
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2.2 Our Growing Economy

Services
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
Service area Description of services provided Actual Forecast Budget
$'000 $'000
Economic Development Provide economic development services Inc 13 75 -
to the council and community to Exp 398 253 147
effectively identify and pursue the Surplus/ (deficit) (385) (78) (a7)

Shire’s competitive advantages to
facilitate economic development and
employment opportunities.

Tourism and Events Tourism and Events Services works to:  Inc 82 158 111
-attract, support, and ensure Ex 605 1,142 676
compliance of events that contribute to Surplus/ (defici) (523) (984) (565)
the visitor economy and community
outcomes; deliver citizens events
including Australia Day and Citizenship
Ceremonies.

-Support and promote volunteering for
Council services and programs as well
as across the community.

-Plan and provide strategic initiatives
to strengthen local tourism, in line with
local and regional priorities

Energy Breakthrough Energy Breakthrough is Council’s largest Inc 403 440 353
annual event and is delivered in
partnership with Country Education Exp 682 603 577
Partnership. The event attracts around "Suppjus/ (deficit) (279) (163) (224)
15,000 over the five-day event with over
$3.66 million injected into the local
economy. The event supports
participation of 3,500 students from
around local, state and interstate
schools.

Building Services Provide building control services to Inc 84 106 78
administer and enforce the Building
Act and building regulations. Exp 220 295 254

Surplus/ (deficit) (136) (189) (176)

Statutory Planning Provides the full range of statutory Inc 288 203 176
planning Exp 953 640 598

services and administration of the —
Planning Surplus/ (deficit) (665) (437) (422)

and Environment Act as it applies to all
public and private land within the Shire.

Strategic Planning Provides strategic land use planning to  Inc 271 224 70
assess and manager future land uses, g, 346 314 301

manage land use change and population —
and economic growth. Surplus/(deficit) (75) (90) (231)

VicRoads Agency Provides a range of VicRoads services Inc 274 256 336

on behalf of VicRoads, from the Nolan
Street building Exp 227 230 246

Surplus/ (deficit) 47 26 90

Major Initiatives
1) Urban Residential Land Opportunities review

2) Finalisation of the Maryborough Heritage review
3) Continuation of the Maryborough, Carisbrook, Flagstaff Land Use Planning Framework

Other Initiatives

4) Delivery of Tiny Towns projects subject to approval of grant funding
5) Delivery of a Central Goldfields Shire Official Visitor Guide

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
Actual Forecast Budget
Statutory Planning Decision making 100% 100% 100%

Service Indical
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2.3 Our Spaces and Places

Services

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Service area Description of services provided Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Asset Management Provides data collection, analysis and Inc 15 19 129
planning for the maintenance and
renewal of all Council owned and
managed infrastructure and assets. This "5y, 15/ (deficit) (1,573) (1,421) (1,607)
is all facets of Infrastructure and
Operations management of Council
Assets including any external
consultants such as valuers, inspections
and condition assessments

Exp 1,588 1,440 1,736

Building Maintenance Undertakes maintenance works on Inc 1 4 1
Council owned and managed buildings,
and other built structures such as B 378 801 25
rotundas, BBQ shelters, pedestrian Surplus/ (deficit) (364) (297) (284)
underpasses, and playgrounds.

Depot Provides facilities and workshops to Inc 48 26 30
support the activities of Council's
outdoor operations. Exp 126 115 107
Surplus/ (deficit) (78) (89) 77)
Drainage This service maintains and renews the  Inc - - -
drainage systems and networks
throughout the Shire, and ensures Exp 62 55 61
compliance to the required standards for Surpius/ (deficit) (62) (55) 61)
new land developments.
Environmental Management Environmental monitoring and Inc 62 39 36
implementation of services to control the
spread of weeds and pests in Council ~ Exp 96 42 54
controlled areas including; roadsides,
nature strips, reserves, drains Surplus/ (deficit) (34) (3) (18)
Roads Maintenance Provides the maintenance, construction Inc 3 - 1
and reconstruction of Council’s transport
associated infrastructure assets. Exp 1,793 1,844 1,803
Surplus/ (deficit) (1,790) (1,844) (1,802)
Parks and Gardens Provides park, gardens and oval Inc - - -
maln.tenance and .|mprove.ments to Exp 1,395 1,081 1,101
provide an attractive public open space
and recreational environment for our Surplus/ (deficit) (1,395) (1,081) (1,101)
community.
Plant Supplies and maintains vehicle and Inc - - -
plant to support Council's operations. Exp (508) (602) (800)
Surplus/ (deficit) 508 602 800
Public Amenities Provides cleaning and servicing to public /nc - - -
ity blocks.
amentty blocks Exp 680 438 537
Surplus/ (deficit) (680) (438) (537)
Waste Management Provides all waste management, policy Inc 291 273 329
development and education services
12 774 2
from kerbside bin collection, transfer Exp 3123 3 3.93
station management and management ~ Surplus/ (deficit) (2,832) (3,501) (3,603)

of closed land fill sites.
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Service Performance Outcome Indicators

2023/24

Actual
99.11%

Service Indicator

Roads

Condition

2024/25

Forecast
98.00%

2025/26

Budaet
98.00%

Waste Management Waste Diversion 45.29%

45.00% 45.00%

Service Indicator Performance Measure

Condition
level (percentage of sealed local roads

Sealed local roads below the intervention

that

are below the renewal intervention level set

by Council and not requiring renewal)

[Number of kilometres of sealed local roads
below the renewal intervention level set by
Council / Kilometres of sealed local roads]

Computation

Waste management Waste diversion

Kerbside collection waste diverted from

[Weight of recyclables and green organics

landfill. (Percentage of recyclables and green collected from kerbside bins / Weight of
organics collected from kerbside bins that is

diverted from landfill)

Major Initiatives

1) Review of Kerbside Collection service to align with new State Government requirements.
2) Road Renewal program including Roads to Recovery and Transport Accident Commission funding

Other Initiatives
3) Planned Building upgrades schedule
4) Drainage works including betterment works funded by Federal Government

2.4 Leading Change

Services

2023/24

Service area Description of services provided Actual

$'000

Community Engagement The purpose of Council's Community Inc

garbage, recyclables and green organics
collected from kerbside bins] x100

2024/25
Forecast
$'000

2025/26
Budget
$'000

Engagement Team is to provide our Exp 409 457 571
community with clear, it and —

i 4 457 71
targeted communications and Surplus/_ (defici) (409) “57) 671)
engagement opportunities that are
bottom up, planned and accessible to all
community members.

Customer Service Provides a full range of Customer Inc - - -
Service functions to face to face Exp 204 308 319
customers and via phone with a high ] Fioi 294 308 319
focus on the customer's needs as the Surplus/ (defici) (294) (308) 319)
first point of contact.

Governance Property & Risk Provides the governance framework for Inc 253 132 149
the organisation including coordination  £xp 1,453 1,746 1,857
of Council meetings and support and S —

lus/ (deficit 1,200 1,614 1,708
oversight of compliance with the Local urplus/_ (deficit) ( ) ( ) ( )
Government Act, privacy and freedom of
information. Also includes governance,
property, risk management and
procurement functions.

Shire Management Provides strategic leadership to the Inc - - -
orgelmlisation. implementatilon of Council - g£xp 1,143 1,188 1,203
decisions and representation and Surplus/ (defici) (1.143) (1.188) (1,203)

advocacy on key issues and projects for

the Shire.
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Finance Provides a full suite of financial Inc 606 - 37 153
management, including corporate Exp 2,015 1,447 1,011
financial planning, monitoring and =
reporting for both internal and external Surplus/ (defici) (1409 (1:484) ®58)
customers. The team also is
responsible for accounts payable,
accounts receivable, asset financial
management, cashflow management,
treasury and borrowings and
management of corporate credit cards.

The rates team is responsible for the
issuance and administration of annual
rates notices across the shire. The
team also ensures compliance with the
annual rate cap, and supports the
Council elections on a four year basis

Human Resources The People and Culture team through  Inc - -
collaboration and partnerships focus on  £xp 1,127 1,088 944
creating a positive workplace where —
employees feel safe, supported, can Surplus/_ (defici) .127) (1,088) (o44)
reach their full potential, are actively
engaged and inspired by their
employment experience and the work
that they do. We achieve this by
providing authoritative advice on people
matters to ensure good governance and
realization of a skilled and diverse
workforce.

Information Management Provides lifecycle management of all Inc - - -
information held by Council. Exp 145 156 205

Surplus/ (deficit) (145) (156) (205)

Information Technology Provides the information communication Inc - - -
technology platform that enables the Exp 1,483 1,309 1,357

organisation to interact electronically — 14 1 1357
with all of its customers. Surplus/ (deficit) (1.483) (1,309) (1,357)

Nolan Street Offices Provides the operations of heating, Inc 349 608 529
lighting and cooling the Nolan Street Exp 613 663 606

offices, and the office needs to maintain —
i 264 55 77
a function office. Surplus/ (deficit) (264) (55) (77)

Grants Commission Financial Assistance Grants distributed Inc 220 5,344 5,598
by the Victoria Grants Commission. Exp - - -

Surplus/ (deficit) 220 5,344 5,598

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

) . 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
Service Indicator
Actual Forecast Budget
Governance Satisfaction 45% 50% 50%
Service Indicator rformance Measu Computation
Governance Consultation and engagement Satisfaction with community consultation and Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with
er it. (Cc ity satisf: 1 rating  how Council has performed on community
out of 100 with the consultation and consultation and engagement

engagement efforts of Council)

Major Initiatives
1) Rural Council Transformation Project which includes the upgrade of various Council systems
2) Council plans and strategies for the coming four (4) years as legislated, ie Council Plan and Long Term Financial Plan, Workforce Plan

Other Initiatives
3) Cyber Security Strategy
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2.5 Reconciliation with budgeted operating result

Surplus/ (Deficit) Expenditure Income / Revenue
$°000 $°000 $°000

Our Community's Wellbeing (3,353) 7,849 4,497
Our Growing Economy (1,675) 2,799 1,124
Our Spaces and Places (8,290) 8,816 526
Leading Change (1,644) 8,073 6,429
Total (14,962) 27,537 12,576
Expenses added in:
Depreciation 9,152
Finance costs 110
Others -
Surplus/(Deficit) before funding sources (24,223)
Funding sources added in:
Rates and charges revenue 14,520
Waste charge revenue 5,036
Capital Grants 6,244
Total funding sources 25,799
Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,576
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3. Financial Statements

This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human Resources. The budget information for the year 2025/26
has been supplemented with projections to 2028/29

This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning
and Reporting) Regulations 2020 .

Comprehensive Income Statement
Balance Sheet

Statement of Changes in Equity
Statement of Cash Flows
Statement of Capital Works
Statement of Human Resources
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Comprehensive Income Statement
For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Budget Projections

Forecast
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

Income / Revenue

Rates and charges 4.11 18,421 19,556 20,142 20,747 21,369
Statutory fees and fines 412 568 514 529 545 562
User fees 4.1.3 1,252 1,527 1,572 1,620 1,668
Grants - operating 414 10,055 9,661 9,951 10,249 10,557
Grants - capital 4.1.4 5,793 6,244 4,000 3,379 2,579
Contributions - monetary 415 291 204 204 204 204

Net gain (or loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant

and equipment 14 B - ° °
Other income 4.1.6 744 670 690 711 732
Total income / revenue 37,138 38,375 37,089 37,454 37,670
Expenses

Employee costs 417 15,551 16,175 16,660 17,160 17,675
Materials and services 4.1.8 12,006 10,896 11,223 11,560 11,907
Depreciation 4.1.9 8,340 9,090 9,954 10,900 11,935
Depreciation - right of use assets 4.1.11 61 61 61 61 61
Provision for bad debts 1 1 1 1 1
Borrowing costs 102 109 124 173 178
Other expenses 4.1.12 354 466 480 495 510
Total expenses 36,415 36,799 38,504 40,349 42,267
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 723 1,576 (1,415) (2,895) (4,596)
Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in

future periods

Net asset revaluation gain /(loss) 4,303 22,684 23,753 4,768 4,767
Total other comprehensive income 4,303 22,684 23,753 4,768 4,767
Total comprehensive result 5,026 24,260 22,338 1,873 171

112 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

Balance Sheet
For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Borecast Budget Projections
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
NOTES $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,032 2,101 3,612 5,063 5,065
Trade and other receivables 3,104 3,197 3,293 3,392 3,494
Other financial assets 783 783 806 831 856
Inventories 15 15 15 15 15
Prepayments 400 400 412 388 388
Other assets 13 13 13 14 14
Total current assets 4.21 5,347 6,509 8,153 9,703 9,832
Non-current assets
Property, infrastructure, plant & equipment 430,311 453,686 475,063 476,776 476,734
Right-of-use assets 424 299 255 211 167 123
Total non-current assets 421 430,610 453,941 475,274 476,943 476,857
Total assets 435,957 460,451 483,427 486,647 486,690
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 5,666 5,835 6,011 6,191 6,377
Trust funds and deposits 680 700 721 743 765
Provisions 1,221 1,258 1,295 1,334 1,374
Lease liabilities 424 61 61 61 61 35
Total current liabilities 422 7,628 7,854 8,088 8,329 8,551
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 2,305 2,374 2,445 2,519 2,594
Interest-bearing liabilities 423 2,089 2,089 2,489 3,589 3,204
Lease liabilities 424 218 157 96 35 -
Total non-current liabilities 422 4,612 4,620 5,030 6,143 5,798
Total liabilities 12,240 12,475 13,119 14,472 14,349
Net assets 423,717 447,976 470,308 472,175 472,340
Equity
Accumulated surplus 129,384 130,960 129,545 126,650 122,054
Reserves 294,337 317,021 340,775 345,542 350,310
Total equity 423,721 447,981 470,319 472,192 472,363
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Surplus Reserve Reserves

Total

$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
2025 Forecast

Balance at beginning of the financial year 418,695 128,661 289,328 706
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 723 723 - -
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 4,303 - 4,303 -
Balance at end of the financial year 423,721 12-9,384 2-93,631 706

2026 Budget

Balance at beginning of the financial year 423,721 129,384 293,631 706
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,576 1,576 - -
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 22,684 o 22,684 o
Balance at end of the financial year 432 447,981 130,960 316,315 706
2027

Balance at beginning of the financial year 447,981 130,960 316,315 706
Surplus/(deficit) for the year (1,415) (1,415) - -
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 23,753 - 23,753 -
Balance at end of the financial year 470,319 129,545 340,069 706
2028

Balance at beginning of the financial year 470,319 129,545 340,069 706
Surplus/(deficit) for the year (2,895) (2,895) - -
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 4,768 - 4,768

Balance at end of the financial year 472,192 126,65_0 344,836 706
2029

Balance at beginning of the financial year 472,192 126,650 344,836 706
Surplus/(deficit) for the year (4,596) (4,596) - -
Net asset revaluation gain/(loss) 4,767 - 4,767

Balance at end of the financial year 472,363 122,054 349,604 706
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Forecast

Budget Projections

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
Notes $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows
(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates and charges 16,947 17,991 18,531 19,087 19,660
Statutory fees and fines 568 514 529 545 562
User fees 1,252 1,527 1,572 1,620 1,668
Grants - operating 10,055 9,661 9,951 10,249 10,557
Grants - capital 5,793 6,244 4,000 3,379 2,579
Contributions - monetary 291 204 204 204 204
Interest received 65 80 82 85 87
Other receipts 679 590 608 626 645
Employee costs (15,551) (16,175) (16,660) (17,160) (17,675)
Materials and services (12,006) (10,896) (11,223) (11,560) (11,907)
Other payments (354) (466) (480) (495) (510)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 4.41 7,740 9,273 7,114 6,580 5,870

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (7,282) (8,494) (6,578) (4,571) (5,305)
Net cash provided by/ (used in) investing activities 442 (7,282) (8,494) (6,578) (4,571) (5,305)

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance costs (102) (109) (124) (173) (178)
Proceeds from borrowings - 500 1,350 - -
Repayment of borrowings - (100) (250) (385) (385)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 443 (102) 291 976 (558) (563)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents 356 1,069 1,511 1,451 2
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
676 1,032 2,101 3,612 5,063
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year
1,032 2,101 3,612 5,063 5,065
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Statement of Capital Works
For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Forecast

Budget Projections

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
NOTES $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

Property

Land improvements 1,574 4,951 2,918 814 291
Total land 1,574 4,951 2,918 814 291
Buildings 1,822 497 1,156 471 1,027
Total buildings 1,822 497 1,156 471 1,027
Total property 3,396 5,448 4,074 1,285 1,318

Plant and equipment

Plant, machinery and equipment 862 - 139 461 378
Fixtures, fittings and furniture - - 227 440 445
Computers and telecommunications 542 572 - - -
Total plant and equipment 1,404 572 366 901 823
Infrastructure

Roads 3,233 3,988 2,350 2,608 2,457
Bridges 250 350 441 117 461
Footpaths and cycleways 240 - 192 196 200
Drainage 362 - 327 242 588
Waste management - - - 33 34
Parks, open space and streetscapes 5 - 117 119 322
Aerodromes 183 260 - - -
Other infrastructure 29 - 356 213 428
Total infrastructure 4,302 4,598 3,783 3,528 4,490
Total capital works expenditure 451 9,102 10,618 8,223 5,714 6,631

Represented by:

New asset expenditure 1,812 508 366 901 823
Asset renewal expenditure 5,663 7,947 7,857 4,813 5,808
Asset expansion expenditure - - - - -
Asset upgrade expenditure 1,627 2,163 - - -
Total capital works expenditure 451 9,102 10,618 8,223 5,714 6,631
Funding sources repr 1 by:

Grants 3,999 6,244 4,000 3,379 2,579
Contributions 345 - - - -
Council cash 4,758 3,874 2,873 2,335 4,052
Borrowings - 500 1,350 - -
Total capital works expenditure 451 9,102 10,618 8,223 5,714 6,631 -
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Statement of Human Resources
For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Forecast

Budget Projections

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Staff expenditure

Employee costs - operating 15,551 16,175 16,660 17,160 17,675

Employee costs - capital 739 1,365 1,406 1,449 1,492

Total staff expenditure 16,290 17,540 18,066 18,608 19,167
FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Staff numbers

Employees 157 157 154 155 155

Total staff numbers 157 157 154 155 155

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of Council is included below:

Comprises
Budget Permanent
Department Casual Temporary
2025/26 Full Time Part time
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Executive and Community Engagement 1,529 1,439 90 - -
Infrastructure Assets and Planning 5,274 4,354 920 - -
Community Wellbeing 6,467 1,984 2,471 2,012 -
Corporate Performance 2,905 2,360 545 - -
Total permanent staff expenditure 16,175 10,137 4,026 2,012 -
Capitalised labour costs 1,365
Total expenditure 17,540

A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above expenditure is included below:

Comprises
Department Budget Permanent
Casual Temporary
2025/26 Full Time Part time
Executive and Community Engagement 10 9 1 - -
Infrastructure Assets and Planning 69 55 14 - -
Community Wellbeing 52 20 30 2 -
Corporate Performance 26 19 7 - -
Total staff 157 104 51 2 -
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Summary of Planned Human Resources Expenditure
For the four years ending 30 June 2029

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Executive and Community Engagement
Permanent - Full time 1,439 1,482 1,627 1,572
Women 1,134 1,168 1,203 1,239
Men 305 314 324 333
Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0
Permanent - Part time 90 93 95 98
Women 90 93 95 98
Men 0 0 0 0
Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0
Total Executive and Community Engagement 1,529 1,575 1,622 1,671
Infrastructure Assets and Planning
Permanent - Full time 4,354 4,485 4,619 4,758
Women 1,030 1,061 1,093 1,126
Men 3,324 3,424 3,526 3,632
Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0
Permanent - Part time 920 948 976 1,005
Women 565 582 599 617
Men 355 366 377 388
Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0
Total Infrastructure Assets and Planning 5,274 5,432 5,595 5,763
Community Wellbeing
Permanent - Full time 1,984 2,044 2,105 2,168
Women 1,740 1,792 1,846 1,901
Men 122 126 129 133
Persons of self-described gender 122 126 129 133
Permanent - Part time 2,471 2,545 2,621 2,700
Women 2,296 2,365 2,436 2,509
Men 175 180 186 191
Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0
Total Community Wellbeing 4,455 4,589 4,726 4,868
Corporate Performance
Permanent - Full time 2,360 2,431 2,504 2,579
Women 1,825 1,880 1,936 1,994
Men 535 551 568 585
Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0
Permanent - Part time 545 561 578 596
Women 402 414 426 439
Men 143 147 152 156
Persons of self-described gender 0 0 0 0
Total Corporate Performance 2,905 2,992 3,082 3,174
Casuals, temporary and other expenditure 2,012 2,072 2,134 2,199
Capitalised labour costs 1,365 1,406 1,449 1,492
Total staff expenditure 17,540 18,066 18,608 19,167
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2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
FTE FTE FTE FTE
Executive and Community Engagement
Permanent - Full time 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0
Women 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Men 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Permanent - Part time 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7
Women 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7
Men 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Executive and Community Engagement 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7
Infrastructure Assets and Planning
Permanent - Full time 50.7 50.7 50.7 50.7
Women 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0
Men 40.7 40.7 40.7 40.7
Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Permanent - Part time 13.8 13.8 13.8 13.8
Women 8.2 8.2 8.2 8.2
Men 5.6 5.6 5.6 5.6
Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Infrastructure Assets and Planning 64.5 64.5 64.5 64.5
Community Wellbeing
Permanent - Full time 20.2 18.2 18.2 18.2
Women 17.2 17.2 17.2 17.2
Men 2.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Persons of self-described gender 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Permanent - Part time 29.5 29.5 29.5 29.5
Women 274 274 27.4 274
Men 2.1 21 2.1 21
Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Community Wellbeing 49.7 47.7 47.7 47.7
Corporate Performance
Permanent - Full time 19.2 19.2 19.2 19.2
Women 15.2 15.2 15.2 15.2
Men 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Permanent - Part time 71 71 71 71
Women 54 54 54 54
Men 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.7
Persons of self-described gender 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Corporate Performance 26.3 26.3 26.3 26.3
Casuals and temporary staff 1.8 1.5 1.5 1.5
Capitalised labour 4.8 4.8 4.9 5.0
Total staff numbers 157 154 155 155
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4. Notes to the financial statements

This section presents detailed information on material of the financial Council needs to assess which are material, idering the
dollar amounts and nature of these components.

4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement
4.1.1 Rates and charges

Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s budget.

As per the Local Government Act 2020, Council is required to have a Revenue and Rating Plan which is a four year plan for how Council will generate income to deliver the
Council Plan, program and services and capital works commitments over a four-year period.

In developing the Budget, rates and charges were identified as an important source of revenue. Planning for future rate increases has therefore been an important component
of the financial planning process. The Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) sets out the maximum amount councils may increase rates in a year. For 2025/26 the FGRS cap has
been set at 3.00%. The cap applies to both general rates and municipal charges and is calculated on the basis of council’'s average rates and charges.

The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to Council's other sources of income and the planned expenditure on services and
works to be undertaken for the community.

To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure program, the average general rate and the municipal charge will increase by
3.00% in line with the rate cap.

Waste costs are recovered on a cost neutral basis and an increase of 12% has been included in the 2025/26 budget. Waste charges do not form part of the rate cap as
outlined above.

This will raise total rates and charges for 2025/26 to $719.46m

4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income Statement is as follows:

2024/25 2025/26
Change
Forecast Budget
$°000 $°000 $°000

General rates* 12,166 12,596 430 3.53%
Municipal charge* 1,681 1,684 3 0.17%
Service rates and charges 4,502 5,036 534 11.87%
St y rates and rate adj * 0 140 140 100.00%
Interest on rates and charges 72 100 28 38.82%
Total rates and charges 18,421 19,556 1,135 6.16%

*These items are subject to the rate cap established under the FGRS
**Supplementary rates are raised each year with new or updated properties

4.1.1(b) The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act for each type or class of land compared with the previous
financial year

Type or class of la 202025 IS Change
cents/$CIV* cents/$CIV*
General rate for rateable residential properties - Maryborough* 0.003105 0.003270 5.31%
General rate for rateable residential properties - Other* 0.002807 0.002943 4.85%
General rate for rateable vacant land properties* 0.003943 0.004153 5.32%
General rate for rateable commercial properties - Maryborough* 0.004968 0.005232 5.31%
General rate for rateable commercial properties - Other* 0.004373 0.004415 0.97%
General rate for rateable industrial properties* 0.003416 0.003466 1.48%
General rate for rateable farm properties* 0.002484 0.002616 5.31%

*Rates in the dollar is subject to change based on final valuations. CIV was used for valuation basis.
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4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, and the estimated total amount to be raised by general rates,
compared with the previous financial year

Ty e R 2024/25 2025/26
$°000 $°000 %
Residential - Maryborough 4,617 4,738 120 2.61%
Residential - Other 2,828 3,014 186 6.57%
Vacant Land 613 625 12 1.95%
Commercial - Maryborough 820 856 36 4.45%
Commercial - Other 129 141 12 9.23%
Industrial 189 208 18 9.58%
Farm 2,857 3,015 158 5.52%
Total amount to be raised by general rates 12,054 12,596 542 4.50%

4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of assessments, compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land 20282 202nrae

Number Number Number %
Residential - Maryborough 4,133 4,174 4 0.99%
Residential - Other 2,399 2,413 14 0.58%
Vacant Land 874 858 - 16 -1.83%
Commercial - Maryborough 243 241 - 2 -0.82%
Commercial - Other 83 82 - 1 -1.20%
Industrial 114 114 - 0.00%
Farm 1,032 1,037 5 0.48%
Total number of assessments 8,878 8,919 41 0.46%

4.1.1(e) The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV)

4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land, compared with the previous financial year

2024/25 2025/26
Type or class of la
$°000 %
Residential - Maryborough 1,486,988 -2.57%
Residential - Other 1,007,445 1,024,017 16,572 1.64%
Vacant Land 155,534 150,555 - 4,979 -3.20%
Commercial - Maryborough 164,970 163,622 - 1,348 -0.82%
Commercial - Other 29,497 31,916 2,419 8.20%
Industrial 55,459 59,891 4,432 7.99%
Farm 1,150,273 1,152,474 2,201 0.19%
Total value of land 4,050,166 4,031,265 - 18,901 -0.47%

4.1.1(g) The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act compared with the previous financial year

Per Rateable Per Rateable
Property Property Change
2024/25 2025/26
$ $
Municipal 202 202 - 0.00%

Type of Charge

4.1.1(h) The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges compared with the previous financial year

2024/25 2025/26
$ $ %
Municipal 1,681 1,684 3 0.17%

'ype of Charge
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4.1.1(i) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of the Act compared with the previous financial year and detailed
disclosure of the actual service/s rendered for the amount levied

Per Rateable Per Rateable
Type of Charge Property Property Change
2024/25 2025/26
Standard Garbage Charge 202 203 1 0.50%
Non-Standard Garbage Charge 346 347 2 0.50%
Waste Management Fee 176 237 61 35.00%
Recycling Charge 181 182 1 0.50%
Green Waste Service (optional) 91 91 0 0.50%
Total 995 1,060 66 6.59%

4.1.1(j) The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the estimated total amount to be raised by service rates and charges, compared
with the previous financial year

Type of Charge 2024/25 2025/26 Change
$ $ $ %
Standard Garbage Charge 1,191 1,180 - " -0.95%
Non-Standard Garbage Charge 369 374 5 1.38%
Waste Management Fee 1,475 2,012 537 36.38%
Recycling Charge 1,243 1,259 16 1.25%
Green Waste Service (optional) 188 212 24 12.95%
Total 4,466 5,036 570 12.77%

4.1.1(k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous financial year

2024/25 2025/26 Change
$°000 $°000 $°000 %
Total amount to be raised by general rates 12,054 12,596 542 4.50%
Total amount to be raised by the municipal charge 1,681 1,684 3 0.17%
Total amount to be raised by waste charges 4,466 5,036 570 12.77%
Total Rates and charges 18,201 19,316 1,115 6.13%

4.1.1(l) Fair Go Rates System Compliance

Central Goldfields Shire Council is required to comply with the State Government's Fair Go Rates System (FGRS). The table below details the budget assumptions
consistent with the requirements of the Fair Go Rates System.

2024/25 2025/26

Total Rates $ 12,053,554 $ 12,595,895
Number of rateable properties 8,878 8,919
Base Average Rate $ 1,357.69 $ 1,412.25
Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government) 2.75% 3.00%
Capped Average Rate $ 1,547.03 $ 1,601.05
Maximum General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue $ 13,734,554 $ 14,279,767
Budgeted General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue $ 13,734,554 § 14,279,767
Budgeted Supplementary Rates $ 39 § 139,758
Budgeted Total Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue $ 13,734,593 § 14,419,525

4.1.1(m) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges

There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges. However, the total amount to be raised by rates and
charges may be affected by:

«  The making of y ions (2025/26: esti $139,758 and 2024/25: $39)
e The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals)

« Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa
* Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa.
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4.1.1(n) Differential rates

+ Residential Maryborough rate of 100% (0.3270 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable residential properties situated within the Maryborough District
boundary

+ Residential Other rate of 90% (0.2943 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable residential properties situated outside the Maryborough District
boundary

* Vacant Land rate of 127% (0.4153 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable vacant land properties

« Commercial Maryborough rate of 160% (0.5232 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable commercial properties situated within the Maryborough District
boundary

+ Commercial Other rate of 135% (0.4415 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable commercial properties situated outside the Maryborough District
boundary

« Industrial rate of 106% (0.3466 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable industrial properties

« Farm Land rate of 80% (0.2616 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable farm properties

4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines

Forecast Budget
2024/25 2025/26
$'000 $000

Infringements and costs* 56 55 - 0 -0.79%
Land Information and Building Certificate Fees 17 15 - 2 -11.86%
Permits** 117 97 - 21 -17.64%
Registrations 197 183 - 14 -1.27%
Town planning fees 176 161 - 15 -8.60%
Other 4 3 - 1 -32.28%
Total statutory fees and fines 568 514 - 54 -9.52%

*Increase in fines as per Domestic Animals Act 1994.
** Reduction in building permit applications.

4.1.3 User fees

Forecast Budget
2024/25 2025/26
$°000 $°000

Childcare* 471 642 171 36.29%
Caravan Park Fees 89 90 1 1.24%
Transfer Station** 109 109 - o -0.03%
VicRoads Agency 235 300 65 27.59%
Energy Breakthrough 166 172 7 3.93%
Hire Fees™* 76 95 19 24.89%
Immunisation 15 18 3 20.00%
Other 91 100 9 9.89%
Total user fees 1,252 1,527 274 21.91%

* Family Day Care service ceased and Child Care Centre service reviewed
** Two new revenue stream - Transfer Station Scrap Metal and Container Deposit Scheme
*** Tullaroop Leisure Centre Hire Fees
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4.1.4 Grants

Grants are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council's budget.

Forecast Budget

2024/25 2025/26
$000 $000

Grants were received in respect of the following:
Summary of grants

Commonwealth funded grants 11,378 12,418 1,040 9%
State funded grants 4,470 3,486 - 984 -22%
Total grants received 15,848 15,905 57 0%
(a) Operating Grants
-C

Financial Assistance Grants 5,139 5,598 458 9%
Family and Children 1,721 2,521 801 47%
Recurrent - State Government

Community 12 - - 12 -100%
Community Safety 256 153 - 103 -40%
Family and Children 581 369 - 211 -36%
Library 165 165 - 0%
MCH 419 330 - 89 -21%
School Crossing 55 55 - 0%
Youth 141 86 - 56 -40%
Total recurrent grants 8,489 9,277 788 9%
Non-recurrent - State Government

Community 837 333 - 504 -60%
Family and children 9 49 40 472%
Flood 366 = 366 -100%
Go Goldfields 197 - - 197 -100%
Library 75 S - 75 -100%
Youth 83 2] - 81 -98%
Total non-recurrent grants 1,566 384 - 1,182 -75%
Total operating grants 10,055 9,661 - 394 -4%

(b) Capital Grants

- Ci

Roads to recovery 726 1,263 537 74%
Local Roads and Community Infrastructure 1,412 - - 1,412 -100%
Total recurrent grants 2,138 1,263 - 875 -41%
N -C

Aerodrome 30 85 55 187%
Deledio Recreation Reserve Pavilion 1,000 1,000 100%
Flood Works 950 300 - 650 -68%
Safer Local Roads and Infrastructure Program (SLRIP) 768 768 100%
TAC Road Safety Program 1,400 883 - 517 -37%
Non-recurrent - State Government

Carisbrook Drainage Mitigation Levee 92 - - 92 -100%
Compost SV 22 - - 22 -100%
Deledio Recreation Reserve Pavilion 200 900 700 350%
Dogpark - 100 100 100%
Energy Breakthrough 106 - - 106 -100%
Goldfields Reservoir BBQ 82 7 - 76 -92%
Goldfields Reservoir Dam Stabilisation 259 - - 259 -100%
Heritage Works 240 = 240 -100%
Maryborough Tennis Centre Court Redevelopment 23 240 217 943%
Princes Park Cricket Wicket Rebuild - 140 140 100%
Rural Council Transformation Program 2 - - 2 -100%
Regional Community Sports Infrastructure Round 2 - 300 300 100%
Tiny Towns 249 258 9 4%
Total non-recurrent grants 3,655 4,981 1,325 36%
Total capital grants 5,793 6,244 451 8%
Total Grants 15,848 15,905 57 0%
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4.1.5 Contributions

Forecast Budget
Change
2024/25 2025/26
$°000 $°000
Monetary* 291 204 - 87 -29.80%
Total contributions 291 204 - 87 -29.80%

*New kindergarten contribution.

4.1.6 Other income

Forecast Budget
Change
2024/25 2025/26
$000 $°000

Energy (D y fees)* 151 146 - 5 -3.50%
Interest 65 80 15 23.90%
Other 6 3 - 3 -47.66%
Volunteer Services™ 504 411 - 93 -18.43%
Rental 19 30 11 56.85%
Total other income 744 670 - 75 -10.03%

* Increased sponsorship for the Energy Breakthrough event.

** No further funding for the L2P program and the reduced revenue for the Aged Care volunteer service.

4.1.7 Employee costs

Forecast Budget
Change
2024/25 2025/26
$'000 $°000

Wages and salaries 12,240 13,245 1,005.25 8.21%
WorkCover 891 765 (126.26) -14.17%
Superannuation 1,703 1,553 (149.99) -8.81%
Long Service Leave 179 162 (17.22) -9.62%
Volunteer Services 468 380 (88.32) -18.86%
Fringe Benefits Tax 69 70 0.57 0.82%
Total employee costs 15,551 16,175 624.04 4.01%

4.1.8 Materials and services

Forecast Budget
Change
2024/25 2025/26
$'000 $'000

Contractors* 8,180 7,929 - 251 -3.07%
Materials™ 2,717 2,169 - 548 -20.17%
Event Support, grants and contributions** 1,109 798 - 311 -28.02%
Total materials and services 12,006 10,896 - 1,110 -9.24%

* Decrease in both Contractor and Materials due to the removal of election expenses, external IT support to be performed in-house and reduced IT

software, licensing and communication expenditure.

**Grant funded operating projects completed, Healthy Loddon, Go Goldfields, Land Use Framework, L2P Program, Live4Life Program, Vichealth LG

Partnership.

4.1.9 Depreciation

Forecast
2024/25
$°000

Property* 1,402 1,638 236 16.81%
Plant & equipment** 412 800 388 94.04%
Infrastructure 6,273 6,577 304 4.84%
Furniture, Fixtures and Fittings*** 252 76 - 176 -70.00%
Total depreciation 8,340 9,090 751 9.00%

* Comprehensive revaluation to be undertaken for property in the
2025/26 financial year.

** Increase due to reviewed of expected life in Jun 2024 plus new asset purchased and capitalised

*** Majority asset fully depreciated in financial year 2024/25

4.1.10 Depreciation - Right of use assets

Forecast Budget
Change
2024/25 2025/26
$°000 $°000
Right of use assets 61 61 - 0.00%
Total depreciation - right of use assets 61 61 - 0.00%

4.1.11 Other expenses

Forecast Budget
2024/25 2025/26
$°000 $°000
Councillor allowances and expenses 272 356 85 31.08%
Auditor remuneration - internal auditor 32 50 18 54.80%
Auditor remuneration - external auditor 50 60 10 20.00%
Total other expenses 354 466 112 31.68%
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4.2 Balance Sheet
4.2.1 Assets

Overall the total assets in the Balance Sheet are expected to increase each year due to a large capital works program budget in 2024/25 and further delivered in 2025/26,

offset by the impact of depreciation. The split between current and non current assets is expected to widen as the funds received for capital works projects are spent. Rate

capping and its impacts on the balance sheet can be seen here with the reduction in cash. It is anticipated that the ongoing cost of living concerns will continue into 2026/27,
by ani ing trend in trade i but then begin to subside following this.

4.2.2 Liabilities

Included in Council's liabilities is the anticipated borrowings which have been budgeted to be taken in 2025/26 and the balance in 2026/27. The increase in trade payables is
expected to be greater at the end of 2024/25 year, with a number of projects due for completion in June, and supplier due in July ing a
liability at year end).

4.2.3 Borrowings

The table below shows i ion on i i required by the Regulations.

Forecast Budget Projections

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

$

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year 2,089 2,089 2,489 3,589 3,204
Amount proposed to be borrowed - 500 1,350 - -
‘Amount projected to be redeemed - - 100 - 250 - 385 - 385
Amount of borrowings as at 30 June 2,089 2,489 3,589 3,204 2,819
‘Amount (of opening balance) to be refinanced - 2,089 - - -

4.2.4 Leases by category
As a result of the introduction of AASB 16 Leases, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been recognised as outlined in the table below.

Forecast Budget

2024/25 2025/26
$

Right-of-use assets

Land and Buildings 475 475
IT Equipment 78 78
Total right-of-use assets 553 553

Lease liabilities
Current lease Liabilities

Land and Buildings 52 52

IT Equipment 9 9

Total current lease liabi 61 61
Non-current lease liabilities

Land and Buildings 218 157

IT Equipment - -

Total non-current lease liabilities 218 157
Total lease liabilities 279 218

Where the interest rate applicable to a lease is not expressed in the lease agreement, Council applies the average incremental borrowing rate in the calculation of lease
liabilities. The current incremental borrowing rate is 5.01%.
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4.3 Statement of changes in Equity

4.3.1 Reserves

Council's asset revaluation reserve has a budgeted movement to account for indexation as well as full r ions. Each class of asset is subject to a full
revaluation every four years with an indexation revaluation undertaken in the other years. History has shown that a large increase in Infrastructure assets is seen when a full
revaluation is undertaken. This has been taken into account in the 2025/26 year.

4.3.2 Equity
The movement in the statement of equity relates to the budgeted comprehensive result for the period.

4.4 Statement of Cash Flows

4.4.1 Net cash flows provided by/used in operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities are considerably higher in the 2025/26 budget than in future years, due to the significant level of capital grants income and borrowing
budgeted for in this year.

4.4.2 Net cash flows provided by/used in investing activities

Cash flows used in investing activities are considerably higher in the 2025/26 budget than in future years due to the significant level of grant-funded capital works budgeted
for in this year.

4.4.3 Net cash flows provided by/used in financing activities

Cash flows from financing activities takes into account the intended borrowings in the 2025/26 years.
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4.5 Capital works program

This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2025/26 year, classified by expenditure type and funding source. Works are also disclosed as current budget or carried forward from prior year.

4.5.1 Summary

Forecast Budget
Change
2024/25 2025/26
$°000 $°000 $°000

Property 5,388 5,448 60 1.10%
Plant and equipment 2,120 573 - 1,547 -72.98%
Infrastructure 6,445 4,598 - 1,847 -28.66%
Total 13,953 10,618 - 3,335 -23.90%

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
Project Cost . o . .
Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contributions Council cash Borrowings
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Property 5,448 358 4,449 641 - 2,945 - 2,003 500
Plant and equipment 573 150 - 423 - - - 573 -
Infrastructure 4,598 - 3,498 1,100 - 3,299 - 1,299 -
Total 10,618 508 7,947 2,163 - 6,244 - 3,874 500

Council will be undertaking $10.588 miilion of Capital Works projects during the 2025/26 financial year, with $4.267 million of newly committed projects. $6.321 million of the total expenditure relates to
project funds that are expected to be carried forward from the 2024/25 financial year.

Of the capital works budget, 95 per cent has been allocated to renewing and upgrading Council's existing infrastructure.
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4.5.2 Current Budget

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
Project Cost
Capital Works Area Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contributions Council cash Borrowings
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $'000 $'000
PROPERTY
Land Improvements
Swimming Pool Renewal 30 - 30 - - - - 30 -
Swimming Pool Reconstruction Stage 1 450 - 450 - - 300 - 150 -
Landfill works 100 - 100 - - - - 100 -
Transfer Station Infrastructure Upgrade 50 - - 50 - - - 50 -
Dog Park 100 100 - - - 100 - - -
Athletic Track Remediation 30 - 30 - - - - 30 -
Buildings
Building Renewal - Re-active 75 - 75 - - - - 75 -
Building Renewal - Planned 134 - 134 - - - - 134 -
Public Conveniences - Toilet and BBQ 30 - - 30 - - - 30 -
TOTAL PROPERTY 999 100 819 80 - 400 - 599 -
Computers and Telecommunications
PC Hardware 50 50 - - - - - 50 -
Business System Uplift 100 100 - - - - - 100 -
TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 150 150 - - - - - 150 -

129 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

Project Cost

Asset expenditure types

Summary of Funding Sources

Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Grants Contributions Council cash Borrowings
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $'000
INFRASTRUCTURE
Roads
Design Capital Works 75 - 75 - - 75
Road to Recovery 1,295 - 1,295 - 1,263 32
Clunes Mt Cameron Rd - SLRIP 768 - 768 - 768 -
Major Patches 100 - 100 - - 100
Seals Renewal Reseals 450 - 450 - - 450
Seals Renewal Asphalt 100 - 100 - - 100
Sealed Road Shoulders Renewal 100 - 100 - - 100
Aerodromes
Aerodrome Regional Airport Program Round 4 170 - 170 - 85 85
Aerodrome Regional Airport - audit recommendation 90 - 90 - - 90
TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE 3,148 - 3,148 - 2,116 1,032
TOTAL NEW CAPITAL WORKS 4,297 250 3,967 80 2,516 1,781
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4.5.3 Works carried forward from the 2024/25 year

Project Cost

Asset expenditure types

Summary of Funding Sources

Capital Works Area Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contributions Council cash Borrowings
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $'000 $'000

PROPERTY
Land Improvements
Deledio Recreation Reserve - Pavilion Upgrade 2,900 - 2,900 - - 1,900 - 500 500
Goldfields Reservoir Dam Stabilisation 500 - 500 - - - - 500 -
g:‘%tl);)[:z:egrz Tennis Centre Multi Use Courts 523 R B 523 R 240 R 283 ;
Sport and Recreation Lighting Audit 70 - 70 - - - - 70 -
Goldfields Reservoir BBQ Upgrade 18 - - 18 - 7 - 1 -
Castlemaine Maryborough Rail Trail 20 - - 20 - - - 20 -
Princes Park Cricket Wicket Rebuild Project 160 - 160 - - 140 - 20 -
Buildings
Tiny Towns (various projects) 258 258 - - - 258 - - -
TOTAL PROPERTY 4,449 258 3,630 561 - 2,545 - 1,404 500
Computers and Telecommunications
Rural Council Transformation Program (RCTP) 423 - - 423 - - - 423 -
TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 423 - - 423 - - - 423 -

Project Cost

Asset expenditure types

Summary of Funding Sources

Capital Works Area Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contributions Council cash Borrowings
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $! $'000

INFRASTRUCTURE
Roads
TAC Road Safety Program 1,100 - - 1,100 - 883 - 217 -
Bridges
Betterment bridges and culverts 350 - 350 - - 300 - 50 -
TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE 1,450 - 350 1,100 - 1,183 - 267 -
TOTAL CARRIED FORWARD CAPITAL WORKS 2024/25 6,321 258 3,980 2,083 - 3,728 - 2,094 500
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Summary of Planned Capital Works Expenditure
For the years ending 30 June 2027, 2028 & 2029

Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources
New Renewal Expansion Upgrade Grants Contributions Council Cash Borrowings

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Property
Land improvements 2,918 0 2,918 0 0 2,918 1,000 0 568 1,350
Total Land 2,918 0 2,918 0 0 2,918 1,000 0 568 1,350
Buildings 1,156 0 1,156 0 0 1,156 1,000 0 156 0
Total Buildings 1,156 0 1,156 0 0 1,156 1,000 0 156 0
Total Property 4,074 0 4,074 0 0 4,074 2,000 0 724 1,350
Plant and Equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 139 139 0 0 0 139 0 0 139 0
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 227 227 0 0 0 227 0 0 227 0
Total Plant and Equipment 366 366 0 0 0 366 0 0 366 0
Infrastructure
Roads 2,350 0 2,350 0 0 2,350 1,500 0 850 0
Bridges 441 0 441 0 0 441 300 0 141 0
Footpaths and cycleways 192 0 192 0 0 192 0 0 192 0
Drainage 327 0 327 0 0 327 200 0 127 0
Parks, open space and streetscapes 117 0 117 0 0 117 0 0 117 0
Other infrastructure 356 0 356 0 0 356 0 0 356 0
Total Infrastructure 3,783 0 3,783 0 0 3,783 2,000 0 1,783 0
Total Capital Works Expenditure 8,223 366 7,857 0 0 8,223 4,000 0 2,873 1,350
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Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources
New Renewal Expansion Upgrade Grants Contributions Council Cash Borrowings

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Property
Land improvements 814 0 814 0 0 814 500 0 314 0
Total Land 814 0 814 0 0 814 500 0 314 0
Buildings 471 0 471 0 0 471 300 0 171 0
Total Buildings 471 0 471 0 0 471 300 0 171 0
Total Property 1,285 0 1,285 0 [ 1,285 800 0 485 0
Plant and Equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 461 461 0 0 0 461 0 0 461 0
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 440 440 0 0 0 440 258 0 182 0
Total Plant and Equipment 901 901 0 0 0 901 258 0 643 0
Infrastructure
Roads 2,608 0 2,608 0 0 2,608 2,079 0 529 0
Bridges 117 0 117 0 0 117 0 0 117 0
Footpaths and cycleways 196 0 196 0 0 196 0 0 196 0
Drainage 242 0 242 0 0 242 242 0 0 0
Waste management 33 0 33 0 0 33 0 0 33 0
Parks, open space and streetscapes 119 0 119 0 0 119 0 0 119 0
Other infrastructure 213 0 213 0 0 213 0 0 213 0
Total Infrastructure 3,528 0 3,528 0 0 3,528 2,321 0 1,207 0
Total Capital Works Expenditure 5,714 901 4,813 0 0 5,714 3,379 0 2,335 0
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Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources
New Renewal Expansion Upgrade Grants Contributions Council Cash Borrowings

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Property
Land improvements 291 0 291 0 0 291 200 0 91 0
Total Land 291 0 291 0 0 291 200 0 91 0
Buildings 1,027 0 1,027 0 0 1,027 800 0 227 0
Total Buildings 1,027 0 1,027 [ 0 1,027 800 0 227 0
Total Property 1,318 0 1,318 0 0 1,318 1,000 0 318 0
Plant and Equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 378 378 0 0 0 378 0 0 378 0
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 445 445 0 0 0 445 0 0 445 0
Total Plant and Equipment 823 823 0 0 0 823 0 0 823 0
Infrastructure
Roads 2,457 0 2,457 0 0 2,457 1,579 0 878 0
Bridges 461 0 461 0 0 461 0 0 461 0
Footpaths and cycleways 200 0 200 0 0 200 0 0 200 0
Drainage 588 0 588 0 0 588 0 0 588 0
Waste management 34 0 34 0 0 34 0 0 34 0
Parks, open space and streetscapes 322 0 322 0 0 322 0 0 322 0
Other infrastructure 428 0 428 0 0 428 0 0 428 0
Total Infrastructure 4,490 0 4,490 0 0 4,490 1,579 0 2,911 0
Total Capital Works Expenditure 6,631 823 5,808 0 0 6,631 2,579 0 4,052 0
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5a. Targeted performance indicators

The following tables highlight Council’s current and projected performance across a selection of targeted service and financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a useful analysis of Council’s intentions and

performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives.
The targeted performance indicators below are the prescribed performance indicators contained in Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 . Results against these indicators and targets
will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the Annual Report.

Targeted performance indicators - Service

Actual Forecast Target Target Projections Trend

0

" Q
Indicator Measure °
z

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 +lol-

Governance

Consultation and engagement 2 o l;,ltw“h Inity const 1 and
(Council decisions made and implemented with ~ egagement ) 1 48.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% °
community input) Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with the

consultation and engagement efforts of Council

Roads
- Sealed local roads below the intervention level
Condition Number of kms of sealed local roads below the renewal
(sealed local roads are maintained at the adopted . N . 99.11% 99.00% 99.00% 99.00% 99.00% 99.00% o
L intervention level set by Council / Kms of sealed local
condition standard)
roads
Statutory planning
Planning applications decided within the relevant
Service standard required time
(planning application processing and decisions are  Number of planning application decisions made within 3 30.43% 32.00% 32.00% 33.00% 34.00% 35.00% o
in accordance with legislative requirements) the relevant required time / Number of planning
application decisions made
Waste management
. . Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill
Waste diversion Weight of recyclables and green organics collected
(amount of waste diverted from landfill is N ¢ 9 g 4 45.29% 47.00% 47.00% 47.00% 48.00% 49.00% o

from kerbside bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables and

maximised) green organics collected from kerbside bins
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Targeted performance indicators - Financial

Actual Forecast Target Target Projections Trend

1]

" [
Indicator Measure s
z

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 +lol-

Liquidity

Working Capital Current assets compared to current liabilities

(sufficient working capital is available to pay bills as M 5 35.04% 70.10% 82.87% 100.80% 116.50% 114.98% o
and when they fall due) Current assets / current liabilities
Obligations
Asset renewal Asset r | pared to depr
Asset renewal and upgrade expense / Asset 6 154.30% 87.42% 111.22% 78.93% 44.16% 48.66% -
(assets are renewed as planned) depreciation
Stability
Rates copcentratlon Rates compared 'to adjusted u.nderlylng revenue 7 58.41% 58.77% 60.86% 60.87% 60.88% 60.90% °
(revenue is generated from a range of sources) Rate revenue / adjusted underlying revenue
Efficiency
Expenditure level Expenses per property assessment
(resources are used efficiently in the delivery of P per property 8 $4,428 $4,081 $ 4125 $4,316 $4,522 $4,737 +

- Total expenses / no. of property assessments
services) P property
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5b. Financial performance indicators

The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a useful analysis of Council’s financial position and performance and
should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives.

The financial performance indicators below are the prescribed financial performance indicators contained in Part 3 of Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 . Results against these
indicators will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the Annual Report.

Actual
2023/24

Forecast Trend

2024/25

Budget
2025/26

Projections

Indicator Measure

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 +lol-

Operating position
Adjusted underlying result

Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)

(an adjusted underlying surplus is generated in the  Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / Adjusted 9 -30.28% -16.17% -14.53% -16.37% -18.41% -20.45%

ordinary course of business) underlying revenue

Liquidity

Unrestricted cash . SN

(sufficient cash that is free of restrictions is available UnTeStricted cash compared to current liabilities 31% -15% 8% 26% 43% 42%
. Unrestricted cash / current liabilities

to pay bills as and when they fall due)

Obligations

Loans and borrowings

(level oflnterest be?rlng loans and borrowm'g.s is Loans and blorrowmgs compargd to rates 1 12% 1% 11% 12% 17% 15%

appropriate to the size and nature of Council's Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate revenue

activities)

Loans and borrowings Loans and borrowings repayments compared to

(level oflnterest be;fmng loans and borromngs is rates o ) ) 0.53% 0.55% 0.56% 0.62% 0.83% 0.83%

appropriate to the size and nature of Council's Interest and principal repayments on interest bearing

activities) loans and borrowings / rate revenue

Indebtedness Non-current liabilities compared to own-source

(level of long term liabilities is appropriate to the revenue 2.40% 21.66% 20.56% 21.74% 25.78% 23.63%

size and nature of a Council's activities) Non-current liabilities / own source revenue

Stability

Rates effort Rates compared to property values

(rating level is set based on the community's Rate revenue / CIV of rateable properties in the 12 0.42% 0.45% 0.49% 0.50% 0.49% 0.47%

capacity to pay) municipal district

Efficiency

Revenue level Average rate per property assessment

(resources are used efficiently in the delivery of General rates and municipal charges / no. of property 13 $1,513 $1,560 $1,601 $1,649 $1,699 $1,750

services)

assessments

Sustainability Capacity

Key to Forecast Trend:

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator
o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady
- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator
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Notes to indicators

5a

1.  Satisfaction with community consultation and engagement

Council has used the average result for small rural councils as the basis for this target

2. Sealed local roads below the intervention level

Council intends to maintain a good level of road condition with the support of grant funded programs

3. Planning applications decided within the relevant required time

Council intends to increase current servicing levels, noting the resourcing constraints

4. Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill

An improvement from previous years results with legislated changes to waste collection, don’t anticipate further changes

5. Working Capital

It is a continuous challenge for Council to ensure working capital is kept above 100% and the long term challenges of rate capping and

debt collection legislation impact this position.

6. Asset renewal

Asset renewal is anticipated to decrease from 2026/27 onwards. A conservative approach has been taken to capital grant funding which

impacts the upgrade and renewal capacity of Council.

7. Rates concentration

A conservative approach to capital grant funding results in rate revenue accounting for a higher percentage of revenue, showing an

slight increase in rates concentration over the coming 4 years

8. Expenditure level

Total expenses is anticipated to decrease in the 2025/26 year, however this is forecast to continually increase over the outer years with CPI increases which impact Council. The number of assessments has not increased for the
purposes of this KPI in the forecast years

5b

9. Adjusted underlying result

Council continues to review the long term impact of decision making on the adjusted underlying result. The impact of rate capping and increases in cost of materials is anticipated to continue to impact this resuilt.
10. Unrestricted Cash

The impact of rate capping as well as a conservative approach taken to capital grant funding has meant the expectation of Council to self fund capital works at a higher rate, resulting in a decrease in unrestricted cash.

1. Debt compared to rates
Council intends to borrow funds in both the 2025/26 and 2026/27 financial years which have been taken into account in forecasted ratios
12, Rates effort

The 2025/26 CIV for Central Goldfields Shire has decreased on the 2024/25 year, for the 2nd year in a row. This represents a plateu in valuations following multiple years of large increases. It is anticipated that the year on year
valuations increase at much more moderate levels.

13. Revenue level
Council intends has put on hold to apply for a rate cap variation for the 2025/26 financial year as the reduction in waste charges was a ministerial guidelines.
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6. Schedule of Fees and Charges

This appendix presents the fees and charges of a statutory/non-statutory nature which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the 2025/26 financial year.
Fees and charges are based on information available at the time of publishing and may vary during the financial year subject to any changes in Council's policy or legislation.

Fee Increase Fee Increase

o : 2024/25 2025/26 .
Description of Fees and Charges Unit of Measure GST Status / (Decrease) |/ (Decrease) Basis of Fee
$ %

Art Gallery
Special Gallery Exhibitions Per person Taxable POA POA| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
School Holiday Children's Workshop Fees Per workshop Taxable POA POA| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Animal Management
Dog Registration — Animal either neutered, over 10 years old,
working stock, breeding stock at registered business or Per dog Non -Taxable | $ 42.00 $ 44.00| $ 2.00 4.8% Statutory
obedience trained
Pensioner Dog Registration — Animal either neutered, over 10
years old, working stock, breeding stock at registered Per dog Non -Taxable | $ 21.00| $ 22.00| $ 1.00 4.8% Statutory
business or obedience trained
Cat Regilstration - Animlal either nelutered, over 10 years old Per cat Non -Taxable | $ 42.00( $ 44.00] $ 2.00 4.8% Statutory
or breeding stock at registered business.
Pensioner Cat Registration —Animal either ngutered, over 10 Per cat Non -Taxable | $ 21.00| $ 22.00] s 1.00 4.8% Statutory
years old or breeding stock at registered business
Dog Registration Per dog Non -Taxable | $ 126.00[ $ 132.00( $ 6.00 4.8% Statutory
Pensioner Dog Registration Per dog Non -Taxable | $ 63.00[ $ 66.00| $ 3.00 4.8% Statutory
Cat Registration Per cat Non -Taxable | $ 126.00( $ 132.00] $ 6.00 4.8% Statutory
Pensioner Cat Registration Per cat Non -Taxable | $ 63.00| $ 66.00{ $ 3.00 4.8% Statutory
Replacement Registration Tag Per tag Taxable $ -1 $ 5.00| $ 5.00 100.0% Non-statutory
Micro chipping Per animal Taxable $ 47.00| $ 50.00| $ 3.00 6.4% Statutory
Permit for more than 2 dogs (per annum) Per permit Taxable $ 47.00[ $ 50.00| $ 3.00 6.4% Statutory
Domestic Animal Business Registration (DAB) Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 279.00 $ 288.00| $ 9.00 3.2% Statutory
Pound release fee Per dog and cat Taxable $ 47.00 $ 49.00| $ 2.00 4.3% Statutory
Pound release per day Per dog and cat Taxable $ 16.00( $ 19.00| $ 3.00 18.8% Statutory
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2024/25 2025/26 Fee Increase Fee Increase

Description of Fees and Charges Unit of Measure GST Status / (Decrease) /(Decrease) Basis of Fee

$ %

Pound release fee (Stock & other) Per animal Taxable $ 115.00( $ 118.50( $ 3.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Pound release fee (Stock & other) Per animal per day Taxable $ 24.00[ $ 25.00| $ 1.00 4.2% Non-statutory
Pound release (previously impounded) Per dog or cat Taxable $ -l $ 70.00| $ 70.00 100.0% Non-statutory
Adoption Fee (Female Dogs) Per animal Taxable $ 490.00 $ 505.00| $ 15.00 3.1% Non-statutory
Adoption Fee (Male Dogs) Per animal Taxable $ 365.00| $ 376.00| $ 11.00 3.0% Non-statutory
Adoption Fee (Female Cats) Per animal Taxable $ 250.00 $ 258.00( $ 8.00 3.2% Non-statutory
Adoption Fee (Male Cats) Per animal Taxable $ 180.00| $ 185.40( $ 5.40 3.0% Non-statutory
Animal Surrender Fee (unregistered) Per animal Taxable $ -l $ 50.00| $ 50.00 100.0% Non-statutory
Airport

Site Leases Per site Taxable Market Rate Market Rate| $- 0.0% Non-statutory
Asset Management

Wood collection fee — per m3 Per m3 Non -Taxable | $ 24.00] $ 25.00| $ 1.00 4.2% Non-statutory
Pensioner Concession Wood collection fee — per m3 Per m3 Non -Taxable | $ 12.00( $ 12.00( $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Consent for excavation works Per permit Non -Taxable | $ 173.00( $ 178.00( $ 5.00 2.9% Non-statutory
Vehicle crossing fee Per permit Non -Taxable | $ 150.00( $ 155.00| $ 5.00 3.3% Non-statutory
General road occupation Per permit Non -Taxable | $ 110.00| $ 113.00[ $ 3.00 2.7% Non-statutory
Construction road occupation fee - First week Per week Non -Taxable | $ 110.00( $ 113.00] $ 3.00 2.7% Non-statutory
Construction road occupation fee - after one week Per week Non -Taxable | $ 53.00( $ 55.00| $ 2.00 3.8% Non-statutory
Tree Planting fee Per permit Taxable $ 185.00| $ 191.00| $ 6.00 3.2% Non-statutory
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$ %

Building
Building Information Fee Per statement Non -Taxable | $ 52.09| $ 53.66| $ 1.56 3.0% Statutory
Stormwater legal point of discharge Per permit Non -Taxable | $ 159.54 $ 238.34| $ 78.80 49.4% Statutory
Report and Consent 132(1), 134(2), 153(2) and Part 6 or 10 |Per report Non -Taxable | $ 320.23| $ 329.84| $ 9.61 3.0% Statutory
Report and Consent - Siting Per report Non -Taxable | $ 448.20 $ 461.71| $ 13.51 3.0% Statutory
Lodgement Fee Per lodgement Non -Taxable | $ 134.40( $ 138.43| $ 4.03 3.0% Statutory
Class 1 Dwelling - value $0-$5,000 Per lodgement Taxable $ 580.00| $ 610.00| $ 30.00 5.2% Non-statutory
Class 1 Dwelling - value $5,001-$40,000 Per lodgement Taxable $ 1,210.00 $ 1,246.00( $ 36.00 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 1 Dwelling - value $40,001-$80,000 Per lodgement Taxable $ 1,590.00| $ 1,637.70| $ 47.70 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 1 Dwelling - value $80,001-$100,000 Per lodgement Taxable $ 1,970.00 $ 2,029.10| $ 59.10 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 1 Dwelling - value $100,001-$200,000 Per lodgement Taxable $ 2,150.00| $ 2,214.00] $ 64.00 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 1 Dwelling - value $200,001-$400,000 Per lodgement Taxable $ 3,230.00| $ 3,326.90| $ 96.90 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 1 Dwelling - value $400,001-$600,000 Per lodgement Taxable $ 4,845.00| $ 4,990.35| $ 145.35 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 1 Dwelling - value $600,001-$800,000 Per lodgement Taxable $ 6,460.00( $ 6,653.00] $§ 193.00 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 1 Dwelling - value $800,001 and above Per lodgement Taxable $ 8,075.00| $ 8,317.25| $§ 24225 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 10A Buildings (Sheds, pools, fences and retaining . o ~
walls) value $0 - $5,000 Per permit Taxable $ 580.00| $ 610.00| $ 30.00 5.2% Non-statutory
Class 10A Buildings (Sheds, pools, fences and retaining . o ~
walls) value $5.001 - $10,000 Per permit Taxable $ 685.00| $ 720.00] $ 35.00 5.1% Non-statutory
Class 10A Buildings (Sheds, pools, fences and retaining . o ~
walls) value $10,001-$20,000 Per permit Taxable $ 805.00| $ 845.00| $ 40.00 5.0% Non-statutory
Class 10A Buildings (Sheds, pools, fences and retaining . o ~
walls) value $20,001 + Per permit Taxable $ 1,210.00| $ 1,270.00| $ 60.00 5.0% Non-statutory
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Class 2-9 Construction and Demolition and Change of Use AIBS Formula|  AIBS Formula o
(POA) - Owner Builder Per lodgement Taxable will apply will apply| $ - 0.0% Non Statutory
Class 2-9 Construction and Demolition and Change of Use AIBS Formula|  AIBS Formula o
(POA) - Registered Builder Per lodgement Taxable will apply will apply $ - 0.0% Non Statutory
Change of Use Class 1 and 10 Per lodgement Taxable $ 682.50 $ 680.00| $ (2.50) -0.4% Non Statutory
Eﬁiﬂﬁ:ﬁﬁg Current Building Permits (all Permits & Per lodgement Taxable | § 450.00| $ 475003 2500| 56% | Non Statutory
Renewal of Expired Permit Per lodgement Taxable $ 650.00 $ 680.00| $ 30.00 4.6% Non Statutory
Redline report liquor licence Per licence Taxable $ 470.00 $ 490.00 $ 20.00 4.3% Non Statutory
Building inspections Per inspection Taxable $ 300.00| $ 315.00| $ 15.00 5.0% Non Statutory
Demolition Class 1 Per permit Taxable $ 1,000.00f $ 1,050.00| $ 50.00 5.0% Non Statutory
Demoltion Class 10 per permit Taxable $ 600.00| $ 630.00]| $ 30.00 5.0% Non Statutory
Minor Amendment of existing Building Permit per request Taxable $ 240.00| $ 250.00| $ 10.00 4.2% Non Statutory
Major Amendment of existing Building Permit Per permit Taxable $ 600.00| $ 630.00| $ 30.00 5.0% Non Statutory
1.5 times 1.5 times
lllegal building work Per permit Taxable building permit|  building permit| $ - 0.0% Non Statutory
fee fee
Restump/Reblock Building Permit Per permit Taxable $ 1,000.00| $ 1,050.00| $ 50.00 5.0% Non Statutory
ESM report Per report Taxable $ 600.00 $ 630.00| $ 30.00 5.0% Non Statutory
Title search Per search Taxable $ 80.00 $ 85.00| $ 5.00 6.3% Non-statutory
Archive Document Retrieval - On Site Per retrieval Taxable $60.00 $65.00| $ 5.00 8.3% Non-statutory
Archive Document Retrieval - Off Site Per retrieval Taxable $190.00 $200.00| $ 10.00 5.3% Non-statutory
Swimming pool or spa registration Per pool or spa Non -Taxable | $ 35.11| $ 36.16] $ 1.05 3.0% Statutory
Swimming pool or spa registration - Compliance Cerificate Per certificate | Non -Taxable | $ 2254| § 2321[s  o68| 3.0% Statutory
Lodgement
Swimming pool or spa registration - Certificate of Per certificate | Non -Taxable | $ 42458 $ 43732|$ 1274 3.0% Statutory
Noncompliance Lodgement
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FRV report and consent comments Per request Non -Taxable | $ $ $ Non-statutory
Demolition Consent - Section 29A (for complete or partial dem Per request Non -Taxable | $ 95.00 $ 96.71| $ 1.71 1.8% Non-statutory
Place of Public Occupation (POPE) per application Taxable $ 591.00| $ 650.00| $ 59.00 10.0% Non-statutory
Prescribed Temp Structures - Siting per application Taxable $ 400.00 $ 440.00( $ 40.00 10.0% Non-statutory
Occupation of Temp Structures per application Taxable $ 225.00f $ 235.00| $ 10.00 4.4% Non-statutory
Alternative Performance Solutions per application Taxable $ 600.00 $ 630.00| $ 30.00 5.0% Non-statutory
Caravan Park Registrations

Registration Application Fees less than 26 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 27761 $ 285.94| $ 8.33 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 26 and 50 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 555.22| $ 571.88| $ 16.66 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 51 and 100 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 1,110.44| $ 1,143.75| $ 33.31 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 101 and 150 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 1,681.99| $ 1,732.45| $ 50.46 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 151 and 200 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 2,237.21| $ 2,304.33| $ 67.12 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 201 and 250 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 2,79243( $ 2,876.20| $ 83.77 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 251 and 300 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 3,347.65[ $ 3,448.08| $  100.43 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 301 and 350 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 3,919.20| $ 4,036.78| $ 117.58 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 351 and 400 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 4,474.42( $ 4,608.65 $§ 134.23 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 401 and 450 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 5,029.64| $ 5,180.53| $ 150.89 3.0% Statutory
Registration Application Fees between 451 and 500 Sites Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 5,584.86 $ 5,752.41| $  167.55 3.0% Statutory
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$ %
Civil Services

0.75% of the 0.75% of the
Checking of Civil drawings for Subdivisions Per job Taxable total construction| total construction| $ - 0.0% Statutory
costs costs
2.5% of the total| 2.5% of the total
Supervision of construction Per job Taxable construction construction| $ - 0.0% Statutory
costs costs
. . Costs plus 20%| Costs plus 20% } o
Private Works for Others Per job Taxable plus GST plus GST $ 0.0% Statutory
Environmental Health
Septic Tank application fee Per permit Non -Taxable | $ 798.21| $ 822.16] $ 23.95 3.0% Statutory
Alter Septic Tank fee Per permit Non -Taxable | $ 608.29 $ 626.54] $ 18.25 3.0% Statutory
Septic Tank amendment Per permit Non -Taxable | $ 64.50| $ 66.45| $ 1.95 3.0% Non-statutory
Septic Tank extension Per permit Non -Taxable | $ 64.50[ $ 66.45| $ 1.95 3.0% Non-statutory
Additional Site Inspection Per inspection Non -Taxable | $ 22650 $ 233.20| $ 6.70 3.0% Non-statutory
Search Fee Per search Taxable $ 93.00[ $ 96.00| $ 3.00 3.2% Non-statutory
Finance
Land Information Certificate Per certificate Non -Taxable | $ 29.72| $ 30.61| $ 0.89 3.0% Statutory
Land Information Certificate - Priority Per certificate Non -Taxable | $ 60.00| $ 60.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Food Premises
Class 1 Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 403.50 $ 415.50( $ 12.00 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 2 Fixed food premises Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 352.00| $ 362.50| $ 10.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 2 Community Group fixed food premises Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 175.50| $ 180.80 $ 5.30 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 2 Mobile Food Vehicle Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 352.00| $ 362.50| $ 10.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 2 Mobile Food Vehicle (Community Group) Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 105.50| $ 108.70| $ 3.20 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 2 Temporary Premise Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 352.00| $ 362.50| $ 10.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 2 Temporary Premise (Community Group) Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 175.50| $ 180.70| $ 5.20 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 2 Domestic Kitchen Per registration Non -Taxable | $§ 352.00| $ 362.50| $ 10.50 3.0% Non-statutory
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$ %

Class 2 Community Group (Registration of a food van or

_ B o -
temporary premises associated with a fixed premises) Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 258.00 $ 265.70[ $ 7.70 3.0% Non-statutory

Class 2 Registration of a food van or temporary premises

. . R 9/ -
associated with a fixed premises Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 529.50| $ 545.50( $ 16.00 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 3 Fixed food premises Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 214.00 $ 220.50| $ 6.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 3 Mobile Food Vehicle Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 214.00| $ 220.50| $ 6.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 3 Mobile Food Vehicle (Community Group) Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 104.50| $ 107.60| $ 3.10 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 3 Temporary Premises Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 214.00 $ 220.50| $ 6.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 3 Temporary Premises (Community Group) Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 175.50 $ 180.80| $ 5.30 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 3 Domestic Kitchen Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 214.00 $ 220.50| $ 6.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Class 3 Registration of a food van or temporary premises Per registration | Non -Taxable | $ 312.50| 324008 950 30% | Non-statutory
associated with a fixed premises

Class 3 Community Group (Regisration of a food van or Per registration | Non -Taxable | $ 207.00| $ 21330($ 630 30% | Non-statutory
temporary premises associated with a fixed premises)

Class 4 Street Trader Notification Per registration Non -Taxable $ -1 8 -8 - 0.0% Non-statutory

Renewal fee as| Renewal fee as

per above + per above +
50%. Fees, 50%. Fees
Initial Registration fee for new business Per registration Non -Taxable | applied on a pro-| applied on a pro-| $- 0.0% Non-statutory
rata quarterly| rata quarterly|
basis for new basis for new
registrations| registrations
50% of 50% of
applicable applicable
Transfer of proprietor fee Per transfer Non -Taxable eleraliecles (e ey alicelas $- 0.0% Non-statutory

per the above. per the above.
Plus inspection| Plus inspection
fee fee
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$ %
50% of 50% of
applicable applicable
. . . - renewal fee as| renewal fee as o
Requested inspection fee Per inspection Taxable per the above. per the above. $- 0.0% Non-statutory
Plus inspection| Plus inspection
fee fee
50% of 50% of
applicable applicable
Relnsp§ct|on feg as a result of noncompliance follow up Per inspection Non -Taxable renewal fee as| renewal fee as 5 0.0% Non-statutory
inspection required per the above. per the above.
Plus inspection| Plus inspection
fee fee
Freedom of Information
Printing Per A4 page Non -Taxable | $ 0.25| $ 0.25| $ - 0.0% Statutory
Search fee per hour Per hour Non -Taxable | $ 2450 $ 25.23| $ 0.74 3.0% Statutory
Request fee Per search Non -Taxable | $ 32.37| $ 33.34| $ 0.97 3.0% Statutory
Goldfields Family Centre
Daily Long Day Care Per day Non -Taxable | § 130.00] $ 150.00[ $  20.00 | 15.4% | Non-statutory
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$ %

Health Registrations

Skin Penetration fee Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 169.00| $ 174.00| $ 5.00 3.0% Non-statutory
Hairdressers fee Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 84.50| $ 87.00| $ 2.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Beauty Therapy Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 169.00( $ 174.00| $ 5.00 3.0% Non-statutory
Prescribed Accommodation fee Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 22150 $ 228.20| $ 6.70 3.0% Non-statutory
Initial Registration fee Skin Penetration, Hairdressers or Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 84.50| $ 87.00( $ 2.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Beauty Therapy

Initial Registration fee Prescribed Accommodation fee Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 112.50| $ 115.90[ $ 3.40 3.0% Non-statutory
Transfer of proprietor fee Skin Penetration, Hairdressers or Per transfer Non -Taxable | $ 84.50| $ 87.00| $ 2.50 3.0% Non-statutory
Beauty Therapy

Transfer of proprietor fee Prescribed Accommodation Fee Per transfer Non -Taxable | $ 109.50 $ 112.80| $ 3.30 3.0% Non-statutory

50% of annual|  50% of annual
Requested inspection fee Per inspection Taxable renewal fee as| renewal fee as| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
per the above. per the above.

50% of annual|  50% of annual
Per inspection Taxable renewal fee as| renewal fee as| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
per the above. per the above.

Reinspection fee as a result of noncompliance follow up
inspection required

Aquatic Facility Registration Category 1 (public aquatic
facility)

Aquatic Facility Registration Category 2 (residential apartment
complex, hotel, motel or hostel)

Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 389.50| $ 401.00( $ 11.50 3.0% Non-statutory

Per registration Non -Taxable | $ 22250 $ 229.20| $ 6.70 3.0% Non-statutory

147 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

Fee Increase Fee Increase

o . 2024/25 2025/26 .
Description of Fees and Charges Unit of Measure GST Status / (Decrease) / (Decrease) Basis of Fee
$ %

Immunisations
FluQuadri [FLU] Per dose Non -Taxable | $ 16.50[ $ 16.75| $ 0.25 1.5% Non-statutory
Bexsero [Men B] Per dose Non -Taxable | $ 135.00[ $ 135.00( $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Varilix [Chickenpox] Per dose Non -Taxable | $ 61.50| $ 63.85| $ 2.35 3.8% Non-statutory
Adacel [Diphtheria-Tetanus-Whooping Cough] Per dose Non -Taxable | $ 38.00] $ 39.20| $ 1.20 3.2% Non-statutory
Engerix B [Hep B - adult] Per dose Non -Taxable | $ 22.00| $ 22.72| $ 0.72 3.3% Non-statutory
Havrix [Hep A — adult] Per dose Non -Taxable | $ 56.00| $ 57.98| $ 1.98 3.5% Non-statutory
Prevenar 13 Per dose Non -Taxable | $§ 145.00( $ 153.66| $ 8.66 6.0% Non-statutory
Library Services
Book Club Registration on Institution Per registration Taxable $ 170.00| $ 170.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Lost Card Per card Taxable $ 2.00[ $ 2.00( $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Library Bags Per bag Taxable $ 3.60[ $ 3.60] $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Photocopy A4 B&W Per page Taxable $ 0.25| $ 0.25| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Photocopy A3 B&W Per page Taxable $ 0.50[ $ 0.50| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Photocopy A4 Colour Per page Taxable $ 1.00] $ 1.00{ $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Photocopy A3 Colour Per page Taxable $ 2.00| $ 2.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Fax - sending Per page Taxable $ 2.00[ $ 2.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Fax - receiving Per page Taxable $ 025| $ 025|$ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Processing fee - lost books Per book Taxable $ 6.00| $ 6.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Reservations/Inter-Library Loan Per book Taxable $ 3.00[ $ 3.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Reservations/Inter-Library Loan - Tertiary Per book Taxable $18.40 - $23.40| $18.40 - $23.40 $;g;g(; 0.0% Non-statutory
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Local Laws
Advertising A Frame Per permit Taxable $ 56.00[ $ 120.00| $ 64.00 114.3% | Non-statutory
Outdoor Dining per 6 lineal metres Per biennial permit Taxable $ 58.00| $ 300.00] $§ 242.00 417.2% Non-statutory
Impounded Vehicle Release fee Per vehicle Taxable $ 156.00( $ 160.68| $ 4.68 3.0% Non-statutory
Impounded Vehicle - towing costs Per vehicle Taxable $ - at cost| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Excess Animal Permit Per permit Taxable $ -l $ 50.00( $ 50.00 100.0% Non-statutory
Shipping Container Permit Per permit Taxable $ -l $ 130.00[ $ 130.00 100.0% Non-statutory
Skip Bin Permit Per bin Taxable $ 110.00[ $ 115.00| $ 5.00 4.5% Non-statutory
Keeping of livestock Per permit Taxable $ 44.00| $ 45.30| $ 1.30 3.0% Non-statutory
Camping Caravan and Motorhome permit Per permit Taxable $ 145.00( $ 148.00( $ 3.00 2.1% Non-statutory
Busking Permit per permit Taxable $ 24.00| $ 30.00| $ 6.00 25.0% Non-statutory
General Local Laws Permit Per permit Taxable $ 145.00( $ 149.35| $ 4.35 3.0% Non-statutory
Itinerate Trade Permit (Quarterly) Per permit Taxable $ 270.00] $ 280.00| $ 10.00 3.7% Non-statutory
Itinerate Trade Permit (Annual) Per permit Taxable $ -l $ 1,000.00[ $ 1,000.00 100.0% Non-statutory
Local Laws infringements Per fine Non -Taxable | $ 200.00| $ 206.00| $ 6.00 3.0% Non-statutory
Open Air Burning Permit Per permit Taxable $ 29.00| $ 30.00| $ 1.00 3.4% Non-statutory
Street Party, festivals and Procession Permit # Per permit Taxable $ 160.00( $ 165.00( $ 5.00 3.1% Non-statutory
#events on Council land which are not required to obtain a POPE
Local Laws - Parking Infringements
Parking Infringement general Per fine Non -Taxable Per legislation Per legislation| $ - 0.0% Statutory
Stop contrary to a no parking sign Per fine Non -Taxable | $ 68.00[ $ 70.00| $ 2.00 2.9% Statutory
Parked contrary to requirement of parking area Per fine Non -Taxable | $ 68.00] $ 70.00| $ 2.00 2.9% Statutory
Parked not completely within a parking bay Per fine Non -Taxable | $ 68.00] $ 70.00| $ 2.00 2.9% Statutory
Parked for period longer than indicated Per fine Non -Taxable | $ 68.00] $ 70.00| $ 2.00 2.9% Statutory
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Local Laws - Animal Infringements

Animal Infringement - General Per fine Non -Taxable $ - per legislation| $ - 0.0% Statutory
Dog or cat being a nuisance Per fine Non -Taxable | $ 100.00( $ 100.00( $ - 0.0% Statutory
Failure to pick up dog waste Per fine Non -Taxable | $ 200.00| $ 200.00| $ - 0.0% Statutory
Failing to include declaration of restricted breed at registration |Per fine Non -Taxable | $ 400.00 $ 400.00( $ - 0.0% Statutory
Attack or bite on a person or animal by a dog other than a

dangerous dog causing injury that is not in the nature of Per fine Non -Taxable | $ 500.00| $ 500.00| $ - 0.0% Statutory
serious injury

Planning

Extension to Planning Permit — First extension Per extension Taxable $ 270.00f $ 356.00( $ 86.00 31.9% Non-statutory
Extension to Planning Permit — Second extension Per extension Taxable $ 400.00 $ 550.001 $ 150.00 37.5% Non-statutory
Extension to Planning Permit — Third extension Per extension Taxable $ 590.00| $ 750.00| $ 160.00 27.1% Non-statutory
Secondary Consent Per consent Taxable $ 270.00 $ 300.00| $ 30.00 11.1% Non-statutory
Written Planning Advice Per report Taxable $ 135.00( $ 167.00| $ 32.00 23.7% Non-statutory
SR::r‘;fst for copying of Planning Permit (onsite and active 15 Taxable | § 70.00| $ 100.00($  30.00| 42.9% | Non-statutory
Request for hard copy of Planning Permit or other Per copy Taxable | $ 130.00| $ 211.00|$  81.00| 623% | Non-statutory
documentation

Notice of Planning Application Per notice Taxable $ 70.00| $ 100.00| $ 30.00 42.9% Non-statutory
Notice letters (only above 12 letters/notices) Per letter Taxable $ 2.00[ $ 3.00| $ 1.00 50.0% Non-statutory
Public notice in newspaper or Government Gazette Per notice Taxable At cost At cost| At cost 0.0% Non-statutory
Planning Panel Costs Per panel Taxable At cost At cost| At cost| 0.0% Non-statutory
Request to Approve Development Plan Per request Taxable $ 450.00 $ 190.00[ $ (260.00)] -57.8% Non-statutory

150 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

2024/25 2025/26 Fee Increase Fee Increase

Description of Fees and Charges Unit of Measure GST Status / (Decrease) /(Decrease) Basis of Fee

$ %
Sporting Grounds Casual use/Hire

Frank Graham Oval - Casual Per hour Taxable $ 55.00[ $ 56.65| $ 1.65 3.0% Non-statutory
Princes Park Oval Casual Hire - training without lights Per hour Taxable $ 55.00] $ 56.65| $ 1.65 3.0% Non-statutory
Princes Park Oval Casual Hire - training with lights Per hour Taxable $ 75.00| $ 77.25( $ 2.25 3.0% Non-statutory
E't:‘ées Park Netball Court Casual Hire - training without Per hour Taxable | $ 15.00| $ 1545|$  045| 3.0% | Non-statutory
Princes Park Netball Court Casual Hire - training with lights  |Per hour Taxable $ 30.00| $ 30.90| $ 0.90 3.0% Non-statutory
Jubilee Oval - Casual Per hour Taxable $ 55.00[ $ 56.65| $ 1.65 3.0% Non-statutory
Hedges Oval - Casual Per hour Taxable $ 55.00] $ 56.65| $ 1.65 3.0% Non-statutory
Jack Pascoe Reserve - Casual Per hour Taxable $ 55.00| $ 56.65| $ 1.65 3.0% Non-statutory
Soccer Fields - Casual Per hour Taxable $ 55.00[ $ 56.65| $ 1.65 3.0% Non-statutory
Personal Training Licence Application 1-10 participants Per quarter Taxable $ 105.00( $ 108.15| $ 3.15 3.0% Non-statutory
Personal Training Licence Application 1-10 participants Per annum Taxable $ 410.00f $ 422.30| $ 12.30 3.0% Non-statutory
Personal Training Licence Application 11-20 participants Per annum Taxable $ 145.00( $ 149.35] $ 4.35 3.0% Non-statutory
Personal Training Licence Application 11-20 participants Per quarter Taxable $ 590.00| $ 607.70| $ 17.70 3.0% Non-statutory
Tullaroop Leisure Centre - Squash courts Per hour/ per court Taxable $ 10.00| $ 10.30| $ 0.30 3.0% Non-statutory
Tullaroop Leisure Centre - Main court Per hour Taxable $ 20.00| $ 20.60| $ 0.60 3.0% Non-statutory
Tullaroop Leisure Centre - Multi-purpose room Per hour Taxable $ 10.00( $ 10.30| $ 0.30 3.0% Non-statutory
Tullaroop Leisure Centre - All facilities Per hour Taxable $ 45.00| $ 46.35| $ 1.35 3.0% Non-statutory
Tullaroop Leisure Centre - All facilities Per day Taxable $ 160.00( $ 164.80( $ 4.80 3.0% Non-statutory
Nolan Street Gymnasium - entire building excluding the Per hour Taxable | $ 10.00| $ 1030|$  030| 30% | Non-statutory
designated Youth space (community group)

Nolan Street Gymnasium - All facilities excluding the Per day Taxable | $ 160.00 $ 164.80| $ 480 | 3.0% | Non-statutory
designated Youth space (community group)

Nolan Street Gymnasium - All facilities excluding the o ~
designated Youth space (other users) Per hour Taxable $ 45.00( $ 46.35| $ 1.35 3.0% Non-statutory
Nolan Street Gymnasium - All facilities excluding the o ~
designated Youth space (other users) Per day Taxable $ 160.00( $ 164.80( $ 4.80 3.0% Non-statutory
Nolan Street Gymnasium - Front room (community group) Per hiring Taxable $ 15.00( $ 16.38| $ 1.38 9.2% Non-statutory
Nolan Street Gymnasium - Front room (other users) Per hiring Taxable $ 35.00( $ 38.21| $ 3.21 9.2% Non-statutory
Nolan Street Gymnasium - Main court (community group) Per hour Taxable $ 20.00| $ 21.84] 1.84 9.2% Non-statutory
Nolan Street Gymnasium - Main court (other users) Per hour Taxable $ 20.00| $ 21.84| $ 1.84 9.2% Non-statutory
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2024/25 2025/26 Fee Increase Fee Increase

Description of Fees and Charges Unit of Measure GST Status / (Decrease) /(Decrease) Basis of Fee

$ %

Tourism and Resource Centre

Visitor Centre Tours Per Tour Taxable $ 5.00] $ 5.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Resource Centre Meeting Room/Foyer - Other users Per hire Taxable $ 40.00| $ 41.20| $ 1.20 3.0% Non-statutory
Resource Centre Meeting Room/Foyer - Not-for-profit Per hire Taxable $ 15.00( $ 15.45| $ 0.45 3.0% Non-statutory
Photocopy A4 B&W Per page Taxable $ 0.25| $ 0.25| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Photocopy A3 B&W Per page Taxable $ 0.50| $ 0.50| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Photocopy A4 Colour Per page Taxable $ 1.00| $ 1.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Photocopy A3 Colour Per page Taxable $ 2.00[ $ 2.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Fax Per page Taxable $ 2.00| $ 2.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Venue Hire

Community Hub — Community groups Per hiring Taxable $ 15.00( $ 15.45| $ 0.45 3.0% Non-statutory
Community Hub — Other users Per hiring Taxable $ 40.00| $ 41.20] $ 1.20 3.0% Non-statutory
Maryborough Town Hall* # Per hiring Taxable $ 420.00f $ 432.60( $ 12.60 3.0% Non-statutory
Maryborough Town Hall Kitchen Only # Per hiring Taxable $ 60.00| $ 61.80| $ 1.80 3.0% Non-statutory
Maryborough Lower Town Hall Per hiring Taxable $ 60.00| $ 61.80| $ 1.80 3.0% Non-statutory
Maryborough Town Hall sound system hire * Per hiring Taxable $ 65.00| $ 66.95| $ 1.95 3.0% Non-statutory
* Plus Bond $300 # Plus Key Bond $100

Waste Services

Kerbside Collection

Garbage collection — Standard bin Per year Non -Taxable | $ 202.13| $ 203.14] $ 1.01 0.5% Non-statutory
gf(;bage collection — Optionallarger bin - Urban 140, Rural {50 o o Non -Taxable [ $ 34562 $ 347.35|$ 173 05% | Non-statutory
Garbage collection — Multiple service (per bin) Per year Non -Taxable | $ 202.13| $ 203.14] $ 1.01 0.5% Non-statutory
Recycling collection Per year Non -Taxable | $ 180.83 $ 181.73| $ 0.90 0.5% Non-statutory
Recycling collection — Multiple service (per bin) Per year Non -Taxable | $ 180.83| $ 181.73| $ 0.90 0.5% Non-statutory
;‘i""ce establishment/bin supply cost for additional garbage (o oo ice Taxable | $ 156.07| $ 90.00| $  (66.07)] -42.3% | Non-statutory
Waste Management fee Per year Non -Taxable | $ 175.53| $ 236.97| $ 61.44 35.0% Non-statutory
Green Waste collection Per year Non -Taxable | $ 90.76| $ 91.21| $ 0.45 0.5% Non-statutory
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2024/25 2025/26 Fee Increase Fee Increase

Description of Fees and Charges Unit of Measure GST Status / (Decrease) / (Decrease) Basis of Fee

$ %
Transfer Station Gate fees

Waste Disposal Per cubic metre Taxable $ 49.00| $ 60.07| $ 11.07 22.6% Non-statutory
Waste Disposal Car boot load Taxable $ 18.30[ $ 22.44| $ 4.14 22.6% Non-statutory
Waste Disposal 240 litre bin Taxable $ 1342 $ 13.42( $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Green Waste Disposal Per cubic metre Taxable $ 48.00( $ 48.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Car Tyre Disposal - Passenger Tyres Per tyre Taxable $ 10.00( $ 10.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Car Tyre Disposal - Passenger Tyre with rim Per Tyre Taxable $ 13.00f $ 17.00| $ 4.00 30.8% Non-statutory
Car Tyre Disposal - Passenger Tyres (contaminated) Per tyre Taxable $ 17.00[ $ 30.00| $ 13.00 76.5% Non-statutory
4WD Tyre Disposal - Passenger Tyre Per tyre Taxable $ -1 $ 14.00| $ 14.00 100.0% Non-statutory
4WD Tyre Disposal - Passenger Tyre with Rim Per tyre Taxable $ -8 27.00| $ 27.00 100.0% Non-statutory
Tyre Disposal - Light Truck Tyres Per tyre Taxable $ 17.00( $ 17.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Tyre Disposal - Light Truck tyres (contaiminated) Per tyre Taxable $ 24.00 $ 24.00] $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Truck Tyre Per tyre Taxable $ 30.00| $ 30.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Truck Tyre (Contaminated) Per tyre Taxable $ 60.00| $ 60.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Contaminated Tyre Charge (Extra Charge Per Tyre) Per Tyre Taxable $ -8 30.00| $ 30.00 100.0% Non-statutory
Small Tractor Tyre Disposal - Per tyre Per tyre Taxable $ 42.60| $ 927.00| $§ 884.40 | 2076.1% | Non-statutory
Mattress Disposal Per mattress Taxable $ 30.50| $ 31.42| $ 0.92 3.0% Non-statutory
Televisions - Each Per television Taxable $ 24.50| $ 25.50| $ 1.00 4.1% Non-statutory
tsc:::gn:nze\::otg“ggeﬁﬁiec(;Zﬂlee)s 10 loaa lose tham one Per cubic metre | Taxable $ R € 24860/ 2360 | 105% | Non-statutory
Building demolition waste (up to 3 tonne) Per cubic metre Taxable $ -1 $ 292.46| $ 292.46 100.0% | Non-statutory
éiﬁgg:;i' Waste Vouchers for Monthly Kerbside Hard waste |5, o cper Taxable | $ 12.25| § 30.04[$  17.79| 145.2% | Non-statutory
Mulch sales

Loaded Per cubic metre Taxable $ 35.00[ $ 35.00| $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
Self loaded Per cubic metre Taxable $ 7501 $ 7.50 $ - 0.0% Non-statutory
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Attachment 2

Record of Hearing of Council Session
held on 4 June 2025 at the Maryborough Town Hall

1. Welcome
The Mayor, Cr La Vella opened the Session at 6.02pm and welcomed all attendees.

PRESENT

Cr Grace La Vella (Mayor)
Cr Geoff Bartlett

Cr Jake Meyer

Cr Gerard Murphy

Ms Sally Jones, Interim Chief Executive Officer

Ms Emma Little, General Manager Community Wellbeing

Mr Anthony Smith, Acting General Manager Corporate Performance
Ms Sylvia Lee, Manager Finance

Mr Ralph Anania, Governance Advisor

2. Apologies
Apologies were noted for Crs Green, de Villiers and Long.

3. Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest
Nil.

4. Item of Business

Submissions on Draft 2025/26 Council Budget; and Rating & Revenue Plan 2025/29
The Mayor, Cr La Vella informed attendees, that the session was to allow (3) three
submitters to Council’s draft Budget 2025/26 and its Rating and Revenue Plan 2025/29
to speak to their written submissions.

The Mayor, individually invited each of the three submitters, to come forward and speak
to their submission, allowing up to 10 minutes, including questions from Councillors:
Draft 2025/26 Council Budget

e Ms Michelle Murphy, CEO of Bendigo Foodshare

e Mr Gary Nevill, Vice President of the Maryborough Community Garden

Draft 2025/26 Council Budget; and Rating & Revenue Plan 2025/29

e Mr Brad Ead, representing his farming family and fellow farmers.

MOTION
That all the submissions be received and noted, and referred to the Council Meeting on
25 June 2025.
Moved: Cr Murphy
Seconder: Cr Meyer
CARRIED
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5. Session Closure
The Mayor, Cr La Vella closed the Hearing of Council Session at 6.38pm.
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7.4 Amendment C40 to the Central Goldfields Planning Scheme. Maryborough
Heritage Overlay - Authorisation to Exhibit

Author: Senior Strategic Planner

Responsible Officer: General Manager Infrastructure Assets and Planning

The Officer Presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff reports
that there are disclosable interests that need to be raised in relation to this report.

SUMMARY/PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to advance the recommendations of the Maryborough Heritage Review
Study and to recommend the proposed planning scheme amendments to Council for decision.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council consider all matters as required by Section 12(2) of the Planning and Environment
Act 1987, and resolve to:

1. Seek Ministerial Authorisation pursuant to Section 8A (2) of the Planning and Environment
Act 1987 to prepare Amendment C40 to the Central Goldfields Planning Scheme (in
accordance with the amendment documentation and reports forming as a separate
attachment to this report) to remove HO206, apply new heritage overlays to give statutory
protection to seven individual places, nine heritage precincts and two group listings, and
make associated changes to policy and guidance documents to that better reflect the
heritage values of the study area.

2. Following receipt of Ministerial authorisation, exhibit the planning scheme amendment in
accordance with the provisions of the Planning and Environment Act 1987.

3. Delegate to the Chief Executive Officer the ability to make any changes to amendment
documentation for Planning Scheme Amendment C40 prior to exhibition, if requested by
the Department of Energy, Environment and Climate Action, or if required by a condition
of Ministerial Authorisation.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONTEXT
Central Goldfields Shire Council’s Council Plan 2021-2025:

The Community’s vision: Our Spaces and Places
3. Protection and preservation of heritage.

Initiative: Value and care for our heritage and culture assets.

Relevant legislation or policy
e Local Government Act 1989
e Planning and Environment Act 1987
e Planning Practice Note — Applying the Heritage Overlay

e Burra Charter
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The township of Maryborough has had heritage planning scheme controls since 1999. This was
managed through a single heritage precinct following the implementation of the Maryborough
Heritage Study of 1992.

In 2005, the Central Goldfields Shire Heritage Review Stage 1 recommended the review of the
Maryborough Precinct as a high priority:
Maryborough (High Priority) A.

That the existing Maryborough Heritage Area HO206 be removed from the Central Goldfields
Planning Scheme and be replaced with the following eight (8) heritage areas, once further fieldwork,
supporting background and objectives and policies have been prepared:

» Barkly Street Heritage Area (Map 8).

» Civic Square Heritage Area (Map 9).

*  Maryborough Commercial Heritage Area (Map 10).
* Princes Park Heritage Area (Map 11).

*  Phillips Gardens Heritage Area (Map 12).

» Palmerston Street Heritage Area (Map 13).

* Raglan Street Heritage Area (Map 14).

» Bristol Hill Heritage Area (Map 15).

In 2022, the Maryborough Heritage Review process commenced to deliver the “fieldwork,
supporting background objectives and policies” work required to implement the 2005
recommendation.

Funding was provided to Council through the Victorian Government’s Planning Regional Hub
program, to undertake this work.

Subsequently, the Maryborough Heritage Review included extensive community engagement and
was guided by a Heritage Reference Group (largely made up of community members).
The timing and stages of the review were:

e Stage One fieldwork and background review - 2022

e Stage One consultation - November to December 2022

e Stage One report - January 2023

e Stage Two Fieldwork and preparation of place citations, design guidelines and Heritage
Overlay exemption documents - March to September 2023

e Stage Two consultation - April 2024
¢ Final project report - June 2024

The Regional Planning Hub has assisted Council in drafting the planning scheme amendment
documentation presented in this report.

The planning scheme amendment is required to implement the recommendations of the
Maryborough Heritage Review Study (Extent Heritage, 2024) (the Study).
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The Maryborough Heritage Review process recommended nine precincts and prepared statements
of significance for all precincts, places, and serial listings.

This will be incorporated into the Central Goldfields Planning Scheme.

An exemption document is also proposed. This is be incorporated into the planning scheme and
Shire wide heritage design guidelines and the Maryborough Heritage Review Study Volume 1 & 2
are proposed to be reference documents.

The Study focused on Heritage Overlay: 206 Maryborough Area (HO206) as illustrated in the
refenced documents and involved the examination of the study area through fieldwork, historical
research, and community consultation.

The amendment will remove Overlay HO206 and give statutory protection to seven individual places,
nine heritage precincts and two heritage groups.

This new overlay better reflects the heritage values of the Maryborough urban area.

The inclusion of the individual places, precincts and group listings in the Heritage Overlay is the
appropriate planning mechanism to protect the heritage values of locally significant places.

Consequently, the overlay will require a permit, in the relevant areas, to be granted.

This includes planning for building and works, including demolition, and will ensure proposed
changes respect heritage values.

Places proposed to be removed from HO206 within the new precincts, group listings or via
individual Heritage Overlays were determined by the Study.

These have been determined to be of no or limited heritage value, low integrity and/or physically
isolated from the proposed precinct areas.

The removal of these places from the Heritage Overlay will reduce the economic and
administrative burden for non-contributory places.

Such places were previously affected by statutory requirements associated with the heritage
controls of the Central Goldfields Planning Scheme (such as seeking planning permission).
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Figure 1. Existing area of heritage overlay

| HERITAGE ADVISORS

Drawn by: Alexander Muep
[ Checked by: Corinne Softley
G Date: 14 September 2022 :
6 100 206 360 40 500 600 [u

Metres

REPORT
Preparation of Amendment C40

Council staff have worked with Department of Transport and Planning (DTP) to draft the planning
scheme amendment documentation.

The amendment seeks to implement the recommendations of the Maryborough Heritage Review
Study (Extent Heritage, 2024) and make associated changes to the Central Goldfields Planning
Scheme.

Consent from Council is required to commence the amendment process to change the Central
Goldfields Planning Scheme to reflect the recommendations of the Review. Specifically, the
amendment:

Ordinance
¢ Amends the Municipal Planning Strategy at Clause 02.03-5 (Built environment and heritage).

¢ Amends the Planning Policy Framework to update Clause 11.03-6L-02 (Maryborough Central
Business District Area).

¢ Amends the Planning Policy Framework at Clause 15.03-1L (Heritage conservation - Central
Goldfields) to insert local heritage policy.

e Amends the schedule to Clause 43.01 (Heritage Overlay) to delete Heritage Overlay 206
Maryborough Area (HO206) and Heritage Overlay 158 Main Drain and Bridge (HO158).
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¢ Amends the schedule to Clause 43.01 (Heritage Overlay) to apply the Heritage Overlay to seven
individual places, nine precinct areas and two group listings.

¢ Amends the schedule to Clause 72.04 (Documents incorporated in this scheme) to include 18
Statements of Significance for the heritage places introduced by this amendment.

e Amends the schedule to Clause 72.04 (Documents incorporated in this scheme) to include
Maryborough Heritage Overlay Exemptions (Extent Heritage, 2024).

¢ Amends the schedule to Clause 72.08 (Background documents) to include the following
documents as background documents:

o Maryborough Heritage Review Study Volume 1 & 2 (Extent Heritage, 2024)
o Central Goldfields: Heritage Design Guidelines (Extent Heritage, 2024).

Maps

e Amends Planning Scheme Maps 9HO, 10HO, 11HO and 12HO to delete Heritage Overlay 206
Maryborough Area (HO206) and Heritage Overlay 158 Main Drain and Bridge (HO158).

¢ Amends Planning Scheme Maps 9HO, 10HO, 11HO, 12HO to apply the Heritage Overlay to
seven individual places, nine precinct areas and two group listings.

The Planning Scheme Amendment Process

The Planning Scheme is subordinate legislation under Planning and Environment Act 1987 (the Act).
S12 of the Act outlines the duties and responsibilities of Council.

Changes to the planning scheme, including updated heritage mapping and controls, must go through
a prescribed amendment process.

This involves consent from the Minister (known as authorisation) to prepare the amendment and
place it on public exhibition.

Ministerial authorisation considers the relevant matters to ensure that the amendment is consistent
with State Planning Policy and makes accurate use of the Victorian Planning Provisions.

It is common planning practice for draft amendment documentation to be prepared as a basis for
Council’s consideration to seek to prepare and exhibit the amendment.

It is also common for authorisation to be subject to revisions being made to the documentation.
It is recommended that Council give delegation to the CEO to make any required changes to the
documentation prior to it being placed on exhibition, where those changes still deliver the key

objectives of the amendment.

Table 1. Planning and Environment Act - Section 12 Assessment

S12 consideration How the amendment responds
Implement the objectives of The amendment delivers:
planning in Victoria; e Section 4(1)(d) - to conserve and enhance those buildings,

areas or other places which are of scientific, aesthetic,
architectural or historical interest, or otherwise of special
cultural value.

e Section 4(1)(f) - to facilitate development in accordance with
the objectives set out in paragraphs (a), (b), (¢), (d) and (e).
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e 4(1)(g) - to balance the present and future interests of all
Victorians.

Provide sound, strategic, and
co-ordinated planning of the
use and development of land
in its area;

While the heritage overlay is the correct tool to guide land use
and development considerations for heritage places, there have
been several changes to the planning system since the 1992
Maryborough Heritage Study was undertaken.

The need to review the heritage precincts was first identified in
2005.

The revised heritage controls have reduced the extent of the
overlays and increased the information available on what is
significant, and controls focused on reducing regulatory burden
for proposals that are unlikely to impact on that significance.

Regularly review the provisions
of the planning scheme for
which it is a planning authority;

The amendment is required to implement the recommendations
of a review of planning scheme provisions relating to heritage
places in Maryborough.

It is recognised that there are other high priority reviews to be
undertaken subject to availability of resources.

It is important to ensure that the Maryborough Heritage Review
is implemented in a timely manner.

Given regard to Minister's
directions; Victoria Planning
Provisionsll; and any strategic
plan, policy statement, code or
guideline which forms part of
the schemel'l;

The amendment is in accordance with ministerial directions on
the form and content of planning schemes and the Practice Note
Applying the Heritage Overlay.

The Maryborough Heritage Review has been undertaken using
Burra Charter principles and the relevant guidelines for
significance in Victoria.

Consideration of any
significant effects on the
environment or which it
considers the environment
might have on any use or
development.

Consideration of social effects
and economic effects.

The amendment will have positive effects on the environment
through the increased protection and conservation of locally
significant heritage places and cultural landscapes.

The conservation and maintenance of heritage buildings also
promotes environmental sustainability benefits.

The amendment is anticipated to have positive social and
economic effects through the recognition and protection of
culturally significant buildings, landscapes, streetscapes, and
precincts.

The protection of these places will enhance the amenity and
character of Maryborough and strengthen its appeal as a
tourism destination.

The proposed amendment is expected to have further positive
economic effects by improving statutory planning processes,
increasing certainty, streamlining decision making and
minimising time delays.

Exhibition process and community consultation

Exhibition of the amendment will include a notice to affected landowners and occupiers via direct

mail.
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Other agencies will be advised, and public notices will be placed in the local paper, social media,
and Victorian Government Gazette.

Drop-in sessions will be conducted throughout the exhibition period. This will enable interested
parties to ask questions and make submissions.

The exhibition process will include public drop-in sessions in Dunolly and Carisbrook.

Following exhibition, Council will be provided the opportunity to consider all submissions and
decide whether to proceed with the amendment, modify the amendment in response to a
submission or abandon the amendment.

In the circumstance where there are submissions to the amendment that Council cannot resolve,
Council may consider the need to request a planning panel to consider submissions to the
amendment.

Council must consider the recommendations of the Panel in their decision to adopt (with or without
change) or abandon an amendment.

If Council proposes an outcome not supported by the Panel, then reasons must be provided to the
Minister for Planning.

In the instance where a decision cannot be made the Minister for Planning can decide to approve
the amendment with or without change or can refuse the amendment.

The following table summarises the process of an amendment:

Table 2. Planning Scheme Amendment Process

Steps Status

Council decides whether to seek Ministerial authorisation to prepare | Current stage
the amendment

Minister determines whether amendment may be placed on
exhibition

Public exhibition of planning scheme amendment

Submissions received and considered

Council requests an independent panel to consider submissions
where submissions cannot be resolved

Panel hearing where required

Council considers the recommendations of the Panel, and decides
whether to adopt or abandon the planning scheme amendment

If adopted, send to Minister for decision on whether to approve.

If approved, the tabling of the amendment in Parliament for a period
of two weeks. (revocation period)
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CONSULTATION/COMMUNICATION

Pre-exhibition Consultation

The preparation of the Maryborough Heritage Review involved two rounds of public consultation and
input from the Heritage Review Committee.

The Heritage Review Committee will be notified of the Report to Council.

Draft amendment documentation will be linked to the Council meeting agenda papers ahead of the
time informal community engagement occurs.

The formal engagement will be via exhibition of the authorised planning scheme amendment
documentation.

Amendment Exhibition

The exhibition process is prescribed under sections 17 to 20 of the Planning and Environment Act
1987. It is not proposed to seek exemption from notice provisions.

As such, exhibition will include direct notice to all affected landowners and occupiers, notice to
prescribed Ministers and relevant agencies, notice in the local paper, and publication in the
Victorian Government Gazette.

In addition to Councils Engage website, there will be several methods of communication utilised
during the exhibition phase including social media posts and media releases.

Specific information for each precinct and Frequently Asked Question materials will be provided to
assist in public understanding of the amendment.

It is proposed to schedule times for one-on-one meetings with community members and groups with
more detailed questions as to how the amendment relates to their property.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Amendment costs to Council are typically categorised into staff time and fees.

Council has been assisted by Department of Transport and Planning in preparation of the planning
scheme amendment documents.

The management of the amendment process and consideration of submissions is within the
current work program of the Statutory Services unit.

Some involvement of other teams of council in community engagement and media is required.
Council is responsible for the payment of fees in accordance with the Planning and Environment
(Fees) regulations and for any costs involved in the Planning Panel process, including the hearing

and any requirement for Extent Heritage to provide expert advice.

The costs associated with a Panel are highly dependent on the number of unresolved submissions
to be heard.

The costs associated with the exhibition of the amendment include the costs of complying with

notification of owners and occupiers and the publication of notices in the Maryborough Advertiser
and the Victoria Government Gazette.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

This report addresses Council’s strategic risk:
Governance - Failure to transparently govern and embrace good governance practices by ensuring
appropriate exhibition of draft ordinance.

Community engagement- Inadequate stakeholder management or engagement impacting brand
reputation and community satisfaction in Council decision making by undertaking community
consultation and establishing a Heritage Reference Group throughout the review process.

CONCLUSION

The need to review the Maryborough Heritage Precinct was first identified in 2005. This report
completes the review and preparation of draft Planning Scheme Amendment documentation.

This is a major milestone for Council and the community.

The project delivers on the Central Goldfields Shire Council Plan objective to value and care for
our heritage and culture assets.

Resolving to progress this work and allowing it to become the basis for statutory protection of
heritage values in Maryborough allows for greater understanding of what are the key attributes that
give a place significance and focus planning scheme controls on maintaining significance in the
township.

Providing clear information allows for targeted controls that reduce regulatory burden and facilitate
development that is respectful to the heritage fabric of Maryborough.

ATTACHMENTS
Will be provided as a separate document.
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7.5 S5 Instrument of Delegation Council to CEO
Author: Governance Advisor
Responsible Officer: Acting General Manager Corporate Performance

The Officer presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff, reports
that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this report.

SUMMARY/PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to recommend to Council, that an updated S5 Instrument of
Delegation be issued for the use of its incoming Chief Executive Officer.

RECOMMENDATION

In the exercise of the power conferred by s 11(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act),
Central Goldfields Shire Council (Council) resolves that:

1.  there be delegated to the person holding the position, or acting in or performing the
duties, of Chief Executive Officer the powers, duties and functions set out in the
attached Instrument of Delegation to the Chief Executive Officer, subject to the
conditions and limitations specified in that Instrument;

2. the instrument comes into force immediately upon this resolution being made and is to
be signed by the Council’s Chief Executive Officer and the Mayor;

3. on the coming into force of the instrument all previous delegations to the Chief
Executive Officer are revoked; and

4. the duties and functions set out in the instrument must be performed, and the powers
set out in the instruments must be executed, in accordance with any guidelines or
policies of Council that it may from time to time adopt.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONTEXT
Central Goldfields Shire Council’s Council Plan 2021-2025:

The Community’s vision: Leading Change
4. Good planning, governance, and service delivery.
4. Transparent decision making.

Initiative: The Local Government Act 2020, and a variety of other
legislation, make express provision for the appointment of
delegates to act on behalf of Council and delegation of
powers is essential to enable day to day decisions to be
made and for the effective operation of the organisation.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The S5 Instrument of Delegation from Council to the CEO is a crucial governance tool that
facilitates efficient local government operations.

It allows Council to delegate operational matters while ensuring strategic decisions remain within
the purview of elected members.

This delegation, when responsibly managed with appropriate parameters, leads to a smoother
functioning organisation without undermining the role of elected Councillors.
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REPORT

With the imminent commencement of Council’'s new permanent Chief Executive Officer, a review
was undertaken of the existing S5 Instrument of Delegation from Council to the CEO.

This review identified that when this document was last considered by Council on 16 September
2024, an unexpected inconsistency pertaining to the application of GST was reflected in the
document.

In order to remove this inconsistency and provide better clarity for Council’s new Chief Executive
Officer, this matter has been presented for Council’s consideration.

CONSULTATION/COMMUNICATION

There are no consultation or communication matters pertaining to the preparation of this report.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS.
There are no direct financial or resource implications associated with the preparation of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT

This report addresses Council’s strategic risk Legislative compliance - Failure to manage our
compliance with relevant legislative requirements by meeting the requirements of the Local
Government Act 2020.

CONCLUSION

It is recommended that Council give favourable consideration to issuing an updated Instrument of
Delegation to its incoming Chief Executive Officer.

ATTACHMENTS
1. Attachment 1 S 5 Instrument of Delegation from Council to CEO [7.5.1]
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S5 Instrument of Delegation to Chief Executive Officer

CENTRAL
GOLDFIELDS
SHIRE COUNCIL

Central Goldfields Shire Council

Instrument of Delegation
to

The Chief Executive Officer

S5 Instrument of Delegation to Chief Executive Officer
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Instrument of Delegation

In exercise of the power conferred by s 11(1) of the Local Government Act 2020 (the Act) and all
other powers enabling it, the Central Goldfields Shire Council (Council) delegates to the member of
Council staff holding, acting in or performing the position of Chief Executive Officer, the powers, duties
and functions set out in the Schedule to this Instrument of Delegation,

AND declares that

1.

21

2.2

23

24

this Instrument of Delegation is authorised by a Resolution of Council passed on 25 June
2025;

the delegation
comes into force immediately it is signed by the Chief Executive Officer and the Mayor;
is subject to any conditions and limitations set out in the Schedule;

must be exercised in accordance with any guidelines or policies which Council from time to
time adopts; and

remains in force until Council resolves to vary or revoke it.

Signed by the Chief Executive Officer of Council )
in the presence of: )

Witness

Date: ..o

Signed by the Mayor in the presence of: )

Witness

Date: ..o

S5. Instrument of Delegation to Chief Executive Officer
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SCHEDULE

The power to

determine any issue;
take any action; or
do any act or thing

arising out of or connected with any duty imposed, or function or power conferred on Council
by or under any Act.

Conditions and Limitations

The delegate must not determine the issue, take the action or do the act or thing

1.

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

if the issue, action, act or thing is an issue, action, act or thing which involves
entering into a contract exceeding the value of $500,000 (ex GST);

making any expenditure that exceeds $500,000 (ex GST), unless it is expenditure:
1.21 made under a contract already entered into; or

1.2.2 which Council is, by or under legislation, required to make; or

1.2.3 made to pay salaries, wages, allowances, and associated amounts to members of
Council staff;

124 is for insurance premiums;

in which case it must not exceed $2,000,000 (ex GST);

making funds transfers between Council Bank Accounts that exceed $2,000,000;
appointing an Acting Chief Executive Officer for a period exceeding 28 days;
electing a Mayor or Deputy Mayor;

granting a reasonable request for leave under s 35 of the Act;

making any decision in relation to the employment, dismissal, or removal of the Chief
Executive Officer;

approving or amending the Council Plan;

adopting or amending any policy that Council is required to adopt under the Act;
adopting or amending the Governance Rules;

appointing the chair or the members to a delegated committee;

making, amending, or revoking a local law;

approving the Budget or Revised Budget;

S5. Instrument of Delegation to Chief Executive Officer

page 2
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41

4.2

approving the borrowing of money; or

subject to section 181H(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1989, declaring general rates,
municipal charges, service rates and charges and specified rates and charges;

if the issue, action, act, or thing is an issue, action, act or thing which is required by law to be
done by Council resolution;

if the issue, action, act, or thing is an issue, action or thing which Council has previously
designated as an issue, action, act or thing which must be the subject of a Resolution of
Council;

if the determining of the issue, taking of the action or doing of the act or thing would or would
be likely to involve a decision which is inconsistent with a

policy; or

strategy

adopted by Council;

if the determining of the issue, the taking of the action or the doing of the act or thing cannot
be the subject of a lawful delegation, whether on account of s 11(2)(a)-(n) (inclusive) of the

Act or otherwise; or

the determining of the issue, the taking of the action or the doing of the act or thing is already
the subject of an exclusive delegation to another member of Council staff.

S5. Instrument of Delegation to Chief Executive Officer

page 3
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7.6 Councillor Internal Resolution Procedure

Author: Governance Advisor
Responsible Officer: Acting General Manager Corporate Performance

The Officer presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff, reports
that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this report.

SUMMARY/PURPOSE
From the commencement of the current Council term (26 October 2024), all Councillors in Victoria
have been required to observe the Model Councillor Code of Conduct (“the Code”).

Section 140 of the Local Government Act 2020 (“the Act”’) and Regulation 12A(2) of Local
Government (Governance and Integrity) Regulations 2020, provide that a Council must implement
and adopt an internal resolution procedure to deal with alleged breaches of the Code by 1 July
2025.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council adopt its Councillor Internal Resolution Procedure, provided as Attachment 1 to this
report.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONTEXT
Central Goldfields Shire Council’s Council Plan 2021-2025:

The Community’s vision: Leading Change
4. Good planning, governance, and service delivery.
4. Transparent decision making.

Initiative: N/A

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Model Councillor Code of Conduct was introduced from 26 October 2024; the date of the
General Elections for Victorian Local Governments.

Section 139(1) of the Act clearly states that Councillors must observe the Model Councillor Code of
Conduct. The purpose of the Model Councillor Code of Conduct is to include the standards of
conduct expected to be observed by Councillors in the course of performing their duties and
functions as Councillors, including prohibiting discrimination, harassment (including sexual
harassment) and vilification.

REPORT

In meeting the intent of Section 140 of the Act, Schedule 1A of the Local Government (Governance
and Integrity) Regulations 2020 sets out the specific requirements for the said procedure. The
Internal Resolution Procedure of Council —

a) Mustinclude a conciliation process that is to be conducted by the Mayor or if the Mayor is a
party to the matter or is unable to perform the role, functions, and duties of the conciliator for
any reason, the Deputy Mayor or another person; and

b) May include any other process that the Council considers appropriate.
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Specifically, the said procedure must -

i) Detail how a matter that is the subject of an alleged breach of the Model Councillor Code of
Conduct is to be dealt with, including the circumstances in which the available processes may
be used to deal with a matter;

i) Detail how a Councillor can access the internal resolution procedure, including how a
Councillor may initiate a request to have a matter dealt with through the available processes;
and

iii) Detail for the purposes of the conciliation process specified in subclause (2)(a) or any other
process under subclause (2)(b) —

c) the roles and responsibilities of the parties to a matter; and

i) the role, functions, and duties of the person responsible for conducting the relevant process;
and;

i) any support the Council is to make available to the parties or the person conducting the
relevant process; and

iii) the form and availability of a record of any agreement, resolution or outcome reached through
the process.

The Procedure encourages Councillors to attempt to resolve disputes, including those which
concern alleged breaches of the Code, through the internal resolution procedure in the first
instance.

Where a complaint has been made or dispute has arisen, the Councillors involved should use their
best endeavours to resolve the matter in a courteous and respectful manner with a view to
maintaining effective working relationships.

Where a matter cannot be resolved utilising the Procedure, a Council, Councillor or group of
Councillors can apply for an independent arbiter to be appointed to conduct an internal arbitration
process under Section 141 of the Act.

This Procedure has been based on the template prepared by Maddocks Lawyers and is provided
as Attachment 1 to this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT
This report addresses Council’s strategic risk:

Governance - Failure to transparently govern and embrace good governance practices by adopting
an internal resolution procedure to deal with alleged breaches of the Model Councillor Code of
Conduct.

CONCLUSION

It is recommended that Council give favourable consideration to the adoption of its Councillor
Internal Resolution Procedure, which is provided as Attachment 1 to this report.

ATTACHMENTS
1. Attachment 1 - Internal Resolution Procedure [7.6.1]
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GOLDFIELDS
SHIRE COUNCIL

Attachment 1

Contents

1. Purpose

2. Internal Resolution Procedure

3. First Stage of Internal Resolution Procedure — Discussion

4. Second Stage of Internal Resolution Procedure — Conciliation

4.1 Initiating conciliation

4.2  Participating in conciliation

4.3  Conduct of conciliation

4.4 Roles and responsibilities

4.5  Support from Council

4.6 End or termination of conciliation
4.7  Confidentiality

4.8 Record of outcome

External Mediation

Internal Resolution Procedure does not Apply in these Circumstances
Formal Dispute Resolution Procedure

Attachment A - Conciliation Application Form
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Annexure - Internal Resolution Procedure Flowchart
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1. Purpose

This Internal Resolution Procedure (Procedure) is adopted under and in accordance with section
140 of the Local Government Act 2020 (Act) and regulation 12A of the Local Government
(Governance and Integrity) Regulations 2020.

This Procedure will be observed when dealing with alleged breaches of the Model Councillor Code
of Conduct.

2. Internal Resolution Procedure

Disputes between Councillors may arise in a variety of circumstances. This Procedure is to apply
to those disputes in which one Councillor (the Complainant) alleges that another Councillor (the
Respondent) has breached the Model Councillor Code of Conduct.

This Procedure provides both parties to a dispute with support and encouragement to resolve the
dispute in a manner that enables the Councillors to move forward and maintain effective working
relationships.

This Procedure is designed to minimise cost and disruption of disputes to Council and individual
Councillors and, where possible, avoid disputes escalating and becoming the subject of an internal
arbitration.

It is acknowledged that this Procedure will not be suitable for resolution of all disputes between
Councillors. An overview of the Procedure is annexed, in the form of a flowchart.

3. First Stage of Internal Resolution Procedure — Discussion

A Complainant is encouraged to raise their issue directly with the Respondent in a respectful and
courteous manner, either in person or in writing, where they feel comfortable to do so.

Councillors are encouraged to recognise that:

a) certain behaviours and communications may be perceived by others to be causing issues or
offence that may not have been intended;

b) it can provide useful insight to reflect on their own behaviour or motivation and possible
contribution to the dispute, whether intended or not; and

c) dealing with the dispute early is more likely to avoid the issue escalating and resolve it
before it threatens the effective operation of Council.

It is useful to frame any issue from the Councillor’s perspective (eg “I felt disrespected when you
said / did ...”), rather than accusing another person of holding a particular position or taking a
negative action deliberately.

A Councillor should let the other Councillor know how they feel and ask for an explanation, rather
than making accusations or assumptions.

4. Second Stage of Internal Resolution Procedure — Conciliation

Where a direct conversation between Councillors has not been successful in resolving the dispute,
or a Councillor does not feel comfortable communicating directly with another Councillor, the
second stage of this Procedure is conciliation.

4.1 Initiating conciliation
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4.2

4.3

4.4

A Complainant initiating conciliation must notify the Mayor and the Respondent of
the dispute by completing a Conciliation Application Form. That form (see
Attachment A to this Procedure) must:

a) specify the names of the Complainant and Respondent;

b)  specify the provision (or provisions) of the Model Councillor Code of
Conduct alleged to have been breached;

c) detail what was said or done by the Respondent to constitute a breach of the
Model Councillor Code of Conduct;

d) attach any supporting information to provide examples of the behaviour
complained of (eg screenshots or emails); and

e) be dated and signed by the Complainant.

Participating in conciliation

Councillors are not obliged to engage in conciliation but should only decline to
participate if they honestly and reasonably believe that their participation would
adversely affect their health or wellbeing or would otherwise be unsafe. A
Respondent declining to participate in the conciliation must advise the Complainant
and the Mayor of their unwillingness to participate, and the reasons for it. That
advice must be provided no more than one week after receiving the Conciliation
Application Form.

Conduct of conciliation

Conciliation is to be conducted by the Mayor except when the Mayor is a party to
the dispute or otherwise unavailable to conduct conciliation. In that case the Deputy
Mayor will assume the role of the Mayor in the conciliation process.

If both the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor are parties to the dispute or otherwise
unavailable to conduct the conciliation, the role of the Mayor must be performed by
a Councillor jointly chosen for the purpose by the parties.

When, in this Procedure, reference is made to the Mayor it includes:

a) the Deputy Mayor; and

b) a Councillor jointly chosen for the purpose by the parties,

when the Mayor and/or the Deputy Mayor are parties to the dispute or otherwise

unavailable to conduct a conciliation.

Roles and responsibilities

The role of the Mayor is to provide guidance to the parties to the dispute about the
Standards of Conduct in the Model Councillor Code of Conduct and actively explore
whether the dispute can be resolved by agreement between them.

The role of the Complainant and Respondent is to explain their respective positions
and, in a show of goodwill, actively explore the possibility of resolving the dispute by
agreement.

All Councillors are responsible for conducting themselves in a courteous and
respectful manner at all times during the conciliation.
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4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

The role of the Councillor Conduct Officer is to provide the Mayor with the
administrative support necessary to arrange and conduct the conciliation.

Support from Council

Council, through the Councillor Conduct Officer, will provide administrative
assistance to the Mayor when arranging a time and place for conciliation, including
any technical assistance that may be required. Council will make a venue available
to the Councillors within Council’s offices that is private and suited to the conciliation
process.

Council will not provide any substantive guidance or advice about the subject matter
of the dispute or pay the costs of legal advice or representation for any Councillor in
connection with this Procedure.

Parties to a dispute may seek their own legal or other advice at their own cost, if
they choose to do so.

End or termination of conciliation
Conciliation will end or be terminated if any of the following occurs:

a) the parties cannot jointly choose a Councillor to conduct the conciliation within
one week of being asked to do so;

b) the Respondent notifies the Mayor that they do not wish to participate in
conciliation, and the reasons for it, within one week of receiving the
Conciliation Application Form;

c) the Respondent does not respond to the Conciliation Application Form at all
within two weeks of receiving it;

d)  conciliation has not occurred within four weeks of the Complainant submitting
the Conciliation Application Form;

e) conciliation has occurred, and the parties have been unable to resolve the
dispute; or

f) the dispute has been resolved.

The time for conciliation may be extended by agreement between the parties to the
dispute, whether or not the matter has been escalated to one of the formal dispute
resolution procedures outlined in the Act.

Confidentiality
Parties and other participants are expected to maintain confidentiality concerning
the dispute and the operation of this Procedure.

Record of outcome

The Mayor must document any agreement that is reached between the Complainant
and Respondent. The agreement must be signed by the Complainant, Respondent
and Mayor.

Copies must be provided to the Complainant and Respondent, and the original must
be retained by the Mayor.

4
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b)

6.

Again, parties and the Mayor are expected to maintain the confidentiality of the
agreement reached.

External Mediation

Notwithstanding the availability of other processes to resolve disputes under this Internal
Resolution Process, if at any time a Complainant, a Respondent or the Mayor feels that the
dispute will be better addressed through an external mediator, then they can make that
request in writing of the Mayor, or in the case of the Mayor, the CEO for an external
mediation (external mediation).

At the time the request is made, notice should also be provided to the other parties, by the
requesting Councillor.

If all parties agree to an external mediation, then the Mayor or the CEO will ask the
Councillor Conduct Officer to facilitate an external mediator to conduct the mediation at the
earliest practicable opportunity.

The mediator will document any agreement reached at the end of the external mediation,
with copies provided to all parties.

Internal Resolution Procedure does not Apply in these Circumstances

The following disputes are not covered by this Procedure:

a)

b)

7.

differences between Councillors in relation to policy or decision making, which are
appropriately resolved through discussion and voting in Council meetings;

complaints made against a Councillor or Councillors by a member or members of Council
staff, or by any other external person;

allegations of sexual harassment;

disclosures made about a Councillor under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012, which
can only be made to the Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission; and

allegations of criminal misconduct, which should be immediately referred to Victoria Police or
the relevant integrity authority.

Formal Dispute Resolution Procedure

This Procedure operates alongside, and does not replace, the formal dispute resolution procedures
outlined in the Act. The formal dispute resolution procedure applies to misconduct, serious
misconduct and gross misconduct.

Section 141 of the Act provides for an internal arbitration process concerning a breach of the
Standards of Conduct set out in the Model Councillor Code of Conduct.
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Attachment A

Conciliation Application Form

Complainant:

Respondent:

Provisions of Model Councillor
Code of Conduct breached:

Action constituting breach:
(Include dates, times and detailed
descriptions of the action
complained of. Attach further
documents as necessary.)

Signature of Complainant

Date: / /
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7.7 Audit and Risk Committee's Report to Council

Author Acting General Manager Corporate Performance

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer

The Officer presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff, reports
that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this report.

PURPOSE

As required under Section 54(5) of the Local Government Act 2020, an Audit and Risk Committee
(the Committee) must prepare and present a report to Council on the outcomes of the Committee
meetings on a biannual basis.

This report includes the Committee’s Biannual Reports for the periods ending 31 December 2024
and 31 May 2025.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council note the Audit and Risk Biannual Reports for December 2024 and June 2025.

BIANNIAL REPORT TO 31 DECEMBER 2024

Membership and Attendance

e John Watson, Independent Chair

e Robert Tommasini, Independent Member (Term ended April 2025)
¢ Richard Ainio, Independent Member

e Anna de Villiers, Councillor

e Geoff Bartlett, Councillor

Although not mandatory under the Act, the Independent Audit and Risk Committee members
completed personal interests returns in September 2024.

Robert Tommasini’s membership expires in April 2025, with no further extension available, so the
appointment of a new member will be scheduled for the June meeting.
Meetings
e 16 September 2024
e December 2024 meeting was rescheduled to January 2025.
Matters Considered

This report provides a summary of regular matters which are actively considered by the
Committee during each of its meetings.

These items are listed on the agenda and include the following:

o Chief Executive Officer's (CEQO’s) Report including updates on legal and regulatory
compliance matters.

¢ Central Goldfields Shire Council (CGSC) Internal Audit Progress Report
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¢ Outstanding Audit Recommendations Register

¢ Defined Benefits Superannuation Scheme Update — June 2024

¢ Management reports on a variety of matters such as the results of internal audits
e CEO credit card and Councillor expenses

e The Committee’s annual work plan

e Sector-related agencies and integrity reports

Additionally, the Committee has received reports on:

e Financial & Performance Statements 2023-24 — final audited version.
o Land Use Activity Agreements Update

e Community Care Providers — Backpay Audit Report

e Contract Management Update

o 2024 Protective Data Security Plan and Audit

Members Only discussion
At each meeting, the Committee sets aside time for a member only discussion if required.

The members can raise any matter without management or auditors being present.

Members can also invite the CEO and or Internal or External Auditors to join them to discuss
matters without others being present.

Internal Auditors

Internal Auditors Performance Review

The Committee annually undertakes a review of the performance of the internal auditors.

RSD Audit attended the 16 September 2024 meeting to outline the project scopes for the following
audits:

- Occupational Health Safety (Draft)

- Waste Management Resource Recovery (Draft)

- Project Scope - Payroll Procedures (Draft)

- Project Scope - Local Laws (Draft)
An internal audit for OH&S was completed by RSD in October and is included in the agenda.
Internal Audit work Plan

The Committee approves a rolling three-year internal audit plan and monitors progress against
the plan at each meeting.

A new internal audit plan has been developed with RSD Audit and approved by the Committee.

An OH&S Internal Audit was conducted in October 2024, and the Waste Management Internal
Audit was conducted in November 2024.

A report will be presented to the committee in this agenda with the final report being presented
at the March 2025 committee meeting.

The recommendations will be added to Audit Actions register with status updates presented at
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the March 2025 committee meeting.

Internal Audit Reports presented:
e Nil

Internal Audit Recommendations

The current progress for Audit Action Items is as follows:

As reported 16 September 2024

Risk rating: Minor Moderate N/A Total
Open as of 30 June 2024 23 28 6 2 59 (-1)
New added 4 1 1 0 6 (+6)
Completed (year to date) 18 16 6 3 43 (+10)
Deferred (year to date) 6 4 1 1 12 (+2)

Ten items were completed this quarter with a total of 43 items completed for the year.

6 Items were added under the Infrastructure Assets and Planning directorate in June 2024 as a
result of the Internal Audit conducted by AFS at the beginning of 2024.

Council maintains a register of outstanding actions of prior audit recommendations.

The register tracks the status of outstanding actions to ensure that all actions requested by various
auditors are completed by the assigned action officers.

Once an action officer considers that an action has been completed it is marked as such.

The Committee closely monitors management’s progress on the implementation of internal audit
recommendations.

In October — November 2024, a review was also conducted with relevant Officers and
Managers, regarding the existing Audit Action items, particularly the items that were still on the
register several years after the audit had taken place.

The review considered the following factors:

¢ If the Audit Action Item was no longer relevant to the Council

o |If there was a more current Audit Action item matching the existing Audit Action item that
could be combined into one action.

e If there were similar or identical Audit Actions Items that could be combined.

Recommendations will be presented at the January 2025 committee meeting for review and
approval.

An updated Audit Action Items register will be presented at the March 2025 Committee Meeting.

Strategic Risk Register and Risk Management
The Committee receives regular reports on the status of the strategic risk register and the
management of risk within the organisation.

Council’s risk appetite and Strategic Risk register have recently been reviewed as part of the
Risk Management Project.
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These documents and a revised Risk Management Policy will be presented to Council for
adoption once finalised.

Audit and Risk Committee Charter

The Committee is governed by the ARC Charter adopted by the council as required by the Local
Government Act 2020.

The current Charter was reviewed at its September 2023 Meeting and was adopted by Council
on 19 December 2023.

A draft Charter will be presented to the Committee in this agenda for review and approval and
presented at the February 2025 Council Meeting for adoption.

Committee Annual Work Plan

The Committee adopts an annual work plan setting out all the known matters it needs to consider
at each of its quarterly meetings.

The plan includes all the matters included in the Committee Charter together with matters under
the Local Government Act 2020 and any other matter the committee considers necessary.

The Work Plan is reviewed at each meeting and has achieved completion of the activities as
scheduled.

An updated Draft 2025 work plan will be presented in this agenda for review and approval by the
committee.

Annual Self-Assessment

The Committee annual self-assessment as required under the Act has been completed with
surveys distributed to all members and attendees for completion.

The collation of the responses was presented at the June 2024 Audit and Risk Committee meeting.

BIANNUAL REPORT TO 31 MAY 2025

Membership and Attendance

¢ John Watson, Independent Chair

e Robert Tommasini, Independent Member
¢ Richard Ainio, Independent Member

e Anna de Villiers, Councillor

e Geoff Bartlett, Councillor

Please note that the current Independent Member, Robert Tommasini’s membership expired in
April 2025, with no further extension available.

The Committee recorded its appreciation for the considerable and dedicated contribution Mr.
Tommasini made to the Central Goldfields Shire Council Audit and Risk Committee during his
tenure.

Council at its meeting to be held Wednesday, 28 May 2025 will appoint a new independent
member to the Committee.

Although not mandatory under the Act, the Independent Audit and Risk Committee members
completed personal interests returns in March/April 2025.
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Meetings
e 20 January 2025
e 3 March 2025

Matters Considered

This report provides a summary of regular matters which are actively considered by the Committee
during each of its meetings.

These items are listed on the agenda and include the following:

o Chief Executive Officer's (CEO’s) Report including updates on legal and regulatory
compliance matters.

e Quarterly Finance Reports

e Outstanding Audit Recommendations Register

e Quarterly Governance and Risk Update

e Quarterly Procurement Report

e Quarterly Occupational Health and Safety Report
e Systems and Security Update

e Sector-related agencies and integrity reports

Additionally, the Committee has received reports on:
e Audit and Risk Charter Review
e Governance Policies
¢ Annual Plan and Meeting Dates for 2025
e 2023/24 Financial Statements Additional Disclosure
o Waste Management and Resource Recovery Internal Audit
e Monitor the Performance of the External Auditor
e Councillor Induction
e Occupational Health and Safety Internal Audit

e RSD Risk Assessment Data Reconciliation

Members Only discussion
At each meeting, the Committee sets aside time for a member only discussion if required.
The members can raise any matter without management or auditors being present.

Members can also invite the CEO and/or Internal or External Auditors to join them to discuss
matters without others being present.

Internal Auditors

Internal Auditors Performance Review

The Committee annually undertakes a review of the performance of the internal auditors.

RSD Audit attended the 20 January 2025 meeting to outline the final report for the following audits:
e Occupational Health Safety Internal Audit
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e RSD Risk Assessment Data Reconciliation

RSD Audit attended the 3 March 2025 meeting to outline the final report for the following
audits:

o Waste Management and Resource Recovery
o RSD Risk Assessment Data Reconciliation

Internal Audit Work Plan

The Committee approves a rolling three-year internal audit plan and monitors progress against
the plan at each meeting.

A new internal audit plan has been developed with RSD Audit and approved by the
Committee.

Internal Audit Recommendations
The current progress for Audit Action Items is as follows:

As reported 3 March 2025

Minor Moderate

23 26 5 1 55
6 11 1 1 19
16 15 3 0 34
1 1 2

Two items were completed, with 34 items progressing towards completion.
Council maintains a register of outstanding actions of prior audit recommendations.

The register tracks the status of outstanding actions to ensure that all actions requested by various
auditors are completed by the assigned action officers.

Once an action officer considers that an action has been completed, it is marked as such.

The register tracks the status of outstanding actions to ensure that all actions requested by
various auditors are completed by the assigned action officers.

The Committee closely monitors management’s progress on the implementation of internal audit
recommendations.

Audit and Risk Committee Charter

The Committee is governed by the ARC Charter adopted by the Council as required by the Local
Government Act 2020.

The current Charter was reviewed at its January 2025 Meeting and was adopted by Council on
26 February 2025.

Committee Annual Work Plan
The Committee adopts an annual work plan setting out all the known matters it needs to
consider at each of its quarterly meetings.

The plan includes all the matters included in the Committee Charter together with matters
under the Local Government Act 2020 and any other matter the committee considers
necessary.
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The Work Plan is reviewed at each meeting and has achieved completion of the activities as
scheduled.

Annual Self-Assessment

The Committee annual self-assessment as required under the Act was presented at the June
2025 Audit and Risk Committee meeting.

CONCLUSION

The Biannual Report provides the Audit and Risk Committee the opportunity to report to
Council a summary of the outcomes of the Audit and Risk Committee over the reporting
period.

The Committee works proactively and constructively with Management to support

continuous improvement in the identification and management of risk and audit matters.
Members participate actively and avail themselves of the opportunities to engage with internal
and external auditors.

This report includes the Committee’s Biannual Reports for the periods ending 31 December 2024
and 31 May 2025.

ATTACHMENTS
Nil.
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7.8 Review of Council's Community Asset Committees

Author:

Governance Advisor

Responsible Officer: Acting General Manager Corporate Performance

The Officer presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff, reports
that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this report.

SUMMARY/PURPOSE

To provide Council with a timely review of its established Community Asset Committees, to
achieve greater certainty and effectiveness with the operations of these Committees.

RECOMMENDATION
That Council:
1.

Receive and note the report.

2. Resolves that community member appointments to its Community Asset Committees will

expire on 30 June, in the year following the Council Elections.

Resolves that its Community Asset Committees will include between 7 and 11 community
members, respectively.

Resolves that the following community members be appointed to the listed Committees
until 30 June 2029:

Dunolly Historic Precinct Management Community Asset Committee
Karyn Bromley

Brian Phillips

Jeanette Richards

Bradley Saul

Jenny Scott

Kristina Valenta

Lynda Vater

Tullaroop Leisure Centre

Lewis Cain

John Weston

Carisbrook PS Rep (Matthew Walker)
Squash Club Rep (Gailie Oliver)

5. Directs the CEO to:

i. Initiate an expression of Interest process to recruit new community members until
30 June 2029, to the following Community Asset Committees: Adelaide Lead
Hall; Daisy Hill Community Centre; Talbot Town Hall and Talbot Community
Homes;
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i. Aspartof 5i) also recruit 3-4 new community members to the Tullaroop Leisure
Centre.
6. Extends its sincere thanks and best wishes to all those community members who have
participated to date but are unable to continue until 30 June 2029 on Council’s
Community Asset Committees.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONTEXT
Central Goldfields Shire Council’s Council Plan 2021-2025:

The Community’s vision: Leading Change
4. Activated, engaged, and informed citizens who have a say,
volunteer, get involved in community matters.
4. Good planning, governance, and service delivery.
4. Transparent decision making.
Initiative: N/A

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Section 65(1) of the Local Government Act 2020 (“the Act”), clearly states that “A Council may
establish a Community Asset Committee and appoint as many members to the Community Asset
Committee as the Council considers necessary to enable the Community Asset Committee to
achieve the purpose specified in subsection (2).”

(2) A Council may only establish a Community Asset Committee for the purpose of
managing a community asset in the municipal district.

Once established by the Council, the Community Asset Committee obtains its operating
parameters, via an Instrument of Delegation which is signed by the Council’'s CEO.

At its meeting on 20 October 2020, Council resolved to establish and appoint members to four (4)
new Community Asset Committees: Adelaide Lead Hall (11 members); Dunolly Town Hall and
Court House (7 members); Daisy Hill Community Centre (14 members); and Talbot Town Hall (5
members).

Three years later, at its meeting on 19 December 2023, Council resolved to establish another
Community Asset Committee and appointed five (5) members to it - Tullaroop Leisure Centre.

Further, at its Annual Statutory Meeting Council appoints a Councillor representative to each of its
Community Asset Committees, which reinforces the prominent standing given to these Committees
by Council.

REPORT

As each new Council group is elected and enters office every four years, many arrangements and
previous policy decisions may be subject to review and change.

In relation to this report, it is noted that the current Council group has supported the position that
Council should continue to use its established Community Asset Committees (“Committees’) to
manage its broad range of community assets.
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Thus, the first question of relevance and term of the Committees is determined, being the term of
the current Council group.

From an administration workload and resources perspective, it makes good business sense
therefore, to seek expressions of interest and appoint members for a minimum 4-year term, in line
with the Council term. The previous Council decisions did not address this critical issue.

It is also important for Council to determine the number of community members it would like to
appoint to each of its established Committees. Having a minimum and maximum range to allow for
optimal numbers and allow for absences and other unexpected situations, is vital to ensure that
Committees can continue to work effectively. This is something that previous Council decisions did
not address.

Whilst there is no proven formula, setting a minimum of seven (7) members and maximum of
eleven (11) should offer Council a sound position, to safeguard a good working environment for the
Committees, building in capacity to ensure quorums at meetings for the term of the appointments.

In order that the Community Asset Committees have capacity to operate, reliance is placed on the
Chief Executive Officer’s Instrument of Delegation to each Committee. A review of these
documents has been undertaken, and they are deemed to be satisfactory for on-going use.

Therefore, there is no need for the Chief Executive Officer to reissue these documents.

The final piece of this review has been to assess whether the existing community members have
the capacity to continue for a further 4-year term, until 30 June 2029. In this regard, Officers has
sought the assistance of Council’s current appointed representatives on its Community Asset
Committees (i.e. Crs Green, de Villiers and Long) to make such enquiries with respective
members. From the feedback received, it is clear that current members associated with: Adelaide
Lead Hall, Daisy Hill Community Centre and Talbot Town Hall are unable to commit for a further
four years.

In addition, Council did not formally appoint any members to its Talbot Community Homes
Community Asset Committee, in either 2020 or 2023. Thus, to resolve this unexpected situation,
Council will need to undertake a new expression of interest process, to recruit new community
members for these Committees, and seek a few additional members for the Tullaroop Leisure
Centre (Committee).

In summary, Council has presently taken the position that it supports the Community Asset
Committee model, as its preferred vehicle to manage some of its community assets.
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Inevitably, the success of this approach is heavily reliant on the availability and community spirit of
its limited pool of community members.

Nonetheless, Council remains grateful and appreciative to all the community members who have
been involved with the Community Asset Committees. A final thanks is extended to those
members who have expressed their inability to continue until June 2029.

RISK MANAGEMENT

This report addresses Council’s strategic risk:

Governance - Failure to transparently govern and embrace good governance practices
by formally managing the CAC’s following good governance practices.

CONCLUSION

This timely review of Council’'s Community Asset Committees provides Council with the opportunity
to recalibrate the workings of its Community Asset Committees. It also provides a strong reminder
of the importance and enormous value that community members contribute, in making the Central
Goldfields Shire such a special place.

ATTACHMENTS
Nil

190 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

7.9 Draft Updated Art Collection Policy

Author Art Gallery Coordinator
Responsible Officer: General Manager Community Wellbeing

The Officer presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff, reports
fhat no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this report.

SUMMARY/PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to present a draft updated Art Collection Policy to Council for adoption.
The updated Art Collection Policy is aligned with the vision of the Central Goldfields Art Gallery
Strategic Plan 2023-2026 with specific emphasis on Strategic Direction four which is to maintain,
develop and increase access to the permanent Art Collection.

RECOMMENDATION
That Council adopt the updated draft Art Collection Policy.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONTEXT

Central Goldfields Shire Council’s Council Plan 2021-2025:

The Community’s vision: Our Community's Wellbeing
1. Socially connected, creative, inclusive, healthy, and safe 'all
ages' friendly communities.
1. Everyone is valued and belongs and has every chance to
grow, prosper and thrive.
1. Communities honour, protect, and celebrate culture, diversity,
history, and heritage.
1.The culture of First Nations people is visible, and reconciliation
is something that all people participate in.

Our Growing Economy
2. Engaging and flourishing tourism.

Leading Change
4. Good planning, governance, and service delivery.
4. Transparent decision making.

Initiative: Central Goldfields Art Gallery Strategic Plan 2023-2026
Strategic Direction 4: To maintain, develop and increase
access to the permanent Art Collection.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
The Art Collection originated from the civic collection of the former City of Maryborough. When

Central Goldfields Shire Council (CGSC) was established in 1995, ownership of the Collection was
transferred.
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It was later expanded via acquisitions held at CGSC's public art gallery, now known as Central
Goldfields Art Gallery, which was officially opened in its current location in 1996.

The indoor Art Collection currently numbers nearly 180 art works that relate to the Central Goldfields
region.

The Art Collection comprises two-dimensional works including paintings, works on paper and textile
works as well as three-dimensional works including sculpture and ceramics.

It also includes outdoor Public Art located within Central Goldfields Shire.

The Art Collection excludes civic monuments, statues, fountains, memorabilia, and ephemera. Civic
monuments are included in Council’s infrastructure register.

Public access to items within the Collection has recently been extended through digitisation and
through the contemporary architectural transformation of the Gallery.

The Collection can be viewed by the public online through the google arts and culture tool
(https://artsandculture.google.com/partner/central-goldfields-art-gallery) that enables cultural
organisations to showcase and share their cultural treasures and stories through the world wide
web to a global audience.

Iltems within the Art Collection are also able to be viewed by gallery visitors through the publicly
accessible glass window to the Collection store or via guided tours with a gallery staff member.

The Art Collection also provides a valuable resource for display in the gallery and elsewhere for the
enjoyment of the community and visitors to the region.

Funds for the acquisition of artwork are limited; there is no annual budget for acquisitions.

Every two years one work of art is acquired through the Golden Textures Contemporary Art Quilt
Award.

Financial donations to the gallery are another mechanism through which art acquisitions are funded.

New acquisitions are also sourced through donations enabled through the Australian government’s
Cultural Gifts Fund.

The Art Collection is re-valued every four years as part of Council's Asset Valuation and Revaluation
Policy.

REPORT

The Art Collection is an important cultural asset of Council, and the Art Collection Policy provides
guidance on the management of this asset.

The Policy applies to officers, Councillors, contractors, consultants, and volunteers undertaking work
on behalf of Council.

The updated Art Collection Policy references key directions of the Central Goldfields Art Gallery
Strategic Plan 2023-2026 and in particular, Strategic Direction Four; "to maintain, develop and
increase access to the permanent art collection."

Community consultation undertaken in the development of the Strategy supported the existing
acquisition focus to acquire art works of artistic excellence that have a connection to the Central
Goldfields region and to continue to build on the growing collection specialisation of contemporary
Australian art quilts.
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The Policy is intended to guide the development of the Collection based on Collecting Objectives
encompassing artistic merit, First Nations representation, and gender equity.

The draft Art Collection Policy includes a Gender Impact Statement that has been informed by a
Gender Impact Assessment.

The Art Collection Policy provides clear direction on the management of the Art Collection ranging
from acquisition to maintenance and display, through to de-accessioning of art works in line with
industry standards and consistent with the directions of the Gallery's Strategic Plan 2023-2026.

CONSULTATION/COMMUNICATION

The updated Art Collection Policy incorporates considerations that were explored in the development
of the Central Goldfields Art Gallery Strategic Plan 2023-2026.

A variety of consultation methods were undertaken for the Strategy including an invitation for all
community members to provide online input, as well as in-person consultations with community
representatives, local artists, and local art educators.

This consultation affirmed community pride and recognition of the importance of a permanent art
collection. Consultation for the Strategy also included industry experts from umbrella organisations
including the Public Galleries Association of Victoria.

It is proposed that following the adoption of the Art Collection Policy by Councillors, that the Policy
be uploaded on Council's web page and communicated to the community as part of Council's media
and marketing plan.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

The implementation of the Art Collection Policy can be achieved within current resources.

RISK MANAGEMENT

This report addresses Council’s strategic risk:

Property and Assets - Failure to maintain, renew and expand our assets in a timely and robust way,
which considers service and delivery needs by providing a thorough update of the existing Art
Collection Policy.

This has been undertaken to ensure the Art Collection Policy addresses the maintenance, renewal
and expansion of Council's Art Collection and associated reputation in managing this Council asset.

CONCLUSION

The Art Collection provides a valuable resource for display in the gallery and elsewhere, including
online, for the enjoyment of the community and visitors to the Shire region.

The draft Art Collection Policy has been developed in line with the results of community
consultation for the Central Goldfields Art Gallery Strategic Plan 2023 — 2026 and is in line
with industry standards.

It details the management, display, access, insurance, and valuation of the Art Collection to minimise
risk and maximise public access to and appreciation of the Collection.

It also includes Collecting Objectives to guide the development of this Council asset.

Collecting Objectives encompass artistic merit, First Nations representation and equity in the
representation of genders of artists.
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The Art Collection is required to be re-valued every four years while the Policy is also required to be
reviewed every four years in line with Council's Asset Valuation and Revaluation Policy.

ATTACHMENTS
1. 20250611 CGSC Draft Art Collection Policy (2) [7.9.1]
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ART COLLECTION POLICY @

CENTRAL
GOLDFIELDS
SHIRE COUNCIL

Directorate: Community Wellbeing

Responsible Manager: Manager Tourism Events and Culture
Review Due: Month Year

Adoption: Choose an item.

Date Adopted:

Acknowledgement

Central Goldfields Shire Council acknowledges and extends appreciation for the Dja Dja
Wurrung People, the Traditional Owners of the land that we are on. We pay our respects to
leaders and Elders past, present and emerging for they hold the memories, the traditions, the
culture and the hopes of all Dja Dja Wurrung People. We express our gratitude in the sharing
of this land, our sorrow for the personal, spiritual and cultural costs of that sharing and our
hope that we may walk forward together in harmony and in the spirit of healing.

1. Purpose

Central Goldfields Shire Council maintains and develops a permanent Art Collection which
includes indoor and outdoor public art located within Central Goldfields Shire, for the
enrichment of residents and visitors to our Shire. The Art Collection is a Council asset for
display, learning, research and enjoyment.

The Art Collection Policy is aligned with the vision of the Central Goldfields Art Gallery

Strategic Plan 2023-2026 and in particular strategic direction four which is to maintain, develop
and increase access to the permanent Art Collection.

2. Application and Scope

The care, display and development of the Art Collection is primarily the responsibility of Art
Gallery staff. The Policy also applies to Councillors, contractors, consultants and volunteers
undertaking work on behalf of Council.

The Art Collection originated from the civic collection of the former City of Maryborough, When
Central Goldfields Shire Council was established in 1995, ownership of the collection was
transferred. The City of Maryborough collection was built through associations with Rotary's
community art competitions and the Maryborough Art Centre. It was later expanded via
acquisitions held at CGSC's public art gallery, now known as Central Goldfields Art Gallery,

www.centralgoldfields.vic.gov.au | €) @CentralGoldfields | € @CG_Shire
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ART COLLECTION POLICY

that was officially opened in its current location in 1996. The current collection numbers nearly
180 items and is valued at $668,000 representing an 8% increase in value since the previous
valuation in 2021. The Art Collection is re-valued every four years in line with Council's Asset
Valuation and Revaluation Policy.

The indoor Art Collection currently numbers nearly 180 art works. Currently the gender
representation of artists in the Collection is approximately 52% female and 48% male artists.
The Collection includes a focus on contemporary Australian art quilts which relate to the textile
history of the region. Every two years one work of art is acquired through the Golden Textures
Contemporary Art Quilt Award. Since the establishment of the Award in 2011, each of the
winners has been a female artist.

The Art Collection includes two-dimensional works including paintings, works on paper and
textile works; three-dimensional works including sculpture and ceramics; and also includes
outdoor Public Art owned by Council and located within Central Goldfields Shire. The Art
Collection excludes civic monuments and statues, fountains, memorabilia and ephemera.
Civic monuments are included in Council’s infrastructure register.

The Art Collection provides a valuable resource for display in the gallery and elsewhere for
the enjoyment and enrichment of the community and visitors to the region. The Collection is
digitised and is accessible to the public online
(https://artsandculture.google.com/partner/central-goldfields-art-gallery) through the google
arts and culture tool that enables cultural organisations to showcase and share their cultural
treasures and stories through the world wide web with a global audience. ltems from the
Collection are also available for gallery visitors to see through the publicly accessible glass
window to the Collection store or via a tour with a gallery staff member.

The acquisition of art works is limited by availability of funds. Financial donations to the gallery
are the mechanism through which art acquisition funds are sourced. New acquisitions are also
enabled by donations through the Cultural Gifts Fund, bequests and the biennial Golden
Textures Contemporary Art Quilt Award that forms part of the gallery’s exhibition program.

3. Definitions

Accession: the process undertaken that formally acknowledges an artwork to be part of the
Art Collection.

Acquisition: the process of obtaining legal title to an artwork for the Art Collection.

Art Collection: art works that have been accessioned into the Art Collection.

Council: Central Goldfields Shire Council.

Conservation treatment: any activity, including cleaning, repair of hanging systems and/or
restoration that serves to maintain the optimum condition of an artwork and that ensures its

long-term preservation and care.

Copyright: is a bundle of rights which visual artists, musicians, writers and video and film
makers own in relation to their work. (Arts Law Centre of Australia, 2024).

Cultural Gifts Program: the Australian Government’'s Cultural Gifts Program offers tax
incentives to encourage people to donate cultural items to public art galleries, museums,
libraries and archives in Australia.

Warning — uncontrolled when printed — the current version of the document is kept in Council’'s Records Management System
Page 2 of 6
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ART COLLECTION POLICY

First Nations: communities and persons who identify as and are identified by a community
as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander peoples of Australia.

De-accessioning: the process of formally de-registering (removing) an item from a collection.

Disposal: the physical removal and transfer, sale or sometimes destruction of an artwork
which has been recorded as deaccessioned from the Art Collection.

Dja Dja Wurrung clans (Djaara): Central Goldfields Shire is located on Djandak, the land of
the Dja Dja Wurrung clans (Djaara). Council acknowledges the Djaara rights as Traditional
Owners under the Recognition and Settlement Agreement made with the State of Victoria
(2013).

Donation: item/s offered and accepted for inclusion in the Art Collection.
Gallery: Central Goldfields Art Gallery.

Loan: any work of art or object borrowed or loaned by Council for a specific period of time,
as specified through an Agreement between the relevant parties.

Provenance: the background and history of ownership of an artwork.

Public Art: Council's Art Collection comprises a small but growing number of art works that
are installed in public places, other than the gallery. Placement of art in public places has the
capacity to enhance the environment and engender a sense of community pride in Council's
public spaces.

Staff: all permanent and temporary full-time and part-time Council employees. The Policy also

applies to Councillors, contractors, consultants and volunteers undertaking work on behalf of
Council.

4. General Provisions

4.1. Collecting Objectives

Council will be guided by the following broad objectives when collecting and maintaining works
of art for the Art Collection:

Artistic merit

Council will prioritise the acquisition of artwork by artists who are regarded as exemplary,
prominent and renowned, and artworks which will enhance the overall quality of the Art
Collection.

Gender equity

Council will strive to achieve gender equity in the composition and display of the Art Collection
in order to provide balanced representation of female, male and gender diverse artists. This
Collecting Obijective is also intended to contribute to the career development and profile of
contemporary artists of diverse genders.

Medium / time period

Art works in any medium and from any time period, from historical to contemporary, will be
considered for acquisition, contingent on the ability to acquire, source, store, care and present
the artworks appropriately. The gallery will continue to develop its collection of art quilts by
contemporary Australian artists.

Warning — uncontrolled when printed — the current version of the document is kept in Council’'s Records Management System
Page 3 of 6
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Australian Art

Art works by Australian artists, in particular those from Central Victoria, as well as by artists of
other nationalities who have lived and worked in Central Victoria will be considered for the Art
Collection.

First Nations Art
Representation of artwork by First Nations artists will be considered for the Art Collection with
a particular focus on Dja Dja Wurrung artists.

Inspire and educate
Council aims to collect and display art works in accordance with the Art Collection policy that
will inspire and educate visitors.

4.2 Acquisition

Council will acquire art works for the Art Collection by donation, purchase, commission,
acquisitive art prize, gift or bequest. Art works may also be acquired through the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program.

Gifts, donations and bequests will only be accepted where the donor has full legal title to the
artwork and the gift is made on the basis of a total unencumbered transfer of ownership from
the donor to the Council. Council reserves the right to respectfully refuse any proposed
donation, gift or bequest.

The Art Gallery Coordinator will make recommendations for acquisitions based on Collecting
Objectives to the Manager of Tourism, Events and Culture and General Manager of
Community Wellbeing who will have the final decision-making authority. Any proposed
acquisitions valued above the General Manager's financial authorisation will be referred to the
Chief Executive Officer of Central Goldfields Shire Council.

Accessioning
All acquired items will be accessioned into the Art Collection, including being entered into the
Art Collection management database.

4.3 Management

Council will care for its Art Collection using professional management practices within
available resources, based on internationally recognised standards for publicly owned
collections.

Access

As it is a community asset, public access to the Art Collection is important. Access is provided
through display in the gallery, Council buildings, public spaces, outward loans and via online
platforms including the gallery website. Access is also available by appointment for research
and curatorial purposes.

Copyright

Council respects the moral rights of the creators of art works acquired for the Art Collection by
ensuring the integrity of use and proper attribution of those art works. The gallery will
endeavour, within available resources, to secure non-exclusive copyright licences from artists
when new works are acquired for the Art Collection. This will allow for reproductions of works
for educational, promotional and research purposes.

Warning — uncontrolled when printed — the current version of the document is kept in Council’'s Records Management System
Page 4 of 6
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Deaccessioning

Deaccessioning is recognised as a necessary strategy to ensure the cohesion and focus of
an art collection. Deaccessioning proposals will be prepared by the Art Gallery Coordinator on
an as-needs basis for Collection items that are considered to be outside of the Collecting
Objectives, cannot be conserved, or for other justified reasons. Proposals will be presented to
the Executive Management Team for further direction.

Disaster Preparedness

The gallery will maintain and communicate its Disaster Preparedness Plan that considers risks
including fire, flood and theft and anticipates needs that may arise from damage or loss to the
Art Collection.

Display

As far as possible, and in line with exhibition priorities, Art Collection items will be displayed
in the gallery and suitable Council facilities and public spaces. Items within the Art Collection
will be displayed in a manner that maintains the integrity and value of the Art Collection. The
display location of art works will be determined primarily by the Art Gallery Coordinator based
on collection management criteria. Industry standard practices will be used to ensure
accessibility and appropriate handling and installation methods. The Art Gallery Coordinator
will ensure appropriate handling and monitoring of the art works on display.

Loans
All loans of works from the Art Collection will be managed through a formal loan agreement.

Security and insurance

Council will provide as secure an environment as possible for the storage, transportation and
display of the Art Collection. The Art Collection will be valued every four years by a registered
Valuer and is insured as part of Council’s Asset Insurance.

Storage

When not on display, movable works from the Art Collection will be stored in the gallery's
environmentally controlled and secure Collection Store.

5 Review

This Policy is to be reviewed once every 4 years.

6 Human Rights Statement

It is considered that this Policy does not impact negatively on any rights identified in the
Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act (2006). Council is committed to consultation
and cooperation between management and employees.

7 Gender Impact Statement

Through a Gender Impact Assessment, due diligence has been undertaken through the
inclusion of Gender Equity as a Collecting Objective in the Art Collection Policy.

Warning — uncontrolled when printed — the current version of the document is kept in Council’'s Records Management System
Page 5 of 6
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8 Relevant Legislation and Council Policies

Legislation Protection of Movable Cultural Heritage Act 1986
Copyright Act 1968 Central Goldfields Art Gallery Strategy 2023-2026

Central Goldfields Shire Council Reconciliation Action Plan September 2024 — December
2025

Central Goldfields Shire Council Asset Valuation and Revaluation Policy

Central Goldfields Shire Council Asset Disposal or Sale of Council Assets Policy
Central Goldfields Shire Council Risk Management Policy

Code of Ethics for Museums, International Council on Museums (ICOM), 2013
Code of Ethics, Museums Australia, 1999

Code Of Practice For Visual Arts, Craft And Design, National Association for the Visual Arts,
2022

First Peoples: A Roadmap For Enhancing Indigenous Engagement In Museums And
Galleries, Terri Janke, Australian Museums and Galleries Association, 2018

Gender Equality Act 2020

National Standards for Australian Museums and Galleries, 2.0, National Standards Taskforce,
2023.

Warning — uncontrolled when printed — the current version of the document is kept in Council’'s Records Management System
Page 6 of 6
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7.10 Draft Play Space Strategy
Author: Interim Manager Project Services and Asset Management
Responsible Officer: General Manager Infrastructure Assets and Planning

The Officer presenting this report, having made enquiries with relevant members of staff, reports
that no disclosable interests have been raised in relation to this report.

SUMMARY/PURPOSE

Places for Play - the Draft Play Space Strategy (the Draft Strategy) is a planning project supported
by the Victorian State Government via the Victorian Government Local Sports Infrastructure Fund
and has been in development since 2023.

The Draft Strategy is in two parts (Attachments 1 & 2) and is supported by a technical assessment
of all play spaces within the Shire. Once adopted, the Draft Strategy will guide the future
development and management of play spaces across the shire for the next ten years.

The document is at final draft stage and has been advertised for a three (3) week period of
community consultation between 1 May and 22 May 2025.

The purpose of this report is to record that no submissions were received during the period of
community consultation and for Council to adopt the Play Space Strategy (Attachments 1 & 2) as
final.

RECOMMENDATION
That Council:

1. notes that the Draft Play Space Strategy was advertised for a period of three weeks and that
no submissions were received as part of the consultation process;

adopts the Play Space Strategy (Attachments 1 & 2) as final, and
notes the recommendations identified in the Play Space Strategy will be incorporated in
Councils Asset Management Plans and Long-Term Financial Plan for future consideration.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONTEXT
Central Goldfields Shire Council’s Council Plan 2021-2025:

The Community’s vision: Our Community's Wellbeing
1. Socially connected, creative, inclusive, healthy, and safe
‘all ages' friendly communities.

Our Spaces and Places

3. Sustainable living with green spaces.

3. Engaging places and spaces for people to live, work, play
and connect.

Initiative: ‘Active Central Goldfields,” Recreation and Open Space
Strategy 2020-2029 (ROSS)
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Draft Play Space Strategy was identified in Council’s ‘Active Central Goldfields,” Recreation
and Open Space Strategy 2020-2029 (ROSS) which was adopted by Council on 22 September
2020.

The ROSS sets out Council’s strategic framework for active communities, places, and spaces.

It identified active play as fourth in the top ten sport and recreation activities, behind walking
(recreational), bush walking and prospecting.

The document recommended that Council undertake a Play Space Inventory Review and utilise
the results to develop a Play Space Strategy.

Key issues pertaining to playgrounds identified through the ROSS include non-compliance, lack of
fencing, equipment being out of date, of poor quality or condition, safety and a high level of
maintenance required.

Future needs, improvements, and opportunities for playgrounds specified in the ROSS and through
consultation with relevant internal stakeholders included compliance (including disability access),
nature play, multi-age playgrounds, and sensory play opportunities.

The Play Space Strategy aims to provide Council with a framework that will guide the planning,
provision, and management of play spaces, ensuring an equitable, inclusive, diverse, safe, and an
engaging mix of play opportunities exist across the Shire.

Council received a $30,000 grant through the Victorian Government Local Sports Infrastructure
Fund and has contributed $45,000 to undertake the Play Space Strategy.

The project included a period of community consultation that led to more than 300 submissions,
the findings of which have been considered when developing the draft strategy.

REPORT

Project background

Methodology

The project involved the consultants carrying out comprehensive site assessments and involved
undertaking a locality assessment and contextual review of each play space.

This analysis included factors such as demographical influences, locality and site context, other
nearby play spaces and known community priorities/issues identified through planning processes
such as Community Planning and identification of operational and cost constraints, challenges, and
opportunities.

This was then cross referenced against Council’s Draft Play Space Strategy, particularly the gaps
in distribution section, to provide further depth and credibility to recommendations.
Initial Community Consultation

A community survey ran from 28 August to the 15 September 2023 and received over 350
responses.

The high response rate to this survey is a strong indication of the high level of interest in the
community and results were used to inform the Draft Play Space Strategy.

This interest can be further seen in the level of post interaction on Facebook. Council shared 7
posts related to the survey from 29 August through to the 21 September 2023 which resulted in
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close to 11,000 people being reached and post engagement of 1,368 (not counting the reach and
engagement achieved on shared posts).

With regards to play spaces, the survey sought to understand usage patterns and influencing
factors, the community demographic and playground locations, how this impacts on usage, as well
as strengths and weaknesses of individual play spaces and opportunities for improvement.
Key findings include:

e Two thirds of respondents live in Maryborough.

o 22% have a family member with a disability.

e 56% use a play space at least once a week.

e Station Domain Playground in Maryborough is the most used play space, more than double
the next play space, and four times the third most used.

e Over 50% of respondents asked for more play equipment. There was a greater call for
improvements such as shade/shelter, fencing, seating, and tables in relation to the closest
play space, compared to the main play space, suggesting that these items were reasons
people did not use their closest play space and instead went elsewhere.

e The most common additional play item mentioned is water play.
Further details can be found in Attachment 2: Draft Play Space Strategy Volume 2.

(Note that the consultation process simultaneously sought feedback on Council’s Play Space
strategy and the possible provision of a splash park in Maryborough).

Key Findings
The draft strategy highlights opportunities to improve the offerings across play spaces in the Shire,
including:

Provision of playgrounds

¢ Resources should be allocated towards providing better information about existing play
spaces.

e There are no accessible, inclusive play opportunities in the Shire and works are required to
better provide accessible, inclusive parks and play spaces with paths, furniture, amenities
and play elements that are usable by families and people with a disability.

¢ Planning for the development of and upgrades to play spaces should consider all aspects
of the space including fencing, entry points, paths, furniture, amenities and play elements.

e There is no consistency in provision of amenities between play spaces.

e There is significant need to update most play spaces not just because of the aging
infrastructure but the need to address the design on a ‘whole of park’ level - not just the
play equipment.

e There is a need for better overall park design that addresses more than just the play
equipment and considers more shade, in addition to tree planting and vegetation that offers
play opportunities and adds to the visual interest.

e Few spaces have paths which are crucial features that enhance access and inclusion and
benefit a variety of groups.

o There is a general lack of diversity and play value in play spaces, and few options that cater
for older children and teenagers. Options for younger children are also limited, with few
items designed for role play/pretend play.
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e Play spaces regularly lack table provision, with tables being important as they support the
use of the spaces by older adults and people with disability.

Funding and maintaining playgrounds

¢ With limited resources, maintaining a network of play spaces can be complicated and
funding needs to stretch across multiple locations and a wide range of infrastructure as well
as making provision for maintenance works and different levels of capital works.

o As part of its asset management, Council's funding needs to consider activities including
inspections, repairs, maintenance, urgent safety issues in addition to removal and
replacement of equipment or ‘whole of play’ space projects.

¢ Council needs to fund its playground assets in a manner that meets the needs of the
community and ensures quality is maintained, this includes understanding and planning for
maintenance costs across the life of the playground.

e Consideration should be given to both current maintenance and capital budget allocations
to effectively resource both maintenance requirements as well as capital works.

Implementing the Strategy

Once adopted, the recommendations contained in the strategy will be used to inform Council’s
asset planning into the future and will inform both Council’s capital works planning and future
funding applications where a project is seen as a strategic priority by Council and aligns to a
funding stream.

While the community interest in play spaces is high, Council must have regard to how these
recommendations fit amongst the full range of Council services and facilities.

To assist with this, the Draft Strategy contains recommendations by reserve which is considered
the most sustainable approach to managing Council’s playgrounds and provides an opportunity to
fund minor improvements that would add play value to the existing grounds while also extending
the life of the assets.

This approach also enables smaller improvements such as seating, shade, garden bed and path
improvements that are meeting the intent of the draft Strategy and deferring major capital
investment for future consideration.

CONSULTATION/COMMUNICATION
At the Special Meeting of Council on 30 April 2025, Council resolved to:

1. Endorse its Draft Play Space Strategy, provided as Attachments 1 and 2 to
the report, for community consultation for a 3-week period.

2. Receive a further report, following the completion of the consultation
process.

In accordance with the resolution, Council undertook a three-week period of community
consultation, commencing on 1 May and concluding on 22 May.

The period of community engagement was shared via Council’s regular media and
communications channels and used the Council website as a means of eliciting feedback.
Specifically, the community was asked:

1. What do you like about the Draft Play Space Strategy?

2. Is there anything missing from the Draft Play Space Strategy that you think
should be included?
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3. Is there anything else you’d like to say or add about the Draft Play Space
Strategy?

At the end of the three-week timeframe, the web page received 89 total page views however
Council received no formal submissions on the Draft Play Space Strategy.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

Budget for the Play Space Strategy included a Council contribution of $45,000 and a Sport and
Recreation Victoria grant of $30,000.

The Play Space Strategy considers financial and resource implications from the perspective of
both maintaining and upgrading current play spaces, and major capital upgrades such as full
rebuild or new build.

High level indicative costs are provided in the Recommendations by Reserve table on page 71 but
should be considered indicative only.

Delivery of these recommendations is subject to funding being available in future Council budgets
and the scope agreed to at that time.

If implemented in full, the playground renewals, upgrades and new play spaces could cost over
$5M over the life of the Strategy.

Once endorsed, the recommendations in the draft play strategy will be incorporated into Council
integrated asset management plan and capital investment will be aligned with Council’s capacity to
maintain the facilities into the future, particularly where new, or upgraded playgrounds are
recommended.

As part of its strategic asset management, Council is required to incorporate adequate budget for
inspections, repairs, maintenance, urgent safety issues in addition to removal and replacement of
equipment that is at or near the end of their useful life.

This approach should also include adding elements that improve play value and amenity with the
intention of meeting community expectations.

RISK MANAGEMENT

This report addresses Council’s strategic risk:

Property and Assets: Failure to maintain, renew and expand our assets in a timely and robust way,
which considers service and delivery needs by not implementing the recommendations of the
ROSS which notes poor condition and safety concerns.

Council is required to ensure compliance with the Australian Standards relating to
playgrounds/spaces.

Community engagement: Inadequate stakeholder management or engagement impacting on brand
recognition and community satisfaction in Council decision making by failing to seek community
input in any meaningful way regarding use of and satisfaction with Council's play spaces.

CONCLUSION

The Draft Play Strategy was advertised for a three-week period of community consultation in
accordance with the resolution of 30 April 2025, during which time no formal submissions were
received.

205 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

On this basis, it is recommended that Council adopts the Play Space Strategy (Attachments 1 & 2)
as final, and notes that the recommendations are included in Councils Asset Management Plans
and Long-Term Financial plan for future consideration.

ATTACHMENTS

1. Play Space Strategy VOL 1_ REPORT V 4 April 2025 [7.10.1]
2.  Play Space Strategy VOL 2_ DEMAND ANALYSIS [7.10.2]
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ABOUT THE PLACES FOR PLAY
SPACE STRATEGY

This document is Volume 1.
Play Space Strategy

Other volumes include:

Volume 2. Demand Analysis, -including analysis of
demographic data, Council plans, and the Communi-
ty and Stakeholder engagement process, and
Volume 3. Play Space Assessments, comprising the
play space assessments for each site in the Shire, by
locality.

A separate report - Splash Park Feasibility- was also
prepared in conjunction with this Strategy.

This Volume
This volume contains:

a summary of quality and distribution issues in the
Shire,

strategic recommendations for planning, design and
management of play spaces, ;

principles and service standards,

Recommendations by reserve, and

design guidelines for play spaces.

Authors

The Places for Play - Play Space Strategy has been
prepared for Central Goldfields Shire Council by:

Jeavons Landscape Architects and
@leisure Planners.

CENTRAL GOLDFIELDS
PLAY STRATEGY 2023
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our hope that we may walk forward together in harmony
and in the spirit of healing.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction

To meet the changing needs of the community, both
now and into the future, the Central Goldfields Shire has
commissioned this Places for Play- Play Space Strategy.

The overall goal of the project is to ensure that play spaces
and parks will be enjoyed by families, carers, children and
young people of all cultures, identities, and abilities.

The Shire has 22 Play spaces., distributed over eight
localities. Maryborough, Carisbrook, and Dunolly are the
main population centres.

Strategy Objective

1. Establish a clear vision and principles for play provision
across Central Goldfields Shire.

2. Provide an overarching framework and strategic
direction to guide the forward planning, delivery, and
management of play spaces the Shire for the next ten
years.

3. Inform Council's capital budget allocations and asset
management processes.

4. Provide guidance on best practice design, in order to
maximise value to the community from the Shire’s
investment in play.

Approach

This report is a very comprehensive document that aims to
cover every aspect of play provision in the Goldfields Shire.
The sections outlined below were undertaken meet the
Shire’s objectives for this project.

Background Research and Demographics

The first steps involved reviewing relevant in-house Council
documents, strategies and Council plans. An up-to-date park
inventory with site addresses was also completed.

The authors reviewed the 2021 Census data and
investigated the implications for the Shire, in terms of play
space demand. Data for Goldfields (refer Volume 2) reveals
an ageing community (except for 0—5-year-olds), a high
level of social disadvantage, and relatively high levels of
disability and ill health. Free outdoor facilities that stimulate
healthy activity assume more importance when viewed in
this context.

Community Engagement

326 survey responses were received from the community
engagement process. This is the largest response to such a
survey received by the Shire, demonstrating the importance
placed on play spaces by residents. Volume 2 summarises
the responses which provided valuable insight into usage
patterns and preferences.
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Site assessments

The authors inspected every play space and provided
detailed recommendations for each. Volume 3 contains
these detailed assessments. They reveal a diverse offering
across the Shire, with some high-quality sites and many that
need improvements.

Review of play space distribution

The study reviewed access to play spaces within walking
distance from homes in urban areas, especially in
Maryborough, and revealed large areas where residents do
not have access to a play space within a conservative 500m
from home. A key recommendation was to add at least

one new play space, possibly at Jack Pascoe Reserve, in
addition to improvements in the quality of many other local
spaces.

In rural localities it was concluded that investment in one
higher quality play space per locality is the preferred way to
service rural communities.

Planning strategy- tools

The Strategy section introduces tools to address these
wide-ranging issues. It includes sections on planning and
design processes, management, asset planning,aad-care
principles for play space provision.

It also includes an important tool for classifying play spaces
which in turn facilitates the setting of standards for how
council should approach planning, designing and managing
the different levels in the catchment hierarchy.

Classification

The study recommends classifying each play space into
either Local (also often referred to as neighbourhood)
District or Regional, depending upon the distances people
travel to visit them.

Service Standards

These are management tools that guide Council on

all aspect of providing facilities at each level in the
classification. For example- where BBQ's should be
provided; which sites require higher levels of access for
people with disabilities, and where car parking is required.
These Standards help manage community expectations.

Actions and Site recommendations

A set of Shire-wide action is followed by site-by-site
recommendations and priorities.

General design guidelines

The Appendix to Volume 1 contains guidelines for 10 design
characteristics that deliver better play value to the
community.
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VUL UEVEL
N A

Findings N
g

Following this research, it is recommended that Council embed
the actions contained in this report in its asset management
planning to ensure Council can adequately provide for this
resource that is clearly valued by the community.

It has been recommended that Council adopts a multi-

disciplinary approach internally to decision making and

management of playspaces, with input from all relevant
council departments.

There needs to be a change in the way Council approaches
the design of both parks and play spaces. More emphasis
needs to be placed upon natural elements especially trees
and planting, as well as amenities and equipment that can
be used by a broader range of ages and abilities.

The Strategy recommends major improvements to access
and inclusion for people living with disability, particularly the
provision of paths and accessible social amenities
(furniture, shelters etc.)

This document recognises
that play, inclusion, social
interaction, diversity, and
the natural environment are
important to all people.

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY 5 CAleisure ¥ ’19?"0!‘5
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INTRODUCTION

THIS PLACES FOR PLAY SPACE
STRATEGY

This Play Space Strategy is a Shire-wide approach to
play provision for the diverse communities of the Central
Goldfields Shire (CGS).

This strategy will help to ensure that the Shire's play
spaces continue to meet the changing needs of the
community both now and into the future, and are enjoyed
by families, carers, children and young people of all
cultures, identities and abilities.

The strategy takes into account the input provided by

members of the community and key stakeholders, as

well as the community goals, changing demographics
and available resources within the Shire.

Through the provision of a strategic planning framework
and implementation plan, this report aims to assist the
Shire to deliver benefits to the community via quality
outdoor play and recreation opportunities.

Splash park/water play area

At the same time as the Play Space Strategy, the Shire
has also commissioned a feasibility study for a potential
Splash Park/Water Play Area.

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY
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Vision

Plan for the provision and maintenance of an equitable,
inclusive, diverse, safe and engaging mix of play
opportunities across this regional municipality.

“Council's Community Vision Statement:

In 2031 we are an inspiring thriving and prosperous
community of choice.

We have taken bold steps towards growing our economy
and our communities full of optimism and opportunities.
We are kind, connected and inclusive and we nurture
creativity leadership and innovation.

We value and invest in our young people and our health
and well-being is high we live sustainably cherish and
protect our environment and heritage and we have
access to outstanding jobs education health community
services infrastructure and affordable housing.”

Philosophy and Values

This document is underpinned by the importance of play,
inclusion, social interaction, diversity, and the natural
environment to all people.

Play has a significant role in in child development and
learning.

Play spaces can contribute to children’s physical
development and to their curiosity, creativity, cognitive,
and sensory experiences.

Play spaces can help children build social and interpe
sonal skills, confidence and mastery.

A play space is more than just play equipment.

The equipment may be of less importance than an
amenable place to visit, meet friends, neighbours and
others and interact socially in a place designed for that
purpose.

S leisure ® ® jeavons
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Philosophy and values cont.

Play spaces must be safe, welcoming, and inclusive of all
community members.

Playspaces should contain trees and natural elements.
Contact with nature is beneficial to all humans. Natural
elements provide visual appeal, character, amenity
value and play value.

Parks designed well for play
are an investment in the
community.

Objectives

This document is underpinned by the importance of play,
The objectives of this strategy are to:

1. Establish a clear vision and principles for play
provision across Central Goldfields Shire.

2. Provide an overarching framework and strategic
direction to guide the forward planning, delivery, and
management of play spaces the Shire for the next
ten years.

3. Inform Council's capital budget allocations and asset
management processes.

4. Provide guidance on best practice design, in order to
maximise value to the community from the Shire's
investment in play.

The strategy aims to achieve these objectives by
providing:
- aclear set of planning and design principles,

a planning framework and hierarchy for

playspaces,

service standards,

Shire-wide actions and an implementation plan,
and

a set of design guidelines for play spaces.

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY

CENTRAL GOLDFIELDS
PLAY STRATEGY 2023

INTRODUCTION

Project Scope - What is a play space?

For the purposes of this Strategy, play spaces are
outdoor areas within parks (owned or managed by
Council) whose primary function is for play. This strategy
also encompasses play spaces found in parks that have
other primary functions, such as sport.

The terms ‘Play space’ and ‘Playground’ have been used
interchangeably.

Both terms mean outdoor space and facilities provided
by the Shire, for the purpose of children’s play, that
require the duty of care and management regimes as
required under the following Australian Standards.

AS 4685.0:2017 — Playground equipment and
surfacing — development, installation, inspection,
maintenance and operation

AS 4685.1-6 — 2021 (6 parts) —Playground
equipment — General safety requirements and
test methods + Additional specific requirements
for swings; slides; runways; carousels; rocking
equipment

AS 4685.11:2012 - Playground equipment —
Additional specific safety requirements and test
methods for spatial networks

AS 4422:2016 — Playground surfacing —
Specifications, requirements and test methods.

Play spaces are typically located in reserves with or
including vegetation and amenities such as paths, shade
and shelters, BBQ's and furniture. Reserves may include
other types of facilities such as hard courts, skate and
BMX tracks and fitness equipment. Typically, all of
these are considered when discussing the range of
opportunities available within the park.

This strategy focuses on Council- owned or managed
spaces, but other relevant play spaces (especially
schools) have been taken into account as a complement
to public facilities.

This strategy does not include Council owned early
childhood centres or indoor play settings.
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Methodology

Jeavons and @leisure planners carried out the following
tasks for this project.

Initiated the project, meeting key stakeholders,
orientation.

Reviewed Council, State government and other
policies and legislation.

Prepared an up-to-date inventory of each park for
play.

Reviewed safety audit information.

Visited and reported on every play space in the Shire.
Analysed demographic data for the Shire.
Reviewed the overall distribution of play spaces
across the whole municipality.

Prepared maps showing the distribution of play
spaces across the Shire, and identified gaps in play
space distribution in Maryborough.

In conjunction with council officers, prepared an
on-line community engagement survey that was
conducted across the municipality (received back
326 responses, which is the largest response to such
a survey received by the Shire).

Conducted informal phone interviews with key
stakeholders.

Analysed the community engagement data.
Prepared a report on every play space in the Shire,
with some preliminary sketch plans (Volume 3).
Prepared a play space Strategy (this Volume1).
Summarised the demographic data and the
community engagement process and outcomes
(Volume 2).

Considered the outcomes of the Splash Park
feasibility report and its implications for this Strategy
document.

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY 9 Eeisure # ® Jeavons

215 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

Background
Research
& Overview

This section presents a high-level overview of
the documents and data reviewed during this
process. It summarises:

- relevant Council plans and policies,
legislation,
demand data sourced from the 2021
Census, and
key points from the community
engagement process.

This section then discusses and analyses the
distribution of play spaces in CGSC, with maps
identifying location and gaps in distribution.
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The following table outlines the top tier plans informing this Strategy, and the focus areas of each:

Policy Title

Council Plan 2021-2025

Central Goldfields

Recreation and Open Space
Strategy 2020-29

Every Child Every Chance
Strategic Outcomes
Framework

Municipal Health and Well-
being Plan 2021-25

Central Goldfields

Shire Council
L Health and wellbeing Plan
2021-2025

Relevant contents

There are two key objectives (objectives 1 and 3) that are relevant
to play:

1. Our community’s well-being
+  Socially connected, creative, inclusive, healthy safe, all
ages, friendly communities.
+  Everyone is valued and belongs and has every chance to
grow prosper and thrive.
+  The culture of our first nations people is visible, and
reconciliation is something we all participate in.

3. Place and Spaces- sustainable living and green spaces.
+ A commitment to climate action and less waste
+  protection and preservation of heritage
+  Engaging places in spaces for people to live, work, play
and connect.

This Plan is the main driver of the Play space Strategy. Goal:
Active places and spaces.

Key priorities:

«  Well planned, fit for purpose facilities and spaces,

+  Improve facilities at major multi use locations,

. Renew and replace multi-use and shared use facilities,

+  Consolidate, re-purpose and rationalise low use facilities
places and spaces.

There are two top level indicators relevant to the provision and
improvement of play spaces in Central Goldfields:

+  Central Goldfields children thrive in their physical, emotional,
social, cognitive and communication early developmental
domains,

+  Central Goldfields is a child and family friendly municipality.

Priorities directly related to this strategy include:

+  Advocate for social change

+  Build supporting environments

+  Prioritise education and employment

+  Foster social inclusion and diversity

+  Connect services with people.

+  These will have a positive impact on health.

+ A community free from violence

+  Asocially and emotionally well community

- A community with access to healthy food and drinks

+ A community that prioritises active living, and

+ A community tackling climate change and responding to
public health emergencies.

[
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THE RECREATION AND OPEN
SPACE PLAN 2020-2029
4 )

-

The preparation of a Play Space Strategy was one of the major recommendations that came
out of the ROSP 2020-2029.

The Plan identified that around 21% of residents used play spaces and a number of issues
were highlighted through the development of the Plan.

Key issues related to Play identified in the
Open Space Plan

Key issues raised by the community included the following:

Playgrounds are not fenced,
Equipment is poor quality

/ condition and often not
compliant,

Lack of nature play and sensory
play elements,

Lack of provision for multi-ages,
Lack of access and inclusion in

| .
play spaces Need for:

Sustainability - managing climate
change impacts; access to water; heat.
Shade- at outdoor pools, along streets,
playgrounds, mature trees.

Outdoor pools
Ageing; not enough shade.

Maryborough Outdoor Swimming Pool
+  Heritage listing impacts on

upgrades and costs,

No fun elements (e.g. diving boards,

water play),
Limited operating hours,

MSLC -
» Needs upgrades to group fitness
and amenities,
More family and accessible change
rooms and changing places; warm
water program pool; more water
play; pool deck (non-slip).

Outdoor pools
+  More shade; amenities upgrades

(Dunolly and Maryborough); fun
elements (e.g. replace 20m pool
with splash pad and water play at
Maryborough).

Note - Background information
only. This strategy does not
extend to recommendations
for pool infrastructure.
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Multi-use and joint use facilities, sharing
of facilities; partnerships with schools
for use of ovals, play spaces, stadiums,
etc.

The relevant strategic directions are
provided in the table following.
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KEY STRATEGIC PRIORITIES FROM RECREATION
& OPEN SPACE PLAN 2020-2029

Increase participation by young people

Investigate program initiatives, with local health services, to assist young

Prior.ity - Iife.lo_ng people with obesity to increase their physical activity.
physical activity - Develop a program, with young people, of non-traditional, non-structured
participation - informal sport and active recreation activities.

Facilitate specific events and programs for young people at:
new skate and scooter park.
proposed splash park/water play.

Develop leadership opportunities for young people

‘More people, more
active, more often’

Implement a play space improvement program

Undertake a play space inventory review and utilise Capital Works Assessment
Matrix to determine need for facility improvements.
Utilise results to develop a Play Space Strategy and include priority projects
(renewal and new) in Council's Capital Works Budget; seek funding according to
L. L. prioritisation using Capital Works Assessment Matrix.

Priority - Maximising

useage of facilities

and space Improvements to lakes, reserves and playing Fields

Continue to improve Phillips Gardens, Maryborough and its internal path
network to cater for residents and visitors of all abilities.

Seek funding to implement priority works in Gordon Gardens, Dunolly
masterplan.

Complete nature-based play space at Goldfields Reservoir.

Plan and develop free water play options

Undertake a feasibility study for a “free access” splash park/water play area in
Maryborough.
Seek funding to implement.

Continue planning to make the Princes Park Complex, the premier sport,
Priority - Planning recreation and open space facility
and feasibility for - Develop a comprehensive master plan for the entire complex to include
consideration of feasibility for:

Expansion of Adventure Playground.

Inclusion of more adult play equipment.

Age friendly and older adult's’ physical activity components.

Potential splash park/water play.

Linking paths including Burn Street multi-use path.
Seek funding for detailed design and plans consistent with project priority
identified using Capital Works Assessment Matrix.
Implement projects when funded.

development

[
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LEGISLATION AND STATE
GOVERNMENT POLICIES

Legislation and State government policies drive the need
to provide play opportunities that are safe, welcoming,
and inclusive. These are outlined below.

Article 31 of the United Nations Convention of the Rights of the Child
(which Australia is a signatory to), identifies the fundamental right of
children to play and recreation and participate fully in cultural life.

The Child Safe Standards were introduced in Victorian Child Safety and

Wellbeing Act 2005 and are mandatory for all organisations that provide
services or facilities for children in Victoria. Compliance with the Standards is

regulated by the Commission for Children and Young People

The Victoria's Equal Opportunity Act 2010 aims to eliminate discrimination
based on parental status, employment and industrial activity, marital status,
physical features, political belief or activity, religious belief or activity, pregnancy
and breastfeeding etc.

The Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 requires local
governments to develop a municipal public health and wellbeing plan every four
years to outline how they will protect, improve, and promote public health and
wellbeing.

The Public Health and Well-being Regulations 2019 implement the Act as well as
provide guidance on public aquatic facilities to protect vulnerable groups such as
young children, the elderly and people with low immunity form microorganisms
(pathogens) that are passed on through contaminated pool water, contaminated
surfaces or person-to-person contact. a swimming pool, spa pool or interactive water
feature used by members of the public, whether free of charge or on payment of a
fee must comply with the Water quality guidelines for public aquatic facilities -
managing public health risks (the Water Quality Guidelines): See Appendix 1.

Vietoria's Gender Equality Act 2020 requires public entities to identify and eliminate
causes of gender inequality in the development and delivery of policy, programs and
services. The Act requires Councils to undertake gender impact assessments on
these activities.

The Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities sets out 20 rights
that promote and protect freedom, respect, equality, and dignity. The Charter
requires public entities and people delivering services on their behalf abide by
the human rights in the Charter
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The section below is a brief summary of Demand information collected for this project. This is analysed in more detail

in Volume 2.

Demographic influences, and
implications for play

Demographic influences such as age, gender, cultural background, social disadvantage and disability are likely to influ-
ence a child's access to play opportunities, and development potential.

The diagram below shows key relevant characteristics of the Central Goldfields population.

YRS

Index of social disadvan-
tage for the LGA

Rated most disadvan-
taged LGA in Victoria
2021

Residents with a (o)
long-term health > 5 0 /0

condition

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY

R (i Additional resident )
itional residents
ﬁ Residents in 2021 1 3,483 d ﬁ projected to 2036 1 01 0
/AN J
N I
| .
Median age, compared
| T Families 34 5 O . to 38 for Victoria 52
O\ J
N )
. Additional children 0-5 years
‘ Children under 15 yrs 1 9 6 5 /(1 2036 - Only child age group 1 1 0
J with growth projected
\ J
h 4 I
‘ I Average children per household « 5 Grandparents with a grand- 6 3 O/
child under 10 years provide (o)
/ . childcare once a week
N - -
Children in family households
.n with children, average 1 . 8 { Residents with \
esidents wi
J Australian/English 8 5%
heritage
[ ]

15

221 of 381

Children vulnerable on two or

more domains of the AEDC, 2 0 %

compared 10% for Victoria

People need

assistance due to > 1 0 0/0

j‘< disability in the Shire

. .
(@ leisure ¥ ;’ Jeavons



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

CENTRAL CENTRAL GOLDFIELDS
~ GOLDFIELDS PLAY STRATEGY 2023

SHIRE COUNCIL

DEMAND SNAPSHOT

Summary

2021 Census Data

The 2021 census revealed that the total
population of Central Goldfields Shire was 13,483,
including 3540 families. The proportion of children
in all age groups is lower in Central Goldfields than
in Victoria as a whole.

Over 10 % of people need assistance due to
disability in the Shire, compared to 5.9% for
Victoria. This figure is higher for Maryborough
(11.2%).

More than 50% have a long-term health condition,
compared to Victoria as whole (39%).

Forecasts
The population is likely to grow by 1000 residents
to 2036 and the population is aging.

The only age group of children predicted to grow
is the 0-4 age group, with 110 children. All the
other groups up to 19 years show a potential
overall decline, with 340 fewer children.

Other indicators

The index of social disadvantage show Central
Goldfields is ranked second in Victoria for
disadvantage. The Australian Early Development
Census also shows that children in Central
Goldfields are “most vulnerable” (on the scale of
most to least vulnerable).

More Detail
Note that more information on the Shire's
demographic profile is included in Volume 2.

The age structure and population profile of
each locality is also described in Volume 3, in
conjunction with the assessments of play spaces.

- J
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Play spaces are highly valued
by the population.

IMPLICATIONS FOR PLAY SPACES

Children are becoming more dependent on a parent
or caregiver taking them out to play, rather than
moving around their neighbourhood independently.
Many reasons underlie this trend, including parental
fears, safety concerns due to traffic, and a lack of
safe paths and bike routes.

With increased housing density in towns, children in
urban areas do not always have back yards and have
fewer opportunities to play outdoors at home with
small yards or balconies.

At present most children or families with a disability
are excluded from using play spaces in Central Gold-
flelds due to their design.

The quality and play

value of play spaces can
contribute significantly to
the development potential of
children.

In terms of the social context of Central Goldfields
Shire:

1. High quality play spaces are most important in
the areas of highest disadvantage.

2. Play spaces need to be made safe, welcoming,
and inclusive of people of all ages and abilities.

3. Play spaces provide an important location for
family and community gatherings.

4. Families need affordable places to socialise and
play close to home.

5. Children may have fewer opportunities if their
caregivers are unable to assist them to play, or
transport them to play spaces.

6. Many grandparents and older caregivers look
after children. Play spaces need to be appealing
and accessible to older adults.

Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025
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In terms of the design of parks and play spaces, the
health and age profile of the Shire highlights the increas-
ing importance of:

providing inclusive, multi—-purpose opportunities for
all age groups within any one space,

designing in opportunities for older adults them-
selves, as well as opportunities for them to interact
with children, and

conscious provision for physical, social and environ-
mental activities in play spaces and parks.

The distribution and demographic profile of the Shire
makes the provision of play challenging and affects
Council’s ability to keep facilities well maintained.
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Process
The engagement process involved the following:

A community survey was conducted and received
over 300 responses.

A 'your-say’ page was established to provide
information and for residents to contribute their
ideas and information about play in Central
Goldfields.

A poster was used to draw people to online
opportunities and to promote the survey.

A reference group provided advice and direction to
the project as well as feedback at key stages.
Telephone interviews were conducted with key
stakeholders.

Other social media outlets and commentary about
Play and splash parks in Central Goldfields were
reviewed.

Opportunities to view the draft documentation

and provide further feedback was provided at the
conclusion of this project.

Results of the community survey
Over 326 residents completed a survey:

68% of respondents live in Maryborough
11% live in Carisbrook

22% live outside these two towns.

48% of respondents have a child aged 0-4, and 47%
have a child aged 5-9.

22% have a family member with a disability.

56% use a play space at least once a week.

Only 11% live within 500m of the main play space
they use.

64% travel to the play space by car.

Over 70% travel more than Tkm to use a play space.
As distance from the play space increases, the
likelihood of using a car to get there also increases.

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY 18
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WATER PLAY

97% would use a water play facility.

Over 50% of those who would use a water play
facility would travel more than 10km.

86% prefer the paved spray pad style rather than
natural.

92% think a water play area is a higher priority than
other park types

83% of respondents that use the Maryborough
Leisure Centre, go once a week or more.

PREFERRED
MAIN PLAY

SPACE USED

Station Domain Playground in Maryborough is the
most used play space, and more people travel over 1
km to use this space than for other parks.

Princes Park East and the Maryborough Caravan
Park (possibly wrongly identified) were the next most
well used.

The key reasons people use their preferred main play
space include:

The facilities (playground equipment as well as
other items such as BBQ's),

Location, and

Safety (predominantly fencing).

Almost half of the respondents who use Station
Domain as their main play space mentioned that
safety was a particularly important feature.

The facilities at Station Domain Play Space, including
the shade/shelter were also a key reason for using
that playground.

& cisure !‘:’ Jeavons
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IMPROVEMENTS

TO MAIN PLAY
SPACE

Overall, when asked what improvement people would like
to see in their preferred main play space, their responses
included:

50% asked for more play equipment.

16% were non-specific about the items, with some
suggesting generic “items for younger kids” or “older
kids”.

The most common additional play item mentioned
was water play (27%).

No other specific item was mentioned more than 2%
of the time.

Water play was mentioned in relation to the 3 most
used playgrounds: Station Domain, Princes Park East
and the Maryborough Caravan Park

8% of respondents suggested Shade/Shelter was
required.

CENTRAL GOLDFIELDS
PLAY STRATEGY 2023

DEMAND SNAPSHOT

When asked about improvements to their closest play
space:

70% asked for more play equipment, with 29% non-
specific about the items.

The most common additional play item mentioned
was water play (25%).

Other specific items mentioned include swings and a
hard court.

Another 13% of respondents called for updates to
the play equipment.

21% of respondents suggested shade/shelter.

15% asked for fencing.

13 didn't specify what improvements they wanted,
and 13 others said, ‘no change”.

Lack of shade/shelter, fencing, seating and tables were

all more commonly referred to in relation to the closest
play space, compared to the main play space, suggesting
that these items were reasons people didn't use their
closest play space and instead went elsewhere.

Volume 2 Describes demand and survey results in detail.
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TRENDS AND INFLUENCES ON
PUBLIC SPACES

]
NG

q

Increased urbanisation, smaller

- J

/More reliance on public space and

4 )

. J

Planning 20 minute neighbourhoods

Distribution is important. Distance or lack of
walkability mean some communities may be
dependent on just one play space to meet every
day play needs

J

households and smaller house blocks

Without private yards, families require public
spaces to provide replacement play opportunities
including trees and natural places, close to
home.

\
adults taking children to places to play
Spaces need to be an affordable, attractive,

option for social gatherings for the whole family
— and offer physical and environmental activities

for all.
J

More wheeled devices

Increased need to cater to bikes, wheeled toys
and mobility devices in parks mean path networks
more important in play spaces.

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY
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[Society values play and well-being

[Responsive to heritage
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[Inclusive not separate spaces
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An aging population and more grandpar-\
ents caring for children

Spaces need to be more accessible and include
older people. But child development is the focus.

J

There needs to be a greater focus on service
and provision standards to drive equity, ensure
parks are fit-for-purpose as well as for asset
management and budgeting.

more

There is more focus on making urban areas child
friendly, designing parks for play and residential
subdivision to deliver greater play value than
simply installing play equipment.

J
~

Goldfields have play spaces in some significant
places due to the gold rush. Places to play need
to be respond to these and Indigenous heritage.

\

All play spaces can be made inclusive of people
with a disability and all genders, with good
design. Separate “all abilities” spaces are not
required, rather codesign and more attention

to fine grain play experiences, careful selection
of items and their placement and relationships
between elements.

. -
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DISTRIBUTION OF
EXISTING PLAY SPACES

This section deals with the issue of distribution of play Schools
spaces across the whole municipality, as well as in more
detail within the larger urban area of Maryborough. It: Bealiba, Timor, Talbot, Maryborough, Carisbrook,
and Dunolly also have schools which provide play
includes location maps, opportunities during school hours. These do not form
discusses the concept of walkability within part of this project but are mentioned for reference where
residential catchments and basic principles for play appropriate.
space distribution, and
identifies gaps in play space distribution in .
Maryborough. Recreation Reserves
+  There are a number of towns which also have play
Location of p|ay spaces in Central spaces at recreational reserves. These need to be
. considered as complimentary to town ‘play spaces’
as they serve an additional purpose by offerin
Goldfields Shire hey dditional purpose by offering
amenities that encourage mothers to participate in
The Central Goldfields Shire has 22 play spaces sport and/or volunteer at the adjoining recreation

reserve.

Access to play spaces at recreation reserves aligns
with Council's Fair Access Policy and should be
encouraged.

distributed over eight localities. The three localities that
are the main population centres are:

Maryborough with eleven play spaces,
Carisbrook with four play spaces, and
Dunolly, with two play spaces.

The following localities have one play space each:

Bealiba
Bowenvale/Timor
Majorca

Daisy Hill

Talbot

The following maps show the distribution of play spaces
across the Shire.

Map 1. Location of existing play spaces across Central
Goldfields Shire

Map 2. Play spaces in Maryborough and Carisbrook.

A
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EXISTING PLAY SPACES

Map. 1 Location of existing play spaces across Central Goldfields Shire

LODDON SHIRE

NORTHERN
GRAMPIANS
SHIRE

e
MARYBOROUGH
REFER TO
MAP 2
|
I
I
I\
PYRENEES SHIRE
ef
;—,,
-
/
/
/
/
| HEPBURN SHIRE
[
/
B
/ s
/ TN
Central Goldfields Shire Playground Locations e Playground [ 7 #etowe CD
22

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY

228 of 381

ALEXANDER

Dja Dja Wurrung Country, Victoria
Scale: 1:200,000@A3 Date: 26.07.2023

NNNNNN



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

Map 2. Play spaces in Maryborough and Carisbrook

Maryborough Playgrounds
Preliminary Distribution Map
Dja Dja Wurrung Country, Victoria
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Residential catchments and gaps in
walkability

The residential area around each play space is described
in this Strategy as its ‘catchment’, or ‘walkable catch-
ment’. Ideally residents can walk or from home to at least
one play space.

Some residential areas are limited by boundaries or barri-
ers that can limit the free movement of children and fam-
ilies around the neighbourhood, preventing them from
reaching parks and play spaces. Such barriers include:

busy roads,

railway lines,

canals or water bodies, or

other barriers to movement, especially to chil-
dren and people with mobility restrictions.
Sometimes the street layout also makes it more
difficult to walk or ride easily to a play space
from home.

Urban Centres

In line with Victorian Government Policy on 20-minute
neighbourhoods, residents (in the larger town centres)
should be able to walk or ride to at least one park within
their immediate residential area.

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY

CENTRAL GOLDFIELDS
PLAY STRATEGY 2023

DISTRIBUTION OF
EXISTING PLAY SPACES

Maryborough

As Maryborough is the largest town in the Shire, with 11
play spaces, the distribution of play spaces in relation to
residential areas has been analysed in some detail.

Such towns ideally provide a number of playspaces, rea-
sonably equitably distributed across the urban residential
areas.

Residential areas more than approximately 500m from
a play space have been mapped for Maryborough and
these are described as Gaps in Walkability.

Map 3 shows that some residential areas lack easy
access to a play space within approximately 500m from
home.

Refer to Map 3.

230 of 381



Council Meeting Agenda - Wednesday 25 June 2025

‘_'_._‘_._._A,.- RO

[ ]
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Addressing the gaps in play space
distribution in Maryborough

There are three areas of Maryborough lacking access to
a play space, as shown in Map 4 following.

Map 4 below identifies three parks that currently do not
have play spaces and which are located in areas that do
not have easy access to a playground. These are:

A.  Jack Pascoe Reserve/ Maryborough Sport and
Leisure Centre Reserve (Cnr Majorca and Gillies Sts.)

B.  California Gully Recreation Reserve on Gladstone
Lane (or the adjacent Howson Reserve Memorial
Park)

C. Ron Sinclair Reserve (Frost Ave, Crimea St,
Clarke St and Sebastopol Rd).

CENTRAL GOLDFIELDS
PLAY STRATEGY 2023

DISTRIBUTION OF
EXISTING PLAY SPACES

Of these, Jack Pascoe Reserve /Maryborough
Sport and Leisure Centre is considered to be a
priority for re-development as a new District/
Regional Park and play space.

The other two reserves are owned or managed by
Council and not available for this purpose.

Addressing many of these gaps in distribution
may not be feasible in the foreseeable future and
generally it will be preferred that the Shire places
a priority on improving the quality of existing play
spaces.

However, the provision of an additional play space
at Jack Pascoe Reserve is considered a strategic
opportunity to address a distribution gap.

Map 4. Preliminary Recommendations for Future Play Space Developments
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Rural localities

Rural localities should have one centrally located play
space.

It is realistic for Central Goldfields Shire to provide one
high quality play space, centrally located in each rural
locality.

In rural localities it is not feasible to offer play spaces
within walking distance of homes.

Typically, children in these more rural localities may have
access a wider range of outdoor environments for play
than children living in towns.

Play spaces are still important social areas, enabling
interaction with other children and families.

Dunolly, Timor, Talbot, and Bealiba have school grounds
which offer hard courts and play equipment. Unfortu-
nately, not all schools encourage use by the community
after hours, and public access would need to be negotiat-
ed on a school-by-school basis.

In the next chapter (the Play Space Strategy), the Core
Principles and the Classification Hierarchy sets out this
information on affecting play space distribution in more
detail.
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GAPS IN PLAY SPACE
QUALITY

\
Play Space Assessments
As part of this project the consultants undertook on site inspection and assessment of all public play spaces in
the Shire.
VOLUME 3. Play Space Assessments Includes reports on the quality of each Council managed play space in the
Shire, with recommendations for improvements.
This assessment process, along with the results of the consultation process and other Shire information
highlighted a number of issues concerning gaps in the quality of play spaces. A very brief summary of these is
included below.
J
There is a need for better park design — attention to the design of the whole park rather
0] 33 [e])] than just the play equipment; more trees, vegetation, amenity, and plant species selection
FOR that provides play materials and visual interest.
DIVERSITY &
NATURE
There is a general lack of diversity and play value in play spaces
ACCESS There are no accessible, inclusive play opportunities in the Shire.
AND
INCLUSION There is an overall need for accessible, inclusive parks and play spaces with paths, furniture
and amenities and play elements that are usable by families and people with a disability.
DESIGN FOR There are few options catering for older children, with limited challenge, and few hard courts
SPECIFIC
el el oLV EETN  Options for younger children are also limited, with few items designed for role play/pretend
play.
More swings are required overall, with more choice in styles and seat types.
Few sites have tables as well as seats. Tables are important to support a range of activities,
to include older adults and people with disability, and allow use of parks for family gatherings
away from home.
VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY 28 &'l[e@wg Q:’JQ?VO[IS
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GAPS IN PLAY SPACE QUALITY

Few spaces have paths. Paths are crucial in access and inclusion and benefit a variety of
groups, and extend play

AGEING

INFRA- The Shire’s play infrastructure is ageing and in need of updating. The existing amenities are

STRUCTURE not consistent between parks.

Fencing is in high demand, but how play spaces are fenced requires more thoughtful design

Issues regarding quality in play space design have also been addressed in more detail in the following
sections on Strategy and the Design Guidelines in this Volume 1.
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Strategic
Framework

This whole Section constitutes the
Play Space Strategy for Central Gold-
fields Shire Council.

It contains policy recommendations

to address a wide range of issues and
processes that affect play space provi-
sion in the Shire.

Part 5 includes recommendations for
Planning and Design Processes

Part 6 includes recommendations for
Management, budgeting and mainte-
nance processes within Council that
affect play spaces

Part 7 identifies:

Core principles,

The catchment hierarchy/classifi-
cation for play spaces

Policy and Service Standards
relating to the classification of play
spaces.

Part 8 describes the detailed Key
Goals and Action Plan.

These Shire-wide actions encompass
both management processes and ap-
proaches to design of play spaces.

Part 9 is the Implementation Plan.
This contains:

a high level summary of what
has been recommended for each
reserve (as per the recommenda-
tions from Volume 3), followed by
the more detailed tasks including
indicative budgets, timelines and
priorities.
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PLANNING AND DESIGN

PROCESSES

This section introduces a series of recommendations to
address planning, design and procurement processes
within Council that impact on play.

Create a Play Advisory Group

The nature of existing facilities suggests that play proj-
ects would be best overseen by a multidisciplinary team
within Council, using designers experienced in early child-
hood development, universal design and horticulture, and
drawing on experience from those who manage parks
and play spaces.

A CGSC play advisory group should be created. This ad-
visory team should comprise members from recreation
planning, playground maintenance, capital improvements
and, early childhood/family services staff as a minimum,
and be complemented by staff trained in universal de-
sign.

This team'’s responsibility could include:

Overseeing the implementation and continual moni-
toring of this play strategy,

Overseeing budgeting for parks as a whole, across
Council, and including all design elements within
parks,

Preparing/ approving design briefs for whole-of-park
master plans and all play space designs,

Ensuring all decisions are made strategically and
together with all team members,

Conducting community engagement or co-design
within the overarching strategic parameters estab-
lished by this strategy, and

Procuring a specialist designer with demonstrated
experience in universal design, child development
and horticulture, for all play spaces,

Consider the nearby play spaces in a
locality

The design of any one space must complement any adja-
cent space or other play space in the locality

Before site design commences, a strategic assessment
of the space and its relationship with others is required.
Any new design must also be consistent with this Play
Spaces Strategy, namely:

The service standards

Locality assessments and site-specific directions,
and

Design guidelines.

This assessment of context needs to occur before com-
munity engagement or co-design processes commence
and will provide a strategic backdrop to the local knowl-
edge and site-specific preferences of current residents.

Prepare a Design Brief

Common issues about design and quality are best ad-
dressed by a clear brief.

The brief should require designers to address core com-
ponents of this play spaces strategy:

Core service levels,

Design guidelines, and

Specific directions from Volume 3 Play Assessment
for the locality or the specific site.

The design brief should address the following as a mini-
mum:

A path network,

Access into, around the play space and onto any
equipment,

Social and support and physical activities,

Diverse play opportunities,

Landscape elements and amenity, trees and vegeta-
tion for play value.

[
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Prepare a master plan for the whole park
should be prepared before designing a
play space

A master plan outlines the future directions for a site.

A master plan for the whole park should be prepared
before designing a play space.

The amenity and functionality of a whole park usually
outweighs the importance of the play equipment within
the park

The task should be seen as bigger than simply installing
play equipment

Take a strategic approach to upgrades

Ad hoc additions are not the optimal way to maximise
play value, inclusion and functionality in parks

When funding becomes available for specific new com-
ponents such as:

Paths

+  Play equipment
Fencing

+ Drinking fountains
Fitness equipment

+  Skate facilities
Shade, or

+  Furniture
these separate elements should only be introduced
in keeping with a master plan or design that has
planned for them. They should not be randomly
placed around a park.

VOLUME 1 PLAY SPACE STRATEGY
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PLANNING AND DESIGN
PROCESSES

Ask the experts

All park upgrades, including play opportunities, need
design and planning expertise

In many Councils, the design of play spaces or small
parks is treated as a single, isolated, small-budget project
and procured from an external design firm or a play
equipment supplier.

The design brief is frequently determined by community
consultation, and this is frequently limited to questions
about the colour of equipment and a limited choice of
products.

This process does not produce the best outcomes for
the community.

Even in small parks and play space projects, the input of
professionals with expertise and experience in design for
play and child development, access and inclusion, and
horticulture, is essential.
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MANAGEMENT
PROCESSES

The Shire maintains play equipment and surfaces on a
regular basis.

During these site inspections, many equipment items

were noted as aging but have been kept in good
condition.

Budget Sources

There are currently two sources of funding that relate
to this Strategy:

. Ongoing maintenance costs,
and
. Capital improvements.

Ongoing maintenance

As part of its asset management planning, Council
should seek to fund its play spaces in a manner that
meets the needs of the community and ensures quality is
maintained.

With limited resources, maintaining a network of
playspaces can be complicated and funding needs to
stretch across multiple locations and a wide range of
infrastructure. As part of its asset management, Council's
funding needs to consider activities including inspections,
repairs, maintenance, urgent safety issues in addition to
removal and replacement of equipment.

33
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Capital Improvements

Council also invests in its play spaces through the
capital works program.

This is determined as part of a coordinated approach to
asset management, with the capital budget broken into
three categories:

- Asset renewals (replacing like for like)

- Asset upgrades (upgrading an existing asset to
meet community needs or current standards)

- New works (creating a new asset when none
currently exists)

The Capital Works program forms part of the annual
budget and all play space improvements recommended
in this strategy need to be considered as part of Council's
overall budget.

Where possible, Council's forward planning should seek
to align play space improvements with path upgrades,
signage works and tree planting within the same reserve
to encourage a coordinated approach to site
improvements.

Council's capital works funding is often complimented by
grant funding received from programs funded by
external agencies, including the State and Federal
Governments.

In particular, securing external funding is critical to
delivering play space upgrades and new works. By
adopting a strategic approach to play space
improvements Council will be in the best possible pace
to secure funding that compliments its own contribution
towards the capital works program.

[
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Playspace information and promotion
Council  should  provide

play space and its features:

more

on Council's website and
on-site signage.

Currently information about existing play spaces is
lacking.

In order to plan their trip, residents and visitors need
information about the availability of fences, accessible
equipment, picnic facilities, age groups catered for,
shelters and toilets.

Many families depend upon these facilities, for an outing
to even be a possibility. This information should be
available on Council's Website.

The parks themselves need signs. These should be of a
clear, graphically unified design.

Life expectancy and play space
replacement plan

As a general guide, play equipment frequently has a life
expectancy of around 15 years, (but this depends on the
item and materials).

The older the equipment the less likely it will meet
current Playground Standards which are reviewed every
5 years. There are multiple spaces in the Shire where the
equipment is more than 20 years old.

The Implementation Plan in this report summarises the
recommendations for each play space and includes a
very high-level budget cost estimate.

The details explaining the recommendations for each
site are found in Volume 3- Play Assessments.

information about each
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MANAGEMENT PROCESSES

When equipment needs to be removed

When an item of equipment needs to be removed,
remove all parts of the structure including old footings,
brackets, and other elements. Leaving old remnants in
place, especially at ground level and partially hidden in
mulch, can be a hazard.

Collect additional data during
maintenance inspections

Regular maintenance inspections allow council to collect
other data useful for planning and management.

Council should consider including additional information
in the brief for the annual safety audit checklist, which
they can use to monitor information important for
planning and asset management, such as:

accessibility into the park and to play spaces and
social spaces,

presence of fences, lights and tables, and

asset life or replacement date.

In this way, the Council can monitor the performance of
play spaces (from an access point of view, for example)
over time.

Inspections and maintenance
Play equipment areas and associated infrastructure must
be regularly maintained in accordance with AS 4685.

0:2017- Part 0: Development, installation, inspection,
maintenance, and operation.
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Inspections required by the Australian Standards
Lt DESCRIPTION FREQUENCY
TYPE
Post Conducted prior to opening a new play space, this verifies that the play Post
Installation space complies with current Standards. opening
Comprehensive
inspections
Routine Regular visual inspections for wear and tear, vandalism or other damage. Whenever
Inspections These can be carried out by operational staff while on site carrying out staff are in the
other tasks. park - Weekly -
Operational Less frequent, possibly quarterly inspections for adequacy of surfaces,
Inspection more serious structural defects, wear on moving parts, corrosion, fraying, Quarterly
missing components, loose bolts etc.
Comprehen- These checks cover all of the above, as well as overall conformance of
sive equipment and surfaces with current standards. Annual
Annual
Inspection
Impact testing  Unitary surfaces need to be impact tested at least every three years for
for unitary impact attenuation. Every
(rubber or three
synthetic) years
surfacing
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CORE PRINCIPLES FOR
PLAY PROVISION

Equitable provision and distribution across the Shire

The distribution of play opportunities needs to be realistic in terms of resources, considering the
difficulty of equating rural localities with larger town centres.

Maryborough and Carisbrook

Play opportunities within Maryborough and Carisbrook should be located so that all residents
ideally have a play space within walking distance from home.

The walking distances may be defined as ideally within 500m from home, but there will be
instances where this is not achievable.

This walkability goal aligns with Victorian State Government policy on 20-minute neighbourhoods.
These are all about ‘living locally’ and enabling people to meet most of their daily needs within a
20-minute return walk from home.

Rural localities

In rural localities such as Bealiba, Dunolly, Daisy Hill, Bowenvale/Timor Majorca and Talbot, aim

to offer one central play space located close to other community hub/focal points (such as a hall,
community centre, or sports club) or in the main street of the town.

o Diversity of opportunity and setting types

Play spaces need to offer a diverse choice of opportunities for outdoor play, social interaction,

»h recreation and engagement with nature.
Ml

Play Spaces should provide a balance of elements including paths, vegetation and landscape
features, social infrastructure, physical challenges, and where possible community art.

Diverse landscape settings should range from open grassy and sunny spaces to ‘wilder’, more
natural/forested areas, from garden and ornamental settings to more paved/ urban areas.

This principle needs to be considered at two levels:
the macro level, i.e., the choice of settings and opportunities from park to park, across the
municipality, as well as
at the micro level. For example, even in an open site, which relies mainly on play equipment to

provide the main activities, pockets of vegetation will provide additional, close-up interest and
play opportunities.

[
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CORE PRINCIPLES
FOR PLAY PROVISION

Play spaces need to meet the diverse needs of all ages, abilities, and
genders

a & All spaces should provide some opportunities that are usable by preschool, school aged children,
teens and older adults. Some sites may focus more on one age group than another, considering
other spaces nearby, and the particular local context.

In areas experiencing population growth and increased housing density, the design of parks for
play needs to consider that residents will have fewer opportunities for outdoor play at home. The
landscape settings of parks need to accommodate a wider range of needs, such as gardening and
sand and nature play.

Service standards are provided to ensure the quality of spaces is equitable across all spaces. These
are described in a later section.

o Play spaces need to be accessible to people with disabilities

L Y
‘ All play spaces need to provide opportunities for people with disabilities to participate in play and
social activities. Parks and play spaces need to be designed using Universal Design Principles.

The higher the level in the catchment hierarchy, (see the following section) the more accessible and
inclusive the space needs to be.

Access to social areas such as seating areas, shelters, and toilets via paths is a high priority.

Q Paths are a fundamental requirement in parks
$ $ All parks need identifiable, accessible paths of travel enabling people with disabilities to:

Enter the park from adjacent footpaths or car parks

Move around within the park

Use all amenities

Access any designated play space, hardcourt, skate, or bike area
Access a choice of play opportunities.

° o ° Priority Parks need more attention

* Some parks are considered to be a higher social priority than others. These include parks and play
spaces in residential areas where:

There are fewer parks and play spaces

There is a lack of other opportunities for children to play outdoors

There are higher levels of social disadvantage, and

Where only one park serves a larger catchment and residents depend upon that one park

The design of those parks and play spaces that do exist requires more careful attention to the
principles contained in this report.
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CORE PRINCIPLES
FOR PLAY PROVISION

Play Value - play is more than play equipment

Play encompasses a diverse range of activities and behaviours that vary significantly across age
groups and individuals, and these are by no means limited to play equipment.

By broadening the approach to play provision, CGS will derive better value from parks and open
space than from a focus solely on play equipment, which offers many benefits but has inherent
limitations.

In particular, there are benefits from designing settings that carefully consider the connections and
relationships between all elements within a space, extending the play from equipment and struc-
tures out into a more complex landscape.

Every park play space must be designed to accommodate and foster a range of types of play, such
as:

physical activity, movement, and challenge

imaginative/pretend/role play, and

sensory/creative/imaginative play

play opportunities including play equipment should be designed and selected to:

- facilitate a range of specific activities or development opportunities and maximise the play
value to all users,
accommodate group play and social interaction, as well as quiet nooks for individual respite
and contemplation,
maximise the opportunities for children with disabilities to access and use play spaces, and
to play alongside others, and
be connected by paths to social areas, ball courts, other equipment, and the street.
Paths provided in parks and play spaces should be designed to accommodate wheeled
toys, walking, or cycling.

The whole park is for play

As introduced above, when planning for play, the entire park needs to be considered for the oppor-
tunities it could present to users. These opportunities include:

Trees, planting, and natural areas
Path systems

Hard surfaces

Open areas of lawn

Loose materials, and

Terrain.

These opportunities need to be planned to include people with a disability and all age groups, and
how everyone can enjoy these elements.

By considering these diverse elements as part of the conscious design for play, the Shire will be
able to deliver more value from the investment in both parks and play.
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CORE PRINCIPLES
FOR PLAY PROVISION

Environmental integrity, amenity planting, and access to nature are
important play space features

In all spaces, the design should include trees and other landscape elements.

M.

Parks and play spaces can enhance and encourage children’s contact and interaction with nature
and can provide loose materials that can be used in play.

Plant materials, especially flowering plants, those with interesting textures, bark or fruit and scents
significantly enhance the visual and environmental amenity and play value of parks.

Trees have many purposes in parks, including shade, significant cooling, wind breaks, habitat,
screening, and play opportunities. They need to be carefully selected in order to fulfill these purpos-
es, and a range of species may be required for in any one park for different situations.

Trees always need to be able to survive the local conditions and to contribute to the local ecosys-
tem.

More information on design elements in parks for play is included in the Appendix 3 to this Volume.
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PLAY SPACE
CLASSIFICATION AND

SERVICE STANDARDS

INTRODUCING PLAY SPACE
CLASSIFICATIONS

These hierarchies can be applied to the play space facil-
ities themselves, as well as the parks in which they sit.
This allows consistency in provision across the Shire and
is a tool to manage investment and maintenance.

Parks and play spaces have been clas